
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   5/15/2023 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 862 5880 9056 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

 
Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
 
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers  
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 862 5880 9056 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 862 5880 9056 
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
planning.commission@menlopark.gov* 
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment. 

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.  

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
May 15, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes and court report transcript from April 10, 2023, Planning Commission meeting. 
(Attachment)  

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Sign Review/Amrita Meher/2 Meta Way: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve three illuminated signs with bright colors (red) 
comprising more than 25 percent of the signage area. Two of the signs would be new wall-mounted 
signs featuring lettering greater than 24 inches in size, and one freestanding monument sign is also 
proposed. The signage is associated with the citizenM hotel located on the Meta West Campus, in 
the O (Office) zoning district and regulated by a conditional development permit; Determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities and determine this action is consistent with the certified EIR and the first and 
second addenda to the certified EIR for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project. (Staff Report 
#23-034-PC) 

G. Study Session 

G1. Study Session/MidPen Housing Corporation/795 Willow Road (Menlo Park Veterans Affairs 
Campus):  
Request for a study session for a proposed three-story, 62-unit, multifamily affordable housing 
development located in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district on the Menlo Park Veteran Affairs 
Campus at 795 Willow Road. The proposed affordable housing development is being evaluated for 
consistency with the R-4-S (High Density Residential, Special) zoning district; Study sessions are 
not CEQA projects. (Staff Report #23-035-PC) 

  



Planning Commissions Regular Meeting Agenda 
May 15, 2023 
Page 3 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

H. Informational Items

H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

• Regular Meeting: June 5, 2023
• Regular Meeting: June 26, 2023

I. Adjournment

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period where the public shall have 
the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the 
public have the right to directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item.

At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or during 
consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.

If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of 
Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing.

Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an agenda item is 
a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by request by emailing the city 
clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or 
participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620.

Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the public can view electronic 
agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at menlopark.gov/agendas and can receive email notifications of 
agenda postings by subscribing at menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting 
City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 5/11/2023)

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   04/10/2023 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 862 5880 9056 and  
  Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

A. Call To Order 
 
Acting Chair Cynthia Harris called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Cynthia Harris (Acting Chair), Andrew Barnes, Henry Riggs, Michele Tate 
 
Absent: Linh Dan Do, Jennifer Schindler 
 
Staff: David Hogan, Contract Planner; Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner; Kyle Perata, Planning 
Manager; Matt Pruter, Associate Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner; Ed Shaffer, 
Assistant City Attorney; Mariam Sleiman, City Attorney’s Office 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 
None 
 

D.  Public Comment  
 

• Gita Dev spoke on behalf of the Sierra Club Loma Prieta chapter to share that they hosted a 
webinar recently entitled “Planning for Life Sciences for Bay Area Cities” and that they wanted to 
provide more information about different levels of laboratories to the city as Menlo Park had 
designated a life sciences zoning district adjacent to the Facebook mixed use area.  
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the December 12, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

E2. Approval of minutes from the January 9, 2023, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

Acting Chair Harris noted a typo on page 14 under item F5 in the January 9 minutes “Planner 
Turned,” noting it was “Planner Turner.” 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Barnes) to approve the Consent Calendar consisting of the 
minutes from the December 12 and January 9 Planning Commission meetings with the 
typographical error to be corrected as noted for the January 9 minutes; passes 3-0-1-2 with 
Commissioner Tate abstaining and Commissioners Do and Schindler absent. 

  

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Architectural Control and Use Permit/Jamie D’Alessandro/961 El Camino Real:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control for exterior and interior 
modifications to an existing commercial building to remove a door and window, reconfigure gross 
floor area to close off an existing recessed area, add a window to the front facade and create a new 
entry to the side of the building, in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning 
district. The gross floor area of the building would not increase as part of the project. Additionally, 
the proposal includes modifications to the landscaping including a new deck and trellis. The request 
also includes. As part of the review, the Planning Commission will need to determine whether the 
sale of alcohol at a use permit for a live entertainment, on-site consumption of alcohol and outdoor 
seating for the proposed restaurant use; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities this location serves a public 
convenience or necessity, in accordance with the requirements of the State Department of Alcoholic 
Beverage Control (ABC). (Staff Report #23-025-PC)   
 
Associate Planner Fahteen Khan noted correspondence received from both the property owner and 
applicant after publication of the staff report.  
 
Jaime D’Alessandro, applicant, and Chris Wasney, project architect, spoke on behalf of the project. 
 
Acting Chair Harris opened the public hearing and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
The Commission discussed the site circulation, potential electrification uses rather than gas, solar 
installation, and the area and hours proposed for entertainment. Ensuing discussion highlighted 
addressing noise and safety concerns with the intent that noise complaints were not unfairly 
assigned unilaterally to the subject property in recognition of the existing nightlife in the area with a 
note that noise disturbance prevention from entertainment be applied equitably citywide.   
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Barnes/Riggs) to adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control 
for exterior and interior modifications to an existing commercial building to remove a door and 
window, reconfigure gross floor area to close off an existing recessed area, add a window to the 
front facade and create a new entry to the side of the building in the SP-ECR/D (El Camino 
Real/Downtown Specific Plan) zoning district, a use permit for a live entertainment, on-site 
consumption of alcohol and outdoor seating for the proposed restaurant use, and determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities with the following added condition; passes 4-0 with Commissioners Do and 
Schindler absent. 
 
Add Condition 2b: Twelve months after occupancy, staff shall review complaints within the 
community. If, depending on trend lines in the community, staff believes this establishment may be 
responsible for disturbances between 11 p.m. to 2 a.m., the live entertainment use between the 
hours of 11 p.m. and 2 a.m. shall be scheduled for review by the Planning Commission. The 
Commission’s review would be limited to live entertainment use between the hours of 11 p.m. and 2 
a.m. 

  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

F2 and G1 are associated items with a single staff report 
 

F2. Draft Environmental Impact Report (Draft EIR) Public Hearing/ Tarlton Properties, LLC/1105-1165 
O’Brien Drive and 1 Casey Court (referred to as the 1125 O’Brien Drive project):  
Public hearing to receive comments on the Draft EIR to develop a five-story research and 
development (R&D) building containing approximately 131,825 square feet of gross floor area, in the 
LS-B (Life Sciences, Bonus) zoning district. This includes 129,166 square feet of R&D uses and 
2,659 square feet of commercial (Café) uses. The proposed project floor area ratio (FAR) would be 
74 percent. The project site consists of four parcels containing three one-story buildings of 
approximately 59,866 square feet and an existing drainage channel. The project site is commonly 
referred to as 1125 O’Brien Drive and includes buildings currently addressed 1105, 1135 and 1165 
O’Brien Drive and 1 Casey Court. The proposed project would include 229 parking spaces in surface 
parking lots located behind the building and adjacent to the building along O’Brien Drive. The two 
surface parking lots would be accessed from O’Brien Drive and Casey Court. The proposed project 
includes requests for a use permit, architectural control, below market rate housing in-lieu fee, and 
environmental review. The proposal includes a request for an increase in height and FAR under the 
bonus level development allowance in exchange for community amenities. The applicant is 
proposing payment of a community amenities in-lieu fee. The project includes a hazardous materials 
use permit request to allow a diesel generator to operate the facilities in the event of a power outage 
or emergency. The proposed project includes requests to modify the surface parking along street 
frontage requirements along Casey Court, and to transfer development rights (height) from the 
applicant controlled parcel at 1140 O’Brien Drive to comply with the Zoning Ordinance average 
height requirement. If necessary to ensure water flow volumes for the proposed project meet the 
requirements of the Menlo Park Fire Protection District and based on timing of the necessary water 
line improvements, the proposed project also could include upgrades of water lines beneath O’Brien 
Drive from the project site frontage to the intersection with Willow Road. The environmental effects 
of upgrading the waterlines were previously evaluated in the certified EIR for the 1350 Adams Court 
project. The proposed project is requesting an exception from the City’s reach code to allow for the 
use of natural gas for space conditioning in the laboratory spaces. The proposed project also 
includes a request to remove 11 heritage trees. The focused Draft EIR was prepared to address 
potential physical environmental effects of the proposed project in the following areas: 
transportation, population and housing, air quality, greenhouse gas emissions, noise (operation – 
traffic noise, construction noise and vibration), cultural and tribal resources, and biological 
resources. In accordance with CEQA, the certified program-level ConnectMenlo EIR served as the 
first-tier environmental analysis. Further, the focused Draft EIR was prepared in compliance with the 
terms of the Settlement Agreement between the City of East Palo Alto and the City of Menlo Park. 
The Draft EIR identifies significant and unavoidable environmental impacts from noise (construction 
noise and vibration) and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (conflicts with applicable plans and 
policies and cumulative GHG emissions). The project site does not contain a toxic release site, per 
Section 6596.2 of the California Government Code. The City is requesting comments on the content 
of this Draft EIR. Written comments on the Draft EIR may be also submitted to the Community 
Development Department (701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park) no later than 5:00 p.m. on May 8, 2023. 
(Staff Report #23-026-PC) 

 
 Item F2 was transcribed by a court reporter. 
  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 4 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

G. Study Session 

G1. Study Session for a Use Permit, Architectural Control, Lot Merger, Below Market Rate Housing In-
Lieu Fee, and Environmental Review/Tarlton Properties, LLC/1105-1165 O’Brien Drive and 1 Casey 
Court (referred to as the 1125 O’Brien Drive project):  
Request for a study session for a use permit, architectural control, below market rate housing in-lieu 
fee, and environmental review to develop a five-story research and development (R&D) building 
containing approximately 131,825 square feet of gross floor area, in the LS-B (Life Sciences, Bonus) 
zoning district. This includes 129,166 square feet of R&D uses and 2,659 square feet of commercial 
(Café) uses. The proposed project floor area ratio (FAR) would be 74 percent. The project site 
consists of four parcels containing three one-story buildings of approximately 59,866 square feet and 
an existing drainage channel. The project site is commonly referred to as 1125 O’Brien Drive and 
includes buildings currently addressed 1105, 1135 and 1165 O’Brien Drive and 1 Casey Court. The 
proposed project would include 229 parking spaces in surface parking lots located behind the 
building and adjacent to the building along O’Brien Drive. The two surface parking lots would be 
accessed from O’Brien Drive and Casey Court. The proposed project includes requests for a use 
permit, architectural control, below market rate housing in-lieu fee, and environmental review. The 
proposal includes a request for an increase in height and FAR under the bonus level development 
allowance in exchange for community amenities. The applicant is proposing payment of a 
community amenities in-lieu fee. The project includes a hazardous materials use permit request to 
allow a diesel generator to operate the facilities in the event of a power outage or emergency. The 
proposed project includes requests to modify the surface parking along street frontage requirements 
along Casey Court, and to transfer development rights (height) from the applicant controlled parcel 
at 1140 O’Brien Drive to comply with the Zoning Ordinance average height requirement. If 
necessary to ensure water flow volumes for the proposed project meet the requirements of the 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District and based on timing of the necessary water line improvements, 
the proposed project also could include upgrades of water lines beneath O’Brien Drive from the 
project site frontage to the intersection with Willow Road. The environmental effects of upgrading the 
waterlines were previously evaluated in the certified EIR for the 1350 Adams Court project. The 
proposed project is requesting an exception from the City’s reach code to allow for the use of natural 
gas for space conditioning in the laboratory spaces. The proposed project also includes a request to 
remove 11 heritage trees. (Staff Report #23-026-PC) 
 

 Acting Chair Harris opened public comment. 
 
 Public Comment: 
 

• Gita Dev, Sierra Club Loma Prieta Chapter, noted concerns of the community related to 
biosafety levels, operational noise of biotech labs, and with privately funded labs. She suggested 
looking at comparables regarding noise. She said other cities such as Milpitas with biotech labs 
did not allow diesel or natural gas-powered emergency generators because of greenhouse gas 
emissions. She said loading and unloading for biotech labs was often an all-night operation with 
issues of light pollution. She said the greatest biosafety concern was that this was an area of 
liquefaction and high earthquake damage. She said the potential of a biosafety level 3 lab here 
close to residential and the bay was greatly concerning and noted national concern about 
privately funded biosafety labs.  
 

Acting Chair Harris closed public comment. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 5 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Contract Planner Hogan outlined topic areas for focus: site layout, architectural design and detailing 
of the buildings, average building height calculation, publicly accessible open space design and 
layout, onsite parking layout, and community amenity in-lieu fee. 
 
Commissioner Tate asked for clarification about the public access connecting this project with 
Willow Village as it appeared too far away to serve Belle Haven residents, but which had been 
indicated on the slide presented. She said she thought it would serve the East Palo Alto neighbors.  
 
Planner Hogan said the public access would get more use from people in the businesses in the area 
and from the East Palo Alto area. He said with the location of the project the Belle Haven 
neighborhood was more likely to access through the SFPUC right of way from where it connected 
closer to Willow Road. He said as proposed it had the potential to benefit more the residences in 
East Palo Alto located near the project.  
 
Commissioner Tate noted the public comment about gas heating and asked whether or not 
something other than gas was being considered for the heating.  
 
Planner Hogan said the applicant was proposing to use natural gas for the heating and other HVAC 
activities. He said the city’s REACH code had a mechanism to submit a justification for exception 
and the city required peer review of that document. He said the document had been prepared and 
was being preliminarily reviewed. He said the final decision on that would be made at the building 
permit stage. He said the EIR assumed the use of natural gas and had found a significant and 
unavoidable impact for that, and that was what the applicant was proposing in the project.   
 
Commissioner Tate said in previous discussions on the project that natural gas was purported as the 
most efficient energy for certain uses in the lab space but had not been specified for heating 
throughout the building. She asked why this was proposed noting the commenter’s observation that 
other municipalities did not allow gas for heating for biotech.    
 
Mr. Tarlton said technological progress with regards to electric heating for laboratories was not 
feasible at this time.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said she had spoken with another project at 4055 Bohannon that was a biology 
lab and she understood that they were planning to be 100% electric except for the diesel emergency 
generator. She suggested if they needed gas for the lab spaces perhaps there was potential for 
electric heating otherwise. She said her concern was they seemed to be moving toward 100% 
electrification in the city, but this project was not doing so.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said the building industry in general was moving in that direction, but laboratory spaces 
had not moved in that direction. He said the challenge with laboratory spaces and heating them was 
the number of air changes as those were significantly higher than those for an office. He said the 
physics of heating a laboratory space with electricity right now was not feasible and reliable.  
 
Commissioner Tate asked if it was possible to zone where the offices were. She said she did not 
know how other jurisdictions were doing this. She said they had heard that a nearby city was not 
planning to allow gas energy for a similar use as this building. She said the industry was moving 
along if slowly but maybe there was something out there to use as neighboring jurisdictions were 
attempting to do so. 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 6 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Mr. Tarlton said they were doing an all-electric laboratory building across the street from the project 
site at 1190 O’Brien Drive, but this project was a 12,000 square foot facility. He said he could not 
address the specific project the Chair referred to and noted that they were happy to look into that. 
He said they looked at many different projects with similar uses. He said there was a single 
laboratory building, a single-user building, in Newark that was all electric. He said that project was 
not yet completed nor fully commissioned because they were having problems with it. He said their 
standard practice, in part for the benefit of their tenants but also for the city, was to build life science 
buildings that were flexible. He said this proposed building would be around for 40 years or more 
and that tenants moved in and out. He said they needed to have a building that could be 
transformed from a single tenant building into a multi-tenant one. He said if they were to designate 
specific zones for office and specific zones for lab that would eliminate that flexibility.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said that this building would be here for 40 years made her think that gas would 
be used there for 40 years. She recognized the applicant’s struggle but expressed disappointment 
that they were not at the goal of electrification yet.  
 
Commissioner Barnes asked for information from the applicant about biosafety levels.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said they wanted to continue to conduct themselves in the Menlo Park community in a 
way that was transparent and made everyone comfortable and feel safe. He said much reference 
had been made that the life science zoning district in Menlo Park was in a high liquefaction zone and 
that was categorically false. He said the former Sun campus area now occupied by Facebook was a 
liquefaction area. He said the area geographically south of the railroad tracks, which included all of 
the life science zoning district, was on solid soil and was not a liquefaction zone. He said life science 
was a broad term and covered many different types of uses. He said to clarify the life science district 
in Menlo Park did not have every building conducting biosafety level research, whether at level 1, 2, 
or 3 and that quite a lot of the square footage in the life science district was not conducting any 
biosafety activity. He said for instance one of their largest tenants, Pacific Biosciences, made 
genomic sequencing equipment. He said another one of their tenants, formerly Intersect ENT and 
now owned by Medtronics, were making a sinus implant. He said within the very large category of 
life science they had medical device manufacturers, medical instrument manufacturers, and 
diagnostics as examples. He  estimated that on the high side maybe 20% of the total area in the life 
science zoning district was conducting biosafety activities of some kind, most of it at level 1 and a 
little at level 2.  
 
Ron Kreitemeyer, Chief Operating Officer for Tarlton Properties, said he formerly served as the 
biosafety officer and also as a chemical hygiene officer and environmental health and safety officer 
for a number of life science companies, several of which were in Menlo Park. He said the biosafety 
levels (BSL) program was designed as a type of escalating system. He said BSL 1 was typically 
biological materials that would not cause harm to humans; BSL 2 was typically materials such as 
human blood, synovial fluid and things like that, which were potentially infectious; and BSL 3 was 
potentially lethal bio agents. He said these BSLs had increasing controls associated with them 
moving from BSL 1 to BSL 3. He said within the country there were 15 BSL 4 labs but none in 
California to his knowledge. He said the BSL 4 lab closest to California was in either Colorado or 
Montana. He said most BSL 4 labs were operated by the government. He said quite a few BSL 3 
labs existed at major universities such as at Stanford and UC San Francisco. He said BSL 3 labs 
were typically small. He reviewed operating safety programs and protocols for BSL 1, 2 and 3 that 
were regulated by state codes. He said in their business park they had some BSL 2 labs but no BSL 
3 labs. He said this was a well-regulated industry despite what people were saying. He said with 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 7 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

BSL 3 the program to obtain agents was strictly regulated by the CDC and that applied to private 
biotech companies.   
 
Acting Chair Harris asked what mechanism would be used if the city decided not to allow anything 
greater than BSL 2 for this project.  
 
Planner Sandmeier said she thought that might be made a condition of approval when the project 
came for final entitlements.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said she appreciated the transportation analysis done by Hexagon and the 
independent traffic analysis undertaken by Tarlton. She said Hexagon made several 
recommendations, one of which was that current on street parking should be removed for 20 feet on 
either side of the driveways and that landscape plans should be modified to ensure that exiting 
drivers could see pedestrians on the sidewalk as well as bicyclists. She said it also recommended 
the project install a sidewalk along its frontage on Casey Court to provide better pedestrian 
connection between the project site and surrounding area. She asked if the applicant was planning 
to do either of those items and how it was determined which of those recommendations the city 
would require or whether it could require those. 
 
Planner Hogan said the mitigation measures related to VMT were in the EIR and the other 
improvement requirements the project was proposing, frontage improvements along O’Brien Drive 
and Casey Court, were pretty typical in terms of new development in an area where there was a new 
standard. He said regarding the recommended improvements by the traffic analysis that he  
assumed the Public Works department would include those in their list of conditions of approval that 
would be presented to the Planning Commission.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said the recommendations she would want added as conditions of approval as 
the project moved forward was that the current on street parking be removed 20 feet on either side 
of driveways and landscape plans modified to ensure exiting drivers could see pedestrians and 
bicyclists and that the project install sidewalk along Casey Court to provide better pedestrian 
connection.  
 
Planner Hogan said the project plans did include sidewalks along Casey Court.  
 
Acting Chair Harris asked about the bicycle lane around the project and if it went along O’Brien Drive 
to connect to Willow Road and also connected around Casey Court with drop-off and pickups from 
the school there or other businesses.  
 
Planner Hogan said he was not sure between this project and others in the area where the Class 2 
bicycle lane was intended to be constructed.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said there were a number of considerations noting there was a separate project in the 
works between Tarlton Properties and the City of Menlo Park, a public-private partnership to install a 
continuous sidewalk as well as a bicycle lane rom Willow Road to University Avenue on the south 
side of O’Brien Drive. He said the current construct of that project that was separate from this 
proposed project and separate from the 1350 Adams Court project, previously approved, had a 
compromise with existing neighbors to allow for street parking to still happen on one side of the 
road, which would allow for a sidewalk and a bicycle lane on the south side but parking on the north 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 8 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

side. He said regarding drop-off and pickups for the daycare facility they understood that was 
actually off O’Brien Drive and not Casey Court.   
 
Acting Chair Harris asked how mitigation measures for construction noise were monitored noting 
recently the commission had heard neighbor complaints about other projects wherein such 
measures were not adhered to, nor could they get response from the city to monitor. She questioned 
whether the city had adequate staff for that monitoring and the protocol for monitoring during the 
construction process noting a school virtually next door to the proposed project.  
 
Planner Hogan said they spent considerable time working on the construction noise impacts on the 
school and the idea was to construct a noise barrier along the property line to hopefully reduce noise 
levels within the school playground. He said even though they thought the mitigation measures 
would be effective that it might not be able to achieve the reduction in noise to get it to an 
insignificant level. He said the EIR included the construction of a sound barrier around the 
playground area as a requirement. He said monitoring was complicated and suggested perhaps 
installing a noise monitor at the site might be possible. He said they were open to suggestions from 
the Commission. 
 
Planner Sandmeier said noise monitoring was enforced by building department inspectors; she said 
the public also could call code enforcement for issues. She asked if commissioners received 
concerns from neighbors about projects to forward those to staff so they could look into those. 
 
Acting Chair Harris said she would like more information and details about the proposed café. She 
said they had heard from many residents and from previous commission discussions on the project 
that the café should be a community service as well as a business service. She said the need for a 
local café operating beyond business hours in the evening and on weekends for new and future 
residents to gather with opportunities for local community events such as music or art had been 
identified. She said another suggestion the community might want would be additional food for 
takeout versus just a café. She said when this project was before the commission previously the 
recommendation was made that the applicants go into the community and see what they might do to 
help the community related to the café. She said she wanted assurance the outreach was 
happening and how from the city’s perspective they might help facilitate that.  
 
Planner Hogan said he understood the need for additional services in the area but that might be 
more of a commercial use than what the applicant was envisioning on the site. He said he would 
consult with department management and the applicant to provide some information to the 
commission on this. He suggested that the Willow Village project might be a more appropriate 
location for something like that.  
 
Planner Sandmeier said the café was not the proposed community amenity for the project and the 
applicant was proposing to pay the in-lieu fee for the community amenity. 
 
Replying to Commissioner Barnes, Mr. Tarlton said the two parking areas were separated for one 
reason as they had a meandering publicly accessible path with seating and landscaping that would 
travel between the two. He said they felt that operationally it would work fine to have a parking area 
primarily designated for employees and a parking area that would be available for visitors and 
others.  
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 9 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Replying further to Commissioner Barnes, Mr. Tarlton said going back even further about four years 
ago when they brought this project to the commission there was strong opposition to a structured 
parking solution that was parallel to the face of the building, which was their option at that time. He 
said they then tried to address that strong opposition. He said there had been a nearly universal 
pushback on parking in general. He said the proposed solution had a reduced parking ratio. He said 
at some point in the future structured parking might be found appropriate for this entire site but today 
the appropriate solution that addressed prior pushback from the commission and staff about the 
parking structure previously proposed was to acquire land for surface parking rather than structure 
parking. He said acquiring the land and all the accoutrements for this project of landscaping and the 
parking lot materials that would reflect solar to avoid the heat island effect was not a great cost 
savings versus the cost of building structure parking. He said a project at 1005 O’Brien Drive that the 
commission had not yet seen had mostly structure parking and noted replying further to 
Commissioner Barnes that the business park would have a mix of structured parking and surface 
parking. He said over time it would be mostly structured parking but there would be interim periods 
where they would have surface parking whether it was because a particular site would be developed 
in phases or because when they were doing a larger master plan and took down two buildings and 
replaced one of those with a larger structure they would need surface parking for a while until the 
second building was developed.  
 
Commissioner Barnes referred to the topic areas for discussion presented by staff. He said 
regarding site layout that they had seen that before and he had no comments. He said the proposal 
was a fine architectural design. He said the detailing on the front worked well and he was not 
exercised about the lack of detailing on the other areas. He said the publicly accessible open space 
was well done and in the amounts proposed was creatively utilized. He said they just heard about 
the onsite parking layout. He asked regarding the community in-lieu payment what the applicant 
could do with the $3.1 million that would be a creative benefit to the community and something the 
applicant could do better than the city could.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said going back in time they had proposed a library but that was done by someone else. 
He said they proposed an aquatic center but that was deemed a city responsibility and not an 
appropriate use of public benefit funds. He said they could build sidewalks, they could underground 
utilities, and do all kinds of wonderful things. He said the starting point was an agreement between 
the Planning Commission and City Council enacted into law that provided a list of projects EIR 
ready. He said it did not do any good for applicants for the city to approve a list of projects that 
applicants then had to go get a separate EIR for. He said another thing they would love to do was 
improvements at Bayfront Bedwell Park, which they thought was the perfect proposal, only to find 
out that there was a list of things needed there but no EIR for those. He said if they were to suggest 
the $3 million go to improvements at Bayfront Bedwell Park, they would be putting their own project 
at risk as there was no EIR for that separate piece. He said he would be happy to devote his 
personal time, their staff time, and consultant time to help. He encouraged getting an approved list 
that was EIR ready so they could do actual projects for community amenities. He said it pained him 
to write checks that sat in funds and did nothing for the community. He said the fundamental basis of 
the whole life science district and the community benefit fee was that they would build projects for 
the community.  
 
Commissioner Barnes said this was the third study session on the project. He said it was well done 
and suited the community. He said it was what ConnectMenlo envisioned and was a life science 
building in a life science zoning district. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 10 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Acting Chair Harris said she wanted to acknowledge and praise the applicant for the surface level 
parking, reducing the parking, and for the addition of more trees and the solar reflection materials. 
She said she thought regarding the community amenities that some city council members were 
working on that and had thought by now it would have been finalized. She said it was frustrating as 
the applicant could build things and they wanted them to.  
 
Recognized by the Acting Chair, Mr. Kreitemeyer said the community amenities money could be 
used to do the EIRs to do all of the desired community amenity projects rather than putting the 
development projects at risk by having to do a separate EIR for the community amenity projects.  
 
Commissioner Tate asked about light at night and how that would be mitigated on the Flood Estates 
and Alberni neighborhoods. 
 
Ms. MacGraegor said all was downlighting and was mitigated to the perimeter of the site. She said a 
lighting engineer had done the lighting study to show light levels of the property so there would be 
no light pollution to the neighborhood.  
 
Commissioner Tate said another property had a café open to the public like what was proposed with 
this project. She asked who really utilized that existing café and whether it was primarily employees 
at the other buildings around it. She said the East Palo Alto residents who had written in were 
enthusiastic about using whatever new services would come online.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said they had been operating an eatery in the park continuously for 40 years. He said the 
original one was Belly Deli and then Jesse Cool ran Cool Eats until she left that business. He said it 
was now Eats at 1440 and had been the most successful one in 40 years attracting outside users. 
He said the café proposed at the proposal site would not be as large nor have nearly as large a 
menu as Eats at 1440. He said it would be more in the form of grab and go simply because there 
was only so much food service that would be viable in that location. He said they would have more 
options for food as the park grew into the vision that was established when the life science district 
was put into place. He said they were trying to measure increasing food service to meet the actual 
need. He said Eats at 1440 when it first opened was open for breakfast and coffee service but had 
such limited use it was not justifiable to continue. He said they would continue to try to expand not 
only the menu, but the locations and hours as the park evolved. Replying further to Commissioner 
Tate, Mr. Tarlton said Eats at 1440 was open only during business hours. 
 
Acting Chair Harris said the average building height calculation was one of the focus topics for 
discussion and to clarify the linkage between 1140 was to get the average height down. She said it 
seemed that that side of the street was only allowed at 35-foot height as it abutted residences. She 
said the applicants had been interested in acquiring nearby properties to 1140 O’Brien Drive and 
asked if all of those properties would be limited to a 35-foot height. She said at the 2021 Planning 
Commission study session for the project, staff had mentioned that they needed to go back and 
calculate what the building height of 1140 O’Brien Drive would be and that it actually might be lower 
than 35 feet.  
 
Mr. Tarlton said the facility height at 1140 O’Brien Drive was currently lower than 35 feet. He said 
regarding average height between the north side of the street and south side of the street that in the 
establishment of the life science zoning district they had had many conversations about that. He said  
it was Councilmember Ohtaki who was specifically concerned about having a variance in building 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2023 
Page 11 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

height in the neighborhood. He said the idea of pairing lower buildings on the south side of the street 
with taller buildings on the north side of the street was specifically contemplated.  
 
Commissioner Tate asked why the lot merger was highlighted in the staff report noting for another 
project the commission had recently seen with a lot merger that that had been a non-issue.  
 
Planner Hogan described when a lot merger was commonly required.  
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Barnes/Tate) to continue the meeting until 11:05 p.m.; passes 4-0 with 
Commissioners Do and Schindler absent. 
Commissioner Tate said that the way the lot merger was highlighted in the staff report seemed to 
indicate that there was some challenge regarding it.  
Planner Hogan said there was no challenge about it. He said in this case it was a required 
component of the project, which was why they mentioned and highlighted it.  
No additional comments were made. 

H. Informational Items 

H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: April 24, 2023 
 
Planner Sandmeier said a request for an ADU in the front setback at 1143 Woodland Avenue, an 
amended below market rate agreement for 1162 El Camino Real, and a use permit and architectural 
control request for 4055 Bohannon Drive would be on the April 24 agenda. 
 
• Regular Meeting: May 1, 2023 

  
I.  Adjournment  
  
 Acting Chair Harris adjourned the meeting at 11:05 p.m. 
 
 Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
 Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 

 



Page 1

·1· · · · · · · · · · · · CITY OF MENLO PARK

·2· · · · · · · · · · · · Planning Commission

·3

·4· ·In re:

·5· ·Draft Environmental Impact

·6· ·Report (Draft EIR) Public

·7· ·Hearing/ Tarlton Properties,

·8· ·LLC/1105-1165

·9· ·O’Brien Drive and 1 Casey Court

10· ·(referred to as the 1125 O’Brien

11· ·Drive project)

12· ·_______________________________/

13

14

15

16
· · · · · · · · · · ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT
17· · · · · · · REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
· · · · · · · · · · · · · AGENDA ITEM F2
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MONDAY, APRIL 10, 2023

19

20
· · · · · · · · · Reported by AMBER ABREU-PEIXOTO
21· · · · · · · · · ·(Via ZOOM Videoconference)
· · · · · · · ·Certified Shorthand Reporter No. 13546
22· · · · · · · · · · · State of California

23

24

25



Page 2

·1· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·ATTENDEES

·2

·3· The Planning Commission:

·4· · · · · ·Cynthia Harris - Acting Chairperson
· · · · · · ·Andrew Barnes
·5· · · · · ·Michele Tate
· · · · · · ·Henry Riggs
·6

·7· SUPPORT STAFF:

·8· · · · · ·Matt Pruter, Associate Planner
· · · · · · ·Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner
·9

10· PROJECT PRESENTERS:
· · · · · · ·David Hogan, Contract Planner
11· · · · · ·John Tarlton, Tarlton Properties

12
· · CONSULTANTS:
13· · · · · ·Elke MacGregor, DES Architects & Engineers
· · · · · · ·Victoria Chung, ICF
14

15

16· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·---o0o---

17

18· · · · · ·BE IT REMEMBERED that, pursuant to Notice of the

19· Meeting, and on April 10, 2023, via ZOOM Videoconference,

20· before me, AMBER ABREU-PEIXOTO, CSR 13546, State of

21· California, there commenced a Planning Commission meeting

22· under the provisions of the City of Menlo Park.

23

24· · · · · · · · · · · · ·---o0o---

25



Page 3

·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·MEETING AGENDA

·2· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · PAGE

·3· Presentation by Acting Chair Harris· · · · · · · · 4

·4

·5

·6· Project Presenters:

·7· · · · · ·David Hogan, Acting Associate Planner· · ·6

·8

·9· Applicant/Consultant Presentations

10· · · · · ·John Tarlton, Tarlton Properties· · · · · 11

11· · · · · ·Elke MacGregor, DES· · · · · · · · · · · ·13

12· · · · · ·Victoria Chung, ICF· · · · · · · · · · · ·18

13

14· Public Comment· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·25

15

16· Commission Questions and Comments· · · · · · · · · 33

17

18

19· · · · · · · · · · · · · --o0o--

20

21

22

23

24

25



Page 4

·1· · · · · · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·2

·3· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· We are now moving on in the

·4· Agenda in F2 and G1, which are associated, with a single

·5· Staff Report.· And I'm going to read F2.· It's rather

·6· long, so just bear with me.

·7· · · · · ·It's a Draft Environmental Impact Report for

·8· Tarlton Properties at 1105 to 1165 O'Brien Drive and 1

·9· Casey Court, which we're going to refer to as 1125 O'Brien

10· Drive Project.

11· · · · · ·The public hearing is to receive comments on the

12· Draft EIR to develop a five-story research and development

13· building containing approximately 131,000 square feet of

14· gross floor area in the Life Sciences, Bonus zoning

15· district.· This includes 129,000 of R&D, and 2,659 square

16· feet of commercial cafe uses.

17· · · · · ·The project site consists of four parcels,

18· containing three one-story buildings with approximately

19· 29,860 square feet and will be referred to as 1125 O'Brien

20· Drive.

21· · · · · ·The proposed project would include 229 parking

22· spaces in surface parking lots located behind the building

23· and adjacent to the building along O'Brien Drive.· The

24· proposed project includes requests for a use permit,

25· architectural control, below market rate housing in-lieu



Page 5

·1· fee, and environmental review.

·2· · · · · ·The proposal includes a request for an increase

·3· in height and FAR under the bonus level development

·4· allowance in exchange for community amenities.· The

·5· applicant is proposing payment of a community amenities

·6· in-lieu fee.· The project includes a hazardous materials

·7· use permit request to allow a diesel generator to operate

·8· the facilities in the event of a power outage or

·9· emergency.

10· · · · · ·The proposed project includes requests to modify

11· the surface parking along street frontage requirements

12· along Casey Court and to transfer development rights in

13· height from the applicant-controlled parcel at 1140

14· O'Brien Drive to comply with the Zoning Ordinance average

15· height requirement.

16· · · · · ·The proposed project is requesting an exception

17· from the City's reach code to allow for the use of natural

18· gas for space conditioning and laboratory spaces.

19· · · · · ·The proposed project also includes a request to

20· remove 11 heritage trees.

21· · · · · ·The focused Draft EIR was prepared to address

22· potential physical environmental effects of the proposed

23· project in the following areas:· Transportation,

24· population and housing, air quality, greenhouse gas

25· emissions, noise -- and that's with operation, traffic



Page 6

·1· noise, construction noise, and vibration, cultural and

·2· tribal resources, and biological resources.

·3· · · · · ·The Draft EIR identifies significant and

·4· unavoidable environmental impacts from noise and

·5· greenhouse gases.· And the City is requesting comments on

·6· the content of this Draft EIR.· Written comments on the

·7· Draft EIR may be submitted to the Community Development

·8· Department at 701 Laurel Street no later than 5:00 p.m.,

·9· on May 8th, of 2023.

10· · · · · ·So as we discussed, the EIR staff, would you like

11· to advise the -- how you would like to proceed; if there

12· is a staff presentation and EIR consultant presentation,

13· applicant presentation?

14· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· Vice Chairman, I guess I will begin.

15· My name is Dave Hogan.· I'm the contract planner on this

16· project.· We had envisioned, with the Commission's

17· permission, to have three presentations tonight.· The

18· first, an introduction by staff, followed up by a

19· presentation by the project applicant, and then ending

20· with the presentation by the City's EIR consultant to help

21· frame in the comments on the EIR.

22· · · · · ·So if that's acceptable, then we will -- I will

23· begin with my presentation.

24· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you, Mr. Hogan.· That

25· sounds like a plan.



Page 7

·1· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· Fantastic.

·2· · · · · ·This is item F2, which is the public hearing on

·3· the Draft Environmental Impact Report.

·4· · · · · ·Next, please, because I don't have -- there we

·5· go.

·6· · · · · ·So our recommended format for the evening is

·7· starting off with a Draft EIR.· Then again, as I said, my

·8· -- you'll have my presentation, then the presentation by

·9· the applicant, presentation by the EIR consultant.· At

10· that point, we're recommending that you open up the public

11· hearing to receive public comments on the Draft EIR,

12· comments on the EIR, on environmental issues.· Even if

13· they're not in writing -- if they are presented verbally

14· tonight, they'll still be evaluated by the City and the

15· EIR consultant and incorporated in a Response to Comments

16· in the Final EIR.

17· · · · · ·After public comments, then we would recommend

18· that the Commission provide comments on the Draft EIR.

19· And when all the comments on the EIR, not necessarily the

20· design of the project, then staff would recommend that you

21· close the draft -- the public hearing, which would be item

22· F2, and then go to item G1.· Again, there will be a very

23· brief introduction by staff.

24· · · · · ·Commissioner questions on the project, on the

25· staff report, and those will be answered by either staff



Page 8

·1· or the applicant, depending upon the nature of the

·2· question.

·3· · · · · ·At that point, we would recommend that the public

·4· comments on the proposed project be made available.· And

·5· then after the public has commented, then we'd like to see

·6· the Commission's comments on the proposed project.

·7· · · · · ·Next, please.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·Okay.· This just gives a general location for the

·9· project.· You can -- you see the Facebook --

10· Commissioners, can you see my mouse on the screen?

11· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Is it moving?· Move it a

12· little.

13· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· Yeah.· Okay.· Maybe not.· Okay.

14· Never mind.

15· · · · · ·You can see the project is -- consists of four

16· lots and largely, right in the industrial area of the

17· city.· Yeah.· There it is.· And then you can see the

18· residential areas surrounding it and its location.· You

19· see the Facebook campus at the top.

20· · · · · ·Next slide, please.· Thank you.

21· · · · · ·This is the zoning map.· Based upon the

22· ConnectMenlo process the City went through, a lot of this

23· area was redesignated to life sciences.· The properties

24· north of O'Brien Drive all have the life science bonus.

25· The life science areas adjacent to East Palo Alto and the



Page 9

·1· residential neighborhoods there do not have the balance,

·2· do not have the bonus potential.· Okay.

·3· · · · · ·Next -- next slide, please.· Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·So there are five future actions on this project.

·5· First is the environmental review.· That's what we're

·6· discussing.

·7· · · · · ·There's also a use permit request for the

·8· generator and some of the parking issues.· The actual use

·9· is permitted.· So the use is permitted under the Zoning

10· Code.· The use permit is for other design elements.

11· · · · · ·Then there's architectural review, which is

12· definitely something that we would like to hear back from

13· the Commission on tonight, on the design of the building

14· and design of the site.· One of the issues is going to be

15· a lot merger, and we will be -- in your Staff Report, I

16· believe it is attachment B, shows the three lots being

17· merged into one, which is being called Parcel 1 of the

18· project.

19· · · · · ·Parcel 2 is the existing parcel, which is going

20· to be the accessory parking lot.· And, of course, there is

21· heritage tree removal permits.

22· · · · · ·As the applicant went through this process, two

23· of the 13 heritage trees -- the project then was modified

24· to preserve those on-site.

25· · · · · ·Next, please.



Page 10

·1· · · · · ·Here we have a close-up of the site of the

·2· applicant.· We'll go into much more detail.· See Parcel 1

·3· with the building, and Parcel 2, which is just the parking

·4· lot above that.· The two parking lots do not connect

·5· internally, and that was something that staff would

·6· potentially like the Commission's feedback on.

·7· · · · · ·Next, please.

·8· · · · · ·So this is a reminder to a lot of the people

·9· monitoring the meeting.· There's two elements tonight.

10· And we've talked about it previously.· The first is

11· getting comments on the Draft Environmental Impact Report.

12· Then there's a study session, getting design comments on

13· the project.· The Commission will not be taking any formal

14· actions tonight on the project or the Draft EIR.· The

15· comment period ends on Monday, May 8th, at 5:00 p.m.· So

16· all comments received before that will be evaluated.

17· · · · · ·And in the final event, the Planning Commission

18· will be the final decisionmaking body that will certify

19· the EIR and consider the land -- various land use

20· entitlements that the applicant has submitted for.

21· · · · · ·Next, please.· Thank you.

22· · · · · ·I am just about done with my brief presentation.

23· Next we will have the project applicant, and then followed

24· by the EIR consultant.· And at that point we will -- we

25· are recommending that you open up the public hearing, get



Page 11

·1· comments from the public, your comments, and then we will

·2· proceed with the study session.

·3· · · · · ·And next, please.

·4· · · · · ·That concludes my presentation.· And I'd ask that

·5· the applicant's presentation be loaded up and give them

·6· the opportunity to share their project with the

·7· Commission.

·8· · · · · ·Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you.

10· · · · · ·To the applicant, please.

11· · · · · ·(Audio disruption.)

12· · · · · ·JOHN TARLTON:· ... EIR consultants for all their

13· hard work, and each of you for the service you provide to

14· the City in reviewing applications like ours and

15· participating in countless hours of public hearings.

16· · · · · ·In an effort to be efficient, my comments will be

17· tailored to both the EIR comment agenda item and the study

18· session.· The proposed project, which has received

19· positive feedback from this body several times over the

20· last four-and-a-half years, has been updated to

21· incorporate comments we received during our last public

22· hearing, in addition to feedback from staff.

23· · · · · ·As you all know, because you've -- you've heard

24· me up here a couple of times, the Menlo Park Life Sciences

25· District has been quitely churning out world-changing life



Page 12

·1· science innovations for 40 years, from the original

·2· nicotine patch to the first commercially-available pan

·3· cancer biopsy, not to mention the first

·4· commercially-available COVID-19 test in the U.S. Menlo

·5· Park labs has helped future dozens and dozens of

·6· innovations that have simultaneously lowered the cost of

·7· health care and improved patient outcomes.

·8· · · · · ·Menlo Park labs has also been home to several

·9· sustainability leaders.· You may be pleased to know that

10· Impossible Foods, formerly Meat 2.0, was born in a

11· building right across the street from this project, and

12· our latest addition to the park, Windfall Bio, who is

13· enabling climate-positive agriculture.· At the same time,

14· Menlo Park labs has been a leader in creating jobs across

15· a broad socioeconomic and education spectrum and

16· significant sales tax revenue for the City.

17· · · · · ·Finally, we have led in our own sustainable

18· practices, often adopting and instituting sustainable

19· practices long before they are required.· And that

20· sometimes set the new standards for others.

21· · · · · ·Since our last presentation, we have modified the

22· project to address concerns previously raised by the

23· Planning Commission, as well as by staff.· You will see

24· these changes in more detail later in the presentation.

25· · · · · ·I'd like to call your attention to two specific



Page 13

·1· areas:· One is the potential heat island effect of surface

·2· parking areas.· As you will see, we will be planting a

·3· large number of trees on this project.· Many of these will

·4· help shade the parking areas.· In addition, we will be

·5· utilizing solar-reflective materials in the parking areas

·6· to dramatically reduce residual heat island effect.

·7· · · · · ·The second is connectivity.· With the help of

·8· staff, we've been able to create a new pedestrian

·9· connection that will provide future access to the Willow

10· Village site for both Menlo Park and East Palo Alto

11· residents and visitors.· There's a visual of this later in

12· the presentation.

13· · · · · ·I'm available for questions, but with that, I

14· will turn over the presentation to Elke MacGregor, an

15· incredibly talented architect, who has successfully led

16· countless life science projects for our team.

17· · · · · ·ELKE MACGREGOR:· Good evening, Commissioners.

18· I'm Elke MacGregor, with DES.· And this is our 18th

19· building that we've built with Tarlton Properties in Menlo

20· Park.· Kind of cool.

21· · · · · ·The focus on those buildings in the last 15 years

22· has been life science.· And this building is located in

23· the center of the Life Science District.

24· · · · · ·Should I be looking at -- thank you.

25· · · · · ·Next.



Page 14

·1· · · · · ·So the circle there indicates where this building

·2· is in the center of the Life Science campus.· And it is a

·3· block from residential.· It's adjacent to the Hetch

·4· Hetchy, which runs through the center of the park and

·5· through the center of the Life Science District.· It also

·6· borders Willow Village.· So, yeah.· Thanks.

·7· · · · · ·It -- in this sketch here, you can see the whole,

·8· sort of, tree-planted street that's O'Brien Drive, that

·9· connects Willow to University.· This drive was identified

10· in ConnectMenlo as an area where they wanted to have a

11· Class II bicycle connection.· So in our building, as in

12· most of the buildings in the park, we have bicycle parking

13· at the interior and exterior, as well as shower

14· facilities.

15· · · · · ·There's also a shuttle service that extends

16· throughout the whole Menlo Park labs to provide connection

17· to the adjacent public transit areas.

18· · · · · ·We have multiple traffic reduction measures that

19· are included in this project.· This goes into a list of

20· some of those.

21· · · · · ·The shower/changing facilities on-site here are

22· also complemented at the fitness center, which is two

23· blocks down the road on O'Brien Drive.

24· · · · · ·The traffic reduction that we've been able to do

25· on this site -- or what we're planning on this site is



Page 15

·1· bolstered by the efficiency that we've achieved on other

·2· projects.· So our estimated efficiency, we usually double

·3· that on our projects.· And we've reduced traffic nearly

·4· twice what the code requirements are.

·5· · · · · ·Next slide, please.

·6· · · · · ·This is -- these are some of the buildings in the

·7· current Menlo Park lab site.· There are multiple large and

·8· small tenants on campus here.· One of those is Pacific

·9· Biosciences, in the bottom left corner.· And the top right

10· and bottom right are images of the cafe that's on campus.

11· It serves the area for all of the local people.· So this

12· is for the neighborhood, as well as the people that are in

13· the buildings on campus.· There's also a fitness center

14· on-site.

15· · · · · ·The next slide, please.

16· · · · · ·There currently are four buildings, plus a

17· mechanical shed on-site.· These are all concrete-tilt

18· buildings that will be replaced with a new building.

19· · · · · ·John mentioned that we had a garage on-site

20· previously in the last image.· So we are now -- we

21· purchased the property adjacent.· So the three concrete

22· tilt buildings, plus the one behind it, will now be a

23· building plus a parking at grade, which I think was

24· preferred by the Planning Commission, I think, for future

25· flexibility in the last time we were presenting this in



Page 16

·1· 2018.

·2· · · · · ·These are the images of those marvelous

·3· buildings.· They probably were marvelous at one point.· So

·4· this is just a quick image that shows you the two

·5· properties.· The one on top, which is hatched, which will

·6· become parking; and the bottom one, which has the existing

·7· three concrete tilt buildings.

·8· · · · · ·This slide shows you the connection that we're

·9· proposing.· And we worked with Planning Commission.· This

10· wasn't a request from the Planning Commission.· It was

11· from the Planning Department, but it was definitely

12· something we discussed at the last meeting, and it was the

13· ability to provide a connection for the residents of Palo

14· -- or Menlo Park through our property site, up to the

15· Hetch Hetchy and future Willow Village connection.

16· · · · · ·So this provides connection from Kavanaugh Street

17· and O'Brien Drive, between the two properties and up to

18· the Hetch Hetchy area.· This is provided by way of a

19· meandering path.· It shows it better on the next slide.

20· What this slide indicates is, we are exceeding the public

21· and the private open space requirements for the City.

22· · · · · ·This slide shows you that that pathway is tree

23· covered.· It provides lots of points of connection to

24· adjacent buildings, in addition to having some open space

25· seating that is also tree-shaded.



Page 17

·1· · · · · ·We kept as many healthy trees on the property as

·2· we could.· Quite a few of them are high water or no longer

·3· in great shape.· So the ones we did keep are what was

·4· possible for the site.

·5· · · · · ·This building is going to be LEED Gold.· We've

·6· been working with the mechanical, electrical, plumbing,

·7· structural teams, and our sustainability team, to provide

·8· quality daylighting views for the tenants, reduce the

·9· environmental footprint, and also incorporate sustainable

10· materials.

11· · · · · ·The connecting pathway -- this shows you there's

12· a cafe included on the main floor of the building in the

13· bottom right-hand corner.· That opens up to a plaza

14· adjacent to the building and provides public open space,

15· as well as the amenities pictured here to all of the local

16· neighborhoods, as well as to the building tenants.

17· · · · · ·And the last slide is an image of some of the

18· finishes.· We have, of course, bird-safe glass on the

19· building.· The glazing on this building is scientifically

20· specific tinted.· It's low E.· And the sod materials have

21· been selected for longevity and beauty.

22· · · · · ·Next slide.

23· · · · · ·These are the last two images of the building.

24· This is the overall facade.· And the next slide shows you

25· the entrance, if you're walking a little closer to the



Page 18

·1· building.· You're looking at a view into the entry.· To

·2· the right of the entrance is a conference room and a cafe

·3· facility that would be open to the public.

·4· · · · · ·Thank you.

·5· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you.· I'll move on to

·6· the EIR consultant.

·7· · · · · ·VICTORIA CHUNG:· Can we pull up our presentation?

·8· Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·Good evening, Acting Chair Harris, Commissioners,

10· and members of the public.· My name is Victoria Chung, and

11· I am the Project Manager for the 1125 O'Brien Drive

12· project EIR.

13· · · · · ·Next slide.

14· · · · · ·We worked with the City of Menlo Park's Planning

15· Department, along with Hexagon, who was the traffic

16· consultant, and KMA, who did the housing needs' assessment

17· on this -- on this EIR document.

18· · · · · ·Next slide.

19· · · · · ·So tonight I'll be going over the following

20· presentation topics:· The purpose of this hearing; project

21· overview; the environmental review process; the overview

22· of the Draft Environmental Impact Report, aka, EIR; the

23· next steps in the CEQA process; and how to comment on the

24· Draft EIR.

25· · · · · ·Next slide.



Page 19

·1· · · · · ·So the purpose of this public hearing is to

·2· summarize the proposed project and conclusions in the

·3· Draft EIR, and to provide an overview of the CEQA process

·4· and next steps; to receive public input on the analyses in

·5· the Draft EIR; and, finally, to review next steps in the

·6· CEQA process.

·7· · · · · ·Next slide.

·8· · · · · ·So the applicant and City staff have already gone

·9· over the project -- the proposed project, but basically,

10· for our EIR, we sort of separated the bottom portion of

11· the project as Parcel 1, and the top portion of the

12· project as Parcel 2, just to make the more technical areas

13· of analyses easier for us.· And you'll see why, when we

14· get to -- when we discuss the impacts that are going to

15· occur in the -- for the project.

16· · · · · ·Next slide.

17· · · · · ·So this is generally for the general public, but

18· the environmental review process and the purpose of CEQA,

19· it provides decisionmakers with -- and the public with

20· information about the significant environmental effects of

21· the proposed project, and to also identify potential

22· peaceful mitigation and alternatives that would reduce

23· significant effects to the project.

24· · · · · ·And also, the environmental review process

25· focuses on -- of the analyses focuses on the physical



Page 20

·1· impacts of the environment.· And lastly, it is so that the

·2· agency decisionmakers are able to consider the EIR and

·3· other input in making the -- your decisions on the

·4· project.

·5· · · · · ·Next slide.

·6· · · · · ·So the environmental review process -- we're just

·7· going to focus on the black boxes for now.· And then we'll

·8· discuss the gray boxes towards the end of this

·9· presentation.

10· · · · · ·So the Notice of Preparation and the initial

11· study was done between July 30th, 2021, and August 31st,

12· 2021.· The scoping meeting occurred August 9th, 2021, and

13· that was to receive comments on the scope of the EIR.

14· · · · · ·And then the Draft EIR is currently under public

15· review.· And it's a 45-day public review period, and it

16· started March 31st, and ends on May 8th, 2023.

17· · · · · ·And then, lastly, we're here at the public

18· hearing today to discuss the EIR.

19· · · · · ·So the initial study that was done in 2021, it

20· scoped out several impact areas.· And so this is why this

21· EIR has -- is primarily concentrated on specific impact

22· areas.

23· · · · · ·The project itself is within the ConnectMenlo

24· study area, and tiers off the ConnectMenlo EIR.· This is

25· required by CEQA, for projects that have -- that may have



Page 21

·1· significant environmental impacts.· It identifies

·2· potential physical, environmental impacts of the project.

·3· · · · · ·This informs the public and public agency

·4· decisionmakers, prior to project approval or disapproval,

·5· and recommends ways to reduce significant effects, and

·6· also considers project alternatives that may lessen

·7· potential impacts.

·8· · · · · ·Next slide.

·9· · · · · ·So the issues that are studied in this focused

10· EIR are air quality, biological resources, cultural and

11· tribal resources, greenhouse gases, noise, population and

12· housing, transportation, and alternatives.

13· · · · · ·So the impacts and mitigation measures that we

14· found, that we concluded in this EIR, we had significant

15· and unavoidable impacts.· Those were related to greenhouse

16· gas.· And there's a little error.· It wasn't during

17· construction; it was during operation.· And that's due to

18· the Bay Area Air Quality Management District's new updated

19· thresholds, which is why we had to do the all-electric

20· feasibility study.

21· · · · · ·And then the other significant and unavoidable

22· impacts were related to construction noise and vibration.

23· And this was due to the City's noise thresholds in

24· relation to ambient noise.

25· · · · · ·And vibration.· Significant unavoidable impacts.



Page 22

·1· That was due to potential construction being close to

·2· commercial areas.· And that was -- it's vibration

·3· annoyance, and not -- related to vibration annoyances.

·4· · · · · ·The EIR also found that the less-than-significant

·5· with implementation of mitigation measures were related to

·6· transportation, air quality, greenhouse gas, noise,

·7· cultural and tribal cultural resources, and biological

·8· resources.

·9· · · · · ·Next slide.

10· · · · · ·And then, lastly, these issue areas found that

11· there would be less than significant impacts with

12· implementation of mitigation measures in this initial

13· study.· So those were cultural resources, geology and

14· soils, and hazards.

15· · · · · ·Next slide.

16· · · · · ·At -- in our EIR, we discussed three different

17· project alternatives.· The first alternative is required

18· by CEQA, which is the no-project alternative, which would

19· assume that the existing uses on site and site conditions

20· wouldn't change.· So all four buildings would stay the

21· same.· No development would happen.· All buildings on

22· O'Brien Drive and Casey Court would remain in their

23· current state.

24· · · · · ·The next alternative is the base level

25· alternative, and that involves new development consistent



Page 23

·1· with the base level of development allowed by the City's

·2· Zoning Code, which is up to 55 percent floor area ratio,

·3· on both Parcel 1 and Parcel 2.· And this was selected

·4· based on its potential to reduce the transportation and

·5· greenhouse gas emission impacts.

·6· · · · · ·And then, finally, the environmentally-superior

·7· alternative, which is the reduced space level alternative.

·8· That involves development consistent with the base level

·9· development allowed by the City's Zoning Code; again, up

10· to 55 percent floor area ratio, but the development would

11· only happen on Parcel 1.· And Parcel 2 would remain the

12· same.

13· · · · · ·And the existing site uses and conditions would

14· be available for future redevelopment, but development

15· would primarily happen on Parcel 1.

16· · · · · ·Next slide.

17· · · · · ·And so what are the next steps for the

18· environmental review process?· We would -- after public

19· hearing and collecting the comments during the public

20· comment period, we would prepare the Final EIR that

21· addresses the Response to Comments received in the Draft

22· EIR comment period.

23· · · · · ·And then it would be up to the decisionmakers to

24· take action on whether to approve the proposed project and

25· EIR.



Page 24

·1· · · · · ·And if you would like to comment via e-mail, you

·2· would e-mail David Hogan at DWHogan@MenloPark.gov, or via

·3· letter and sending in the letter to David Hogan, Contract

·4· Planner, Community Development Department, Planning

·5· Division, at 701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, California

·6· 94025, or tonight you could raise your hand via Zoom, and

·7· you'll be notified to speak.· And all comments must be

·8· received by May 8th, at 5:00 p.m.

·9· · · · · ·And that concludes my presentation.

10· · · · · ·Thank you.

11· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you, Ms. Chung.

12· · · · · ·Okay.· With the presentations completed, I'd like

13· to ask the Commission if there are any clarifying

14· questions before we turn to public comment on the EIR.

15· · · · · ·Okay.· Seeing none, I would like to open up

16· public comment.· And I just want to remind the public that

17· these are comments for the EIR.· We will have another

18· option for public comment when we bring back the project

19· to the study session.· So please only raise your hand now

20· if you have comments that relate to the Draft EIR.

21· · · · · ·All right.· So, please.· Let's -- how many -- do

22· we have hands raised?

23· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Yes, we do.· Thank you, Chair

24· Harris.· At the moment, I see three hands raised.· Happy

25· to give the comment period -- now we have four.



Page 25

·1· · · · · ·And as a reminder, anyone on Zoom, please press

·2· your hand icon, if you'd like to speak, or press star nine

·3· on the phone, if you're calling in.· Or if you're in

·4· person, please come by with a comment card to yours truly,

·5· and I can assist with in-person commenting as well.

·6· · · · · ·Happy to begin, if you'd like.

·7· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you.· Let's begin.

·8· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Thank you.· Our first commenter is

·9· Gita Dev.· I'll allow you to speak at this time.· And

10· you'll have three minutes in just one moment.

11· · · · · ·Okay.· I'm going to allow you to un-mute

12· yourself.· You'll have three minutes.· Sorry about that.

13· Thank you.

14· · · · · ·GITA DEV:· Am I un-muted?· Hello?

15· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Yes, you are.· We can hear you.

16· Thank you.

17· · · · · ·GITA DEV:· Okay.· Great.· Thank you.

18· · · · · ·Good evening.· This is Gita Dev, with the Sierra

19· Club, Loma Prieta Chapter.· I wanted to bring up two

20· comments regarding the EIR.· One is, I just wanted to

21· mention that in -- I believe in other cities, the biotech

22· labs are able to have their HVAC systems not using natural

23· gas.· Most cities do allow natural gas to be used in the

24· lab spaces because of the Bunsen Burners for experiments.

25· But the actual heating and ventilating systems, I do not



Page 26

·1· believe they allow them to use natural gas.· So I have not

·2· read the justification report, but I just wanted to

·3· mention that.

·4· · · · · ·The other item was that there is not a water

·5· budget that's being mentioned in the EIR.· And it

·6· mentioned there is a process for looking at a water budget

·7· after one year, but it does not say at this point any

·8· presumption of what the water budget might be.· And I just

·9· wanted to know what that expectation is.· I believe it

10· should be spelled out.

11· · · · · ·One other item which the EIR doesn't seem to

12· address very well is -- maybe it doesn't have a good

13· category for it.· What's the biosafety level?· Are we

14· assuming these will be biosafety labs, Level 1 and Level

15· 2?

16· · · · · ·But if there is anticipation to have biosafety

17· Level 3, then that brings up a lot of environmental

18· concerns because these are transmitted -- aerosol

19· transmission have extremely stringent HVAC requirements

20· and containment requirements.· And those are -- there are

21· a lot of environmental impacts from potential -- potential

22· release of these agents.· So the EIR is lacking in that

23· area.· I just wanted to bring that up.

24· · · · · ·The final item is noise.· There seems to be a

25· good amount of study done on the noise.· However, they



Page 27

·1· make it very clear that they have no idea what actual

·2· equipment might be there or that -- when they're all on

·3· simultaneously, it could be extremely noisy.· So this is

·4· an issue that has been brought up many times before with

·5· you guys to labs, and they are very robust HVAC systems.

·6· · · · · ·Thank you very much.

·7· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· All right.· Thank you for your

·8· comment.

·9· · · · · ·Our next commenter is Lynne Bramlett.· I'm going

10· to allow you to un-mute yourself now.· You'll have three

11· minutes as well.· Thank you.

12· · · · · ·LYNNE BRAMLETT:· Good evening, Commissioners.

13· I'm Lynne Bramlett, resident of District III, Mills Court.

14· I'm also the leader of MPC Ready, which is a

15· neighborhood-level disaster preparedness organization.

16· · · · · ·Tonight I'm speaking for myself.· However, as the

17· leader of MPC Ready, I've become quite informed about our

18· areas' general preparedness or not for a disaster.· And

19· what I see in District I -- I realize this is a comment on

20· the EIR, is a general piecemeal approach to development

21· that I think new information warrants a review.

22· · · · · ·It also is starting very late at night, and the

23· public is commenting after 9:30.· And to my knowledge, the

24· City has not conducted trainings, especially in District

25· I, on how to comment effectively on EIRs.



Page 28

·1· · · · · ·This -- one of the prior speakers mentioned

·2· ConnectMenlo.· I continue to hear tiering off ConnectMenlo

·3· EIR.· However, the ConnectMenlo EIR is -- the program

·4· level EIR dismissed the threat of the Hayward Fault

·5· eruption, which is a very real hazard, with potentially

·6· significant impacts to Menlo Park.· And I can say, in my

·7· role with MPC Ready, though I'm speaking for myself, the

·8· City of Menlo Park, the County of San Mateo, and the Menlo

·9· Park Fire Protection District are all completely

10· un-prepared for bio-hazards or a bio-hazard-release

11· incident, and also un-prepared for the eruption of the

12· Hayward Fault.

13· · · · · ·So it seems to me that these EIR meetings don't

14· take into account kind of a new model that incorporates

15· issues pertaining to general safety, especially safety of

16· the residents living near these areas; East Palo Alto,

17· Belle Haven and, you know, any problems could very

18· certainly affect not just that area, but the rest of Menlo

19· Park.

20· · · · · ·So I agree with the speaker from the Sierra Club,

21· the woman who spoke before me, with her concerns that

22· she's raising; water, noise.· I think a lot of concerns

23· are kind of -- there is an adequate fact base assurances

24· that the water will be there, et cetera.

25· · · · · ·So thank you, Commissioners, for your time



Page 29

·1· tonight.· I think the industry itself should be looked at

·2· more from a public safety point of view.

·3· · · · · ·Thank you.

·4· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Thank you very much.

·5· · · · · ·Our next commenter is Naomi Goodman.· I'm going

·6· to let you un-mute yourself at this time as well.· And

·7· you'll have three minutes to speak.

·8· · · · · ·Thank you.

·9· · · · · ·NAOMI GOODMAN:· Can you hear me?

10· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Yes, we can.

11· · · · · ·NAOMI GOODMAN:· Okay.· Good.· Thank you.

12· · · · · ·My name is Naomi Goodman.· I'm speaking for

13· myself, as a resident of Menlo Park District II.

14· · · · · ·Similar to the previous speakers, I have concerns

15· regarding the lack of information in the EIR on the types

16· of R&D that would be allowed in the proposed Life Sciences

17· Building.· It's located within 500 feet of a residential

18· area and an elementary school in a high-hazard

19· liquefaction zone.

20· · · · · ·Biotech research can run the gamut from innocuous

21· to deadly, if a biological agent escapes from a lab.· Such

22· escapes do happen.· I refer you to the U.S. Right to Know

23· website for examples.· The residents of Menlo Park and

24· East Palo Alto deserve transparency on the risks to which

25· they could be unknowingly exposed.



Page 30

·1· · · · · ·Neither the ConnectMenlo or the Draft EIR

·2· addresses allowable biosafety levels.· Tenants could

·3· engage in research, requiring biosafety Level III

·4· containment.· BSL III labs handle high-risk pathogens that

·5· are difficult to control, as they're airborne and very

·6· contagious when released.· Containment depends on

·7· mechanical systems that can fail through human error,

·8· mechanical failure, or disasters.· These labs are

·9· appropriate where there's scientific safety oversight

10· committees that ensure and understand these risks.

11· · · · · ·Menlo Park does not have such a committee in

12· place, and no other government agency has any

13· responsibility for the safety of private biotech labs.

14· Menlo Park is not prepared at present to take the role of

15· guardian of public safety for biotech labs.

16· · · · · ·If the project is approved, the use permit should

17· stipulate there will be no R&D requiring BSL III

18· procedures, and a process should be set up by Menlo Park

19· to verify those assurances.

20· · · · · ·Failure to consider potential impacts of future

21· uses of the building is a major flaw in the EIR.  I

22· request that the Final EIR evaluate the potential for

23· human health and ecological hazard from the spectrum of

24· target organisms that may be used in the building.

25· · · · · ·Thank you.



Page 31

·1· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Thank you very much.

·2· · · · · ·Our next commenter is Jenny Michel.· I'd like to

·3· add, this appears to be the last commenter with their hand

·4· raised at this time.· So I'm going to let you be able to

·5· speak.· And you'll have three minutes starting now.

·6· · · · · ·Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·JENNY MICHEL:· Good evening, Chair, Vice Chair,

·8· Commissioners, Staff, neighbors, members of the public.

·9· My name is Jenny Michel, from the Coleman Place

10· Neighborhood Blog, bringing you tales from the leverage

11· labor cribs; long-time renting resident on Willow Road,

12· mother of IEP student, recovering homeless teacher, and by

13· trade, a commercial property manager.

14· · · · · ·I support this applicant and the incredible

15· inherent values you bring to our city.· I'm excited about

16· this development opportunity, both as a colleague in the

17· industry, but also as a lights-on resident and parent.

18· · · · · ·One thing I'd like to call out, to ask this body

19· to require or enact some mechanism to ensure this

20· applicant hires local labor.· In the spirit of the EIR,

21· reducing vehicle miles driven and investing in local

22· families is a bonus win-win to all.

23· · · · · ·As a world-class employer, we would hope, as

24· residents, that you believe in us and offer us the

25· opportunity to work with you on future endeavors.



Page 32

·1· Stabilizing the local labor force is an understated urgent

·2· priority to minimize overall risk applicable to all real

·3· property assets, which always impacts the environmental

·4· scope of a project.

·5· · · · · ·To the public comments, reinforcing the structure

·6· to secure the residents away from some type of

·7· contamination, knowing that you're in a liquefaction zone,

·8· prone to water rise implications is a must.· And although

·9· the area is zoned for the biolab pursuit, it does not take

10· into consideration the risks of -- associated with such

11· use.

12· · · · · ·The applicant is encouraged to support moving

13· away from gas components.· Outside of that, I appreciate

14· your due diligence and your proposing this forward-looking

15· project.

16· · · · · ·All my best, Jenny.

17· · · · · ·MR. PRUTER:· Thank you very much for your

18· comment.

19· · · · · ·At this time I see no additional commenter hands

20· raised, and no one from the council chambers is looking to

21· provide a comment as well.· We've waited for a little

22· while.· If you would like to wait a moment longer, Acting

23· Chair Harris, or we could close the public comment period

24· for this particular part of the item.

25· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· I think that we've waited



Page 33

·1· long enough.· We can close public comment and bring it

·2· back to the Commission for discussion and questions

·3· related to the EIR.

·4· · · · · ·Who would like to start?

·5· · · · · ·Commissioner Riggs?

·6· · · · · ·COMMISSIONER RIGGS:· Yes.· Thank you.

·7· · · · · ·Although public comment by three Zoom

·8· participants is not exactly a representative of an overall

·9· city-wide reaction, one cannot help but notice the

10· recurring theme regarding biosafety.· So I would like to

11· ask, through the Chair, if I may, ask of staff, when the

12· tenants apply to Tarlton Properties to do their tenant

13· improvements, is their scope of work brought to us for

14· tenant space review?

15· · · · · ·MS. SANDMEIER:· Through the Chair.· So the normal

16· procedure is for it to go to outside agencies, including

17· county health and the fire district.· And based on input,

18· we can always update that process also.

19· · · · · ·And I think we have David Hogan here, too, to

20· answer more specific questions about the project.

21· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· At the -- Commissioners, at this

22· point, according to the applicant, they don't have a

23· specific tenant.· So it's hard for staff to identify, you

24· know, who is actually going to be in the building.

25· · · · · ·The Zoning Code does not provide specific



Page 34

·1· direction on how to address the different bio levels.

·2· Once the Commission receives this project, either the

·3· applicant will have a better idea of who their tenant will

·4· be and/or the Commission will be in a position then to

·5· consider the appropriate level or other requirements they

·6· might see that they think is appropriate, in terms of

·7· limiting or not limiting the bio level and the proposed

·8· building for future tenants.

·9· · · · · ·COMMISSIONER RIGGS:· All right.· If I may

10· summarize, then.· This is the meeting.· This is the

11· hearing.· This is the opportunity to talk about bio-hazard

12· levels.

13· · · · · ·Is that correct, Mr. Hogan?

14· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· From the perspective of the EIR, I

15· would say yes.· If you think that the EIR should address

16· it, then I think this is a good time.· Otherwise, I would

17· suggest that maybe doing that as part of the study session

18· might be a little bit more focused on the issue because

19· that will facilitate staff and the applicant, in terms of

20· taking the steps necessary to begin to address the

21· Commission's concerns.

22· · · · · ·COMMISSIONER RIGGS:· Agreed.· Thank you very

23· much.

24· · · · · ·MS. SANDMEIER:· And through the Chair, I did want

25· to clarify, any future tenant improvements would not go to



Page 35

·1· the Planning Commission.· So those would go through an

·2· administrative process.

·3· · · · · ·And, in this case, I don't know if the applicant

·4· has more information to share on potential -- potential

·5· future tenants.

·6· · · · · ·COMMISSIONER RIGGS:· No.· I have the answer to my

·7· question.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you, Commissioner

·9· Riggs.

10· · · · · ·Would anyone else like to speak on the EIR?

11· · · · · ·I have a question.· I have some comments on the

12· housing needs' assessment, as well as transportation, TDM

13· and TIA.

14· · · · · ·And I'm wondering, the information that I've

15· gleaned is from the EIR, especially the appendices.

16· However, most of my comments would refer to items that I

17· would want to be seen in the project.· So I'm a little bit

18· unclear as to whether I should discuss them now, or if I

19· should wait until the study session.

20· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· Madam Chair, based upon what you've

21· told me, it sounds like it's more related to the project

22· design than to the Environmental Impact Report.

23· · · · · ·The City's Settlement Agreement with the City of

24· East Palo Alto required that population and housing and

25· transportation both be addressed in the EIR.· And the



Page 36

·1· Housing Need Assessment prepared by KMA is the source

·2· document for evaluating those issues, specifically at the

·3· request of the City of East Palo Alto.

·4· · · · · ·So as I understand it, the document has been

·5· prepared, consistent with all the other documents.· If you

·6· feel that the project should be adjusted or modified in

·7· some way, that I would suggest, that may come under the

·8· study session.

·9· · · · · ·If your comments relate to the analysis in the

10· EIR, then I think that would be best addressed now.

11· · · · · ·I hope that answers my -- answers your question.

12· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Thank you.· I'll -- you

13· know what?· I will wait until the study session for some

14· of these comments.

15· · · · · ·MR. HOGAN:· Okay.

16· · · · · ·ACTING CHAIR HARRIS:· Does anyone else have any

17· comments on the Draft EIR?

18· · · · · ·Okay.· It seems that we, as a Commission, don't

19· have other comments on the Draft EIR.· So I think we can

20· close that portion of tonight's session and move on to G1,

21· which is the study session.

22

23· · · · · ·(Whereupon, Agenda Item F2 completed.)

24

25· · · · · · · · · · · · ·--o0o--



Page 37

·1· · · · · · · · · · CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

·2

·3· · · · · ·I, AMBER ABREU-PEIXOTO, hereby certify that the

·4· foregoing was taken in shorthand by me, a Certified

·5· Shorthand Reporter of the State of California, and was

·6· thereafter transcribed into typewriting, and that the

·7· foregoing transcript constitutes a full, true, and correct

·8· report of said proceedings which took place;

·9

10· · · · · ·That I am a disinterested person to the said

11· action.

12

13· · · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand

14· this 10th day of May, 2023.

15

16· · · · · ___________________________________________

17· · · · · · · ·AMBER ABREU-PEIXOTO, CSR No. 13546

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25























Community Development 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   5/15/2023 
Staff Report Number:  23-034-PC 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve three 

illuminated signs with bright colors (red) 
comprising more than 25 percent of the signage 
area. Two of the signs would be new wall-mounted 
signs featuring lettering greater than 24 inches in 
size, and one freestanding monument sign is also 
proposed. The signage is associated with the 
citizenM hotel located on the Meta West Campus, 
in the O (Office) zoning district and regulated by a 
conditional development permit 

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving the sign review for two new 
wall-mounted signs and one freestanding monument sign that would feature bright colors (red) comprising 
more than 25 percent of the signage area, at the citizenM hotel at 2 Meta Way. The wall-mounted signs 
would also include lettering greater than 24 inches in size. The draft resolution, including the 
recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
Each sign review permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider 
whether the signage is consistent with businesses and signage in the general area, the intent of the 
Design Guidelines for Signs (including the requested modifications), and the Third Amended and Restated 
Conditional Development Permit (CDP) for the Meta Campus Expansion Project.  

 
Background 
Site location 
The citizenM hotel, currently under construction, is located on the Meta West Campus, which upon 
buildout will include Meta Buildings 20, 21, 22, and 23, along with the hotel. The hotel’s relative location, 
now addressed as 2 Meta Way, is in the northwestern corner of the Meta West Campus (at the 
intersection of Constitution Drive/Meta Way and Chilco Street). More broadly, the Meta West Campus 
extends along the southern side of Bayfront Expressway, between Chilco Street to the west and south and 
Willow Road to the east. Bayfront Expressway and the former salt ponds that are part of a current 
restoration project are located to the north of the project site. A location map identifying the entire Meta 
West Campus is included as Attachment B. 
 
To the west of the hotel and across Chilco Street are commercial and industrial uses within the O (Office) 



Staff Report #: 23-034-PC 
Page 2 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

zoning district, including the Meta occupied buildings at 180-200 and 220 Jefferson Drive (known as the 
Chilco Campus). That site also includes the Meta Chilco Campus Transit Center, which provides shuttle 
services for Meta employees. Meta Building 22 and its parking structure are located to the east of the 
hotel, along with Meta Park to the southeast, which is a privately owned open space area available to the 
public. Directly to the south is Meta Building 23 and further south, across the Dumbarton Rail Corridor, are 
the Menlo Park Community Campus (currently under construction), Beechwood School, Menlo Park Fire 
Protection District Station 77, and single-family residences in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) 
zoning district. A detailed map showing these locations is included as Attachment C. 
 
Project history 
The following is a summary of the project timeline for the Meta West Campus. The project plans and the 
applicant’s project description letter are included as Exhibits A and B within Attachment A, respectively. 
 
• In March 2015, an application was submitted for the comprehensive redevelopment of the former TE 

Connectivity Campus (301-309 Constitution Drive), with two new office buildings and a new hotel, 
known as the Meta Campus Expansion Project. 

• In November 2016, the City Council approved the land use entitlements and certified the EIR for the 
Meta Campus Expansion Project. The approved project included two new office buildings (Buildings 21 
and 22) encompassing approximately 962,400 square feet and a 200-room limited-service hotel. 

• On November 7, 2017 the City Council approved the CDP and DA amendments for Building 22 and the 
associated modifications to the site plan and project timing.  

• On February 11, 2020 the City Council approved modifications to the existing CDP to make 
architectural modifications, increase the room count by 40 rooms, and reduce the required number of 
parking spaces for the hotel. 

• On April 11, 2022, the Planning Commission approved major modifications for interior and exterior 
changes to the previously approved hotel building and changes to the landscaping and on-site 
circulation.  

 
The April 11, 2022 Planning Commission staff report and minutes are included as Attachments D and E, 
respectively, and the CDP is included in Attachment F. 
 

Analysis 
Project description 
The applicant is proposing to install three illuminated signs at the project site, including two wall-mounted 
signs and one freestanding monument sign near the hotel, facing Meta Way and the hotel drop-off. Both 
wall-mounted signs would be positioned along the fifth floor of the hotel, with one on the northern 
elevation, facing Bayfront Expressway, and the other on the southern elevation, facing Chilco Street and 
Meta Way. The third sign would be a one-sided monument sign located along the southern elevation. 
 
Staff reviews a sign application for conformance with both the Zoning Ordinance regulations and the 
Design Guidelines for Signs. Additionally, because this project is located within the Meta West Campus, 
conformance with the CDP is also required. If the request meets the requirements in these documents, 
staff can approve the sign request administratively. If, however, the sign request would potentially be 
incompatible with the Design Guidelines for Signs, the review of the application is forwarded to the 



Staff Report #: 23-034-PC 
Page 3 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Planning Commission, as a general review of the sign for consistency with the Design Guidelines. In this 
case, the proposal would not be strictly consistent with three elements of the Design Guidelines. 
Specifically, the signs would not comply with the following items: 
• B.4, which recommends limiting letter sizes to between 18 and 24 inches, but identifies that larger 

lettering may be considered with larger setbacks from the street; 
• B.5, which recommends externally lit signs to internally illuminated signage; and 
• B.7, which limits the use of bright colors (yellow, orange, and red) in signage. 
 
The Design Guidelines for Signs is included as Attachment G. 
 
Design Guideline B.4 
Several characters on both of the identically sized wall-mounted signs would exceed 18 inches in height, 
which would not strictly comply with item B.4 of the Guidelines. This design guideline states that signage 
lettering between eight and 18 inches in height is generally acceptable. The “citizen” text in each proposed 
wall-mounted sign would be approximately 20.4 inches, and the “M” text/logo would be approximately 45.5 
inches in height. As stated earlier, both wall-mounted signs would be positioned along the fifth floor of the 
hotel, with one on the northern elevation, facing Bayfront Expressway, and the other on the southern 
elevation, facing Chilco Street and Meta Way. The monument sign is approximately 51 feet from the 
nearest right-of-way, Meta Way (a private access street within the West Campus), while the wall-mounted 
sign on the same façade of the hotel is approximately 56 feet from Meta Way. The wall-mounted sign on 
the façade facing Meta Way would be 156 feet from Chilco Street and approximately 1,350 feet from the 
nearest residences to the south of the Dumbarton Corridor. On the northern side of the hotel, the other 
wall-mounted sign is approximately 122 feet from Bayfront Expressway. Bayfront Expressway is a multi-
lane highway with a 50 mile per hour speed limit. The angle of this sign would be visible to motorists 
travelling eastbound on Bayfront Expressway. The angle of the sign would not be visible to the buildings 
located to the west of the site (which includes older industrial buildings and newer multi-family residential 
developments and office buildings). At these distances, the visibility of the three signs would be limited 
and the larger lettering would help ensure visibility of the signage from Bayfront Expressway and Chilco 
Street. Staff believes that the signs' location and position, notably their height, distance to the public right-
of-way, and greater distance to residential units justify the additional height in letter size. 
 
Design Guideline B.5 
All three of the signs would be internally illuminated, which does not strictly comply with Item B.5 of the 
Guidelines, recommending externally lit signs over internally lit signs. However, this guideline also 
recommends that when illumination must occur internally, the illumination of letters and graphics is 
preferred over the illumination of the background.  
 
Each sign would include illumination of individual letters and the “M” logo, and no background areas would 
be illuminated. The wall-mounted signs would contain individual letters that are separately lit. The 
monument sign would have a non-illuminated background, with individual letters being illuminated 
internally. Staff believes that the individual illumination of the lettering and logos for each sign is generally 
consistent with the Design Guidelines for Signs. 
 
Design Guideline B.7 



Staff Report #: 23-034-PC 
Page 4 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

The applicant is proposing new signs that are consistent with the citizenM hotel’s corporate colors and 
logo. The proposed signage would include white lettering for the “citizen” portion of the name and the letter 
“M” on each sign would be red. The “M” would be Pantone Matching System (PMS) color 199C, which is 
one of the bright colors identified in item B.7 of the Design Guidelines for Signs that is limited to 25 percent 
of the sign area. According to the applicant, the logo would be the same color as the red used on their 
hotels and marketing materials. The applicant’s project description letter (Attachment A, Exhibit B) 
explains their request in more detail.  The red logo on each wall-mounted sign would account for 
approximately 56 percent of the proposed sign area. The red logo on the monument sign would account 
for approximately 32 percent of the proposed sign area. The proposed sign is shown on the project plans 
(Exhibit A of Attachment A). 
 
Staff believes that the sign colors would be appropriately positioned and scaled on the building relative to 
the subject property, and would generally be harmonious in relation to the hotel design, as the color would 
match other architectural features on the building (e.g., the red exterior staircase on the west façade). In 
addition, the angles of the facades and the distances from the nearby properties would reduce potential 
impacts of the bright red color on the surrounding areas. Staff believes the proposed use of red in the 
signage is appropriate for this project. 
 

Next steps 
In addition to this sign review by the Planning Commission, the CDP (Item 15.2.1) identifies that the 
Planning commission is required to review the location of the proposed artwork. The applicant is currently 
conducting its outreach and selection process with input from a local artwork selection committee. The 
Planning Commission’s review will be limited to the artwork location on the hotel building and not the 
selection of the artist or the design. City staff is working with the applicant to bring the artwork location 
review to the Planning Commission in the near future.  
 

Correspondence  
As of the writing of this report, staff has not received any correspondence.  
 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the proposed signage would result in contemporary and attractive signage that would 
be adequately positioned and scaled to limit potential visual impacts from the size of the lettering and the 
amount of red incorporated into the signage. The proposed signage would be compatible and consistent 
with the hotel’s brand identity. While larger in font size, the internally illuminated lettering would feature 
individual lighting, with no backgrounds being lit. Specifically, the letters on the wall-mounted signs would 
be individually lit. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve of the sign review request. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building, and Public Works permit fees, based on the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

 



Staff Report #: 23-034-PC 
Page 5 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 
  
In addition, as part of the Facebook Expansion Project, in November 2016, the City Council approved an 
amended and restated conditional development permit for a 200-room limited-service hotel of 
approximately 174,800 square feet. Although it had not yet been designed, the Facebook Campus 
Expansion Project EIR analyzed the potential environmental impacts of a 200-room limited service hotel 
as part of the overall Campus Expansion Project.  A First Addendum to the EIR was approved in 2017 for 
changes to the Facebook Campus plan unrelated to the hotel project. 
 
In February 2020, the City Council approved the third amended and restated conditional development 
permit to increase the approved number of hotel rooms from 200 to 240 rooms, decrease the number of 
onsite parking spaces for the hotel use from 245 to 118 parking spaces, and incorporate a design review 
process for large scale exterior artwork. The environmental impacts of these changes were analyzed in a 
Second Addendum to the 2016 Facebook Campus Expansion Project EIR.  
 
The Second Addendum concluded that the revised hotel would not result in any new significant impacts or 
increases in the severity of previously identified significant impacts. As described in the Addendum, the 
revised hotel would maintain the same uses identified in the 2016 EIR, include less gross square footage, 
and decrease the total height of the hotel as compared to the hotel analyzed in the 2016 EIR. Further, the 
revised hotel would result in fewer trips than were analyzed in the 2016 EIR, and the trip cap for the 
approved project would continue to apply. With respect to air quality, the revised hotel construction would 
be substantially the same as or, because of modular construction, less intense than the construction 
activities (i.e., schedule, demolition, construction equipment) analyzed for the hotel in the 2016 EIR. 
 
Finally, the Second Addendum concluded that since certification of the EIR, there had been no substantial 
changes with respect to the circumstances under which the revised Hotel would be undertaken that would 
result in any new or substantially more severe significant impacts than the impacts identified in the 2016 
EIR. 
 
The proposed signage would not intensify or change the mix of uses analyzed in the Second Addendum, 
and the same number of parking spaces would be provided. As such, no impacts previously analyzed 
would be affected by the proposed signage. Therefore, none of the conditions described in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15162 have occurred and no changes are needed to the EIR or the Addenda in order 
to address the proposed modifications. No further CEQA review is required. 
 
The Certified EIR, First and Second Addenda to the Certified EIR are available on the city-maintained 
project page for the Campus Expansion Project (Attachment H). 

 
Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 



Staff Report #: 23-034-PC 
Page 6 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 
 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
 A. Project Plans 

B. Project Description Letter 
 C. Conditions of Approval  

B. Location Map 
C. Detailed Location Map  
D. Hyperlink: April 11, 2022 Planning Commission Staff Report 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-
meetings/agendas/20220411-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf 

E. Hyperlink: April 11, 2022 Planning Commission Minutes 
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-
meetings/minutes/20220411-planning-commission-minutes.pdf 

F. Hyperlink: Resolution 6540 – Third Amended and Restated Conditional Development Permit 
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/6540-third-
amend-cdp-300-309-constitution-and-1-facebook-for-hotel-citizenm_202012141212203349.pdf 

G. Hyperlink: City of Menlo Park Design Guidelines for Signs 
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/building/sign-and-
awning-design-guidelines_201402101531551631.pdf 

H. Hyperlink: Campus Expansion Project page 
https://menlopark.gov/Government/Departments/Community-Development/Projects/Under-
construction/Facebook-Campus-Expansion 

 
Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at the Community Development Department. 

 
Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

Report prepared by: 
Matt Pruter, Associate Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Kyle Perata, Planning Manager 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20220411-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/agendas/20220411-planning-commission-agenda-packet.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/minutes/20220411-planning-commission-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/agendas-and-minutes/planning-commission/2022-meetings/minutes/20220411-planning-commission-minutes.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/6540-third-amend-cdp-300-309-constitution-and-1-facebook-for-hotel-citizenm_202012141212203349.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/6540-third-amend-cdp-300-309-constitution-and-1-facebook-for-hotel-citizenm_202012141212203349.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/building/sign-and-awning-design-guidelines_201402101531551631.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/community-development/documents/building/sign-and-awning-design-guidelines_201402101531551631.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/Government/Departments/Community-Development/Projects/Under-construction/Facebook-Campus-Expansion
https://menlopark.gov/Government/Departments/Community-Development/Projects/Under-construction/Facebook-Campus-Expansion


1 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2023-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A SIGN REVIEW PERMIT FOR THREE 
ILLUMINATED SIGNS AT THE CITIZENM HOTEL AT 2 META WAY AND 
DETERMINING THAT THE PROJECT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE 
CERTIFIED EIR, FIRST ADDENDUM, AND SECOND ADDENDUM TO 
THE CERTIFIED EIR FOR THE FACEBOOK CAMPUS EXPANSION 
PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting sign 
review for three illuminated signs, which would feature bright colors (red) that would 
comprise more than 25 percent of the signage area, of which two of the signs would be 
new wall-mounted signs featuring lettering greater than 24 inches in size, and one sign 
would be a freestanding monument sign for a hotel currently under construction and 
regulated by a conditional development permit (collectively, the “Project”) from Amrita 
Meher (“Applicant”), on behalf of Ben McGhee (“Owner”), located at 2 Meta Way (APN 
055-260-300) (“Property”). The Project sign review request is depicted in and subject to
the development plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit
A and Exhibit B, respectively, and incorporated herein by this reference; and

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the O-H (Office, Hotel) zoning district. The O 
zoning district allows a mixture of land uses with the purposes of attracting professional 
office uses, allowing administrative and professional office uses and other services that 
support light industrial and research and development sites nearby, providing opportunities 
for quality employment and development of emerging technology, entrepreneurship, and 
innovation, and facilitating the creation of a thriving business environment with goods and 
services that support adjacent neighborhoods as well as the employment base; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with all applicable objective standards 
of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, is generally consistent with the design standards for signs 
with approval of the sign review permit application requesting certain modifications for the 
lettering size, internal illumination, and the use of the color red, is consistent with the City’s 
General Plan goals, policies, and programs, and is consistent with the Third Amended and 
Restated Conditional Development Permit; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed Project would incorporate lettering that would be more 
than 24 inches in height that would be setback from property lines and would not be 
generally visible from nearby residential uses; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed Project would incorporate signs that would be internally 
illuminated, but no background would be illuminated for either the wall-mounted signs or 
the monument sign; and  

WHEREAS, the Project would contain signage using the color red that would 
comprise more than 25 percent of the total sign area, but would be similar in color to other 

A1

ATTACHMENT A



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

2 

components of the hotel and would be located away from property lines and would not be 
generally visible from residential uses; and  

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized 
above, and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources 
Code Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require a determination regarding the Project’s compliance with CEQA; 
and  

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA 
Guidelines, and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, 
and approval of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant 
to CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Existing Facilities); and 

WHEREAS, the Project is also consistent with the Certified EIR, First and Second 
Addenda to the Certified EIR for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project; and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and 
held according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on May 15, 2023, 
the Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the 
record including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and 
plans, prior to taking action regarding the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and 
other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds 
the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Sign Review Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of a sign review permit to install three signs, for a hotel currently under 
construction, is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant to the City 
of Menlo Park Design Guidelines for Signs: 

1. Sign lettering larger than 24 inches may be considered for buildings with large 
setbacks from the street, as the project’s signage is setback from the public right-
of-way and aesthetically harmonious with the overall building design. 
 

A2



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

3 

2. Internally illuminated signs may be used, with illumination of letters and graphics 
preferred over the illumination of the background, which is the illumination format 
proposed. The proposed design would illuminate individual letters and logos. 
 

3. The three proposed signs all use Pantone 199C, which may be allowed through 
Planning Commission review and approval. The proposed amount of red is 
harmonious and compatible with the overall building design and scale, which is also 
consistent with the applicant’s branding and corporate identity. 

 
Section 3.  Sign Review Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Sign Review 
Permit No. PLN2023-00006, which is depicted in and subject to the development plans 
and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Sign Review Permit is conditioned 
in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference as Exhibit C.   
 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed 
and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
A. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. 
Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities). 
 
B. The Project is consistent with the Certified EIR, First and Second Addenda to 
the Certified EIR for the Facebook Campus Expansion Project. 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison of the City of 
Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission 
Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning 
Commission on May 15, 2023, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:   
 
 

A3



Resolution No. 2023-XX 

4 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said 
City on this 15th day of May, 2023. 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Corinna Sandmeier 
Principal Planner and Planning Commission Liaison 
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibits 

A. Project Plans  
B. Project Description Letter  
C. Conditions of Approval 

A4



 AREA PLAN

  P

PAGE 1

03/10/2023-
SIGNAGE USE PERMIT
MODIFICATION

North

1,160' BETWEEN SITE AND
NEAREST RESIDENTIAL

INDUSTRIAL FACILITIES

FACEBOOK CAMPUS

SAN FRANCISCO BAY

BUILDING SITE

C
H

IL
C

O
 S

T.

BAYFRONT EXPRESS WAY

PROPERTY LINE

2 Meta Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025

2 200104 0

EXHIBIT A

A5



COP RIG T 2020 AS ER ILL   USE OF T IS WOR  IN W OLE OR IN PART IS FOR IDDEN 
WIT OUT E PRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT  

ISSUE

PRO ECT NUM ER

AS ER ILL, P O  O  400,  RIC MOND, A   2321 -0400

NOT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

ARC ITECTURAL SITE PLAN

2 200104 0

t enM Menlo Park

FACEBOOK WAY

C
H

IL
C

O
 S

TR
EE

T

C
H

IL
C

O
 S

TR
EE

T

FACEBOOK WAY

L7 L7 L7 L7
R

R

R

R

PATIO

HOTEL

30' delivery truck

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PATIO

GENERATOR

RECEIVING

SCREENED 
TRANSFORMER

R
EQ

U
IR

ED
 S

ET
BA

C
K

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 

SE
TB

AC
K

TRANSMISSION 
TOWER

SCREENED 
EQUIPMENT

EVCS

AD
A 

1

AD
A 

2

EVCS -

ADA 1

EVCS -

VAN 

ADA 2

ADA 3

ADA 4

PG
&E

 E
AS

EM
EN

T

95
'-0

"

SCREEN EQUIPMENT

DELIVERIES

36

39

40

HOTEL ENTRANCE

HOTEL EXIT

DELIVERY/SERVIC
EXIT & ENTRANCE
W/ SECURITY GAT

FIRE LANE

20'-0"

20
'-0

"

46'-4"

1

22

23

26

27 35

4270

71 94

DROP OFF 
LOCATION

118
95

ADAVAN 1

EVCS
EVCS

EVCS

EVCS
EVCS

03/10/2023-
SIGNAGE USE PERMIT
MODIFICATION

North

8 160 64321 ARC ITECTURAL SITE PLAN PAGE 2

SIGN TYPE 101

SIGN TYPE 101

SIGN TYPE 102

12
1'

-1
0"

198'-0"

51
'-0

"

55
'-1

0"

90'-11"
217'-11"

SCALE 1/16" = 1'-0"

2 Meta Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025

A6



04
2

SIGN TYPE 102

SIGN TYPE 101 ON
SIDE OF FACADE, SEE
EXTERIOR RENDERING

SIGN TYPE 101, SEE
EXTERIOR RENDERING

PAGE 3

03/10/2023-
SIGNAGE USE PERMIT
MODIFICATION

2 Meta Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025

NOTE:
DRAWING IS FOR
REFERENCE ONLY AND ONLY
THE PROPOSED SIGNAGE IS
UNDER REVIEW.

A7



EXTERIOR RENDERING

PAGE 4

PROPOSED SIGN
TYPE 101

NOTE:
DRAWING IS FOR
REFERENCE ONLY AND ONLY
THE PROPOSED SIGNAGE IS
UNDER REVIEW.

03/10/2023-
SIGNAGE USE PERMIT
MODIFICATION

2 Meta Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025

2 200104 0

A8



PROPOSED SIGN
TYPE 101

PROPOSED SIGN
TYPE 102, BEYOND
COLUMN

PAGE 5

NOTE:
DRAWING IS FOR
REFERENCE ONLY AND ONLY
THE PROPOSED SIGNAGE IS
UNDER REVIEW.

03/10/2023-
SIGNAGE USE PERMIT
MODIFICATION

2 200104 0

2 Meta Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025

A9



Color Board Sheet

PAGE 6A10



BACKGROUND AREAS ARE NOT ILLUMINATED.
METAL PANEL WILL BE VISIBLE BEHIND THE
SIGNAGE, SEE COLOR ELEVATIONS ON PAGE 3

PAGE 7

A11



PAGE 8

A12



RECESSED ALUMINUM METAL PANEL
MECHANICALLY FASTENED FROM BEHIND.
NO VISIBLE HARDWARE FROM FRONT.

AREAS SHOWN IN BLACK ARE NOT ILLUMINATED

14
"

PAGE 9

A13



PAGE 10

A14



019082.0001 4893-4132-2584.6

citizenM Hotel – Menlo Park 
Sign Review 

Project Description 
Revised April 20, 2023 

The citizenM Hotel project located on the Facebook West Campus is an approximately 79,000 
square foot, 240-room hotel, with a 4,300 square foot restaurant. The hotel was originally approved 
by the City Council in connection with the Facebook Campus Expansion Project in November 
2016. In February 2020, the City Council approved a revised project that, among other things, 
increased the number of rooms to 240. The Planning Commission subsequently approved major 
modifications to the Third Amended and Restated Conditional Development Permit (the “CDP,” 
which covers Buildings 20, 21, 22 and 23, in addition to the hotel) in April 2022 for, among other 
things, interior and exterior changes to the landscaping and on-site circulation. The hotel is 
currently under construction and anticipating a substantial completion date in September 2023.  

The purpose of this application is to seek Sign Review of the two 36 square foot wall signs 
exhibiting citizenM’s corporate logo on the façade of the hotel, as well as an approximately 23 
square foot freestanding pole sign located at the entrance to the hotel. The wall signs are comprised 
of face lit channel letters and constructed of aluminum with white polycarbonate faces. The signs 
are internally illuminated with hanley red LEDs and powered by a remote system inside the 
building for ease of access. The pole sign is over 5 feet tall and constructed of aluminum with a 
translucent vinyl surface and illuminated letters.  

Each of the signs for which approval is being sought (including their location, color and size) were 
depicted in the renderings and elevation plans included in the approved plan set dated “received” 
March 16, 2022, which were presented to and approved by the Planning Commission in April 
2022. However, because the Planning Commission did not formally consider a request for approval 
under the City’s Sign Design Guidelines for the color red, Planning Commission approval of the 
color red is now being sought.  

The Proposed Signage is Within the Allocation Allowed under the CDP 

Section 4 of the CDP limits the maximum sign area for the entire Facebook Campus Expansion 
Project to 600 square feet (which may be exceeded through a use permit) and requires the City’s 
approval of the square footage, location, and materials through the Sign Permit process. The 
existing signage on the site totals  approximately 180 square feet, calculated as follows: 

• MPK 20: Two 7’ x 4’ signs = 60 sq. ft. (located along the Bayfront Expressway)
• MPK 21: One double-sided 7’ x 4’ sign = 60 sq. ft. (located along the Bayfront

Expressway)
• MPK 22/23: One 15’ x 4’ sign = 60 sq. ft. (located at the intersection of Chilco and

Constitution)

Total = 180 sq. ft. 

EXHIBIT B

A15



 

019082.0001 4893-4132-2584.6  

The proposed signage totals approximately 95 square feet, for a cumulative total of 275 square feet 
within the Facebook Campus Expansion Project, which is 325 square feet less than the maximum 
allowed under the CDP.  
 
The Proposed Signage Lettering Exceeds 24” and is Adequately Setback from Right-Of-Way  
 
In addition, citizenM’s corporate logo contains a prominent red “M” that takes up approximately 
35% of the total sign area and is approximately 45” tall for the wall signs and 28” for the pole sign. 
Under General Criteria B4 of City’s Sign Design Guidelines, lettering larger than 24 inches may 
be considered for buildings with large setbacks for the street.   
 
The wall sign facing the Bayfront Expressway is located approximately 180’ away from the right-
of-way, and the second wall sign is located approximately 150’ away from the right-of-way at 
Chilco Street. The “M” on the pole sign is also appropriately sized to identify the hotel for visitors 
and guests who arrive at the drop off location and is also set back significantly from the public 
right-of-way. The location and height of the lettering in these signs is consistent with the renderings 
and elevations previously included in the plan set approved by the Planning Commission in April 
2022, and is appropriately sized given the building setbacks described above.  
 
Request for Approval of Red Signs  
 
Finally, the “M” is in a shade of red that is identified in the Sign Design Guidelines as requiring 
“review and approval” by the Planning Commission. citizenM’s corporate logo was shown on 
various iterations of the plans throughout the entitlement process, and the location and colors of 
the proposed wall signs (i.e., citizensM’s red and white corporate logo which is prominently 
featured on all of citizenM’s hotels) were depicted on the plans that were reviewed and approved 
by Planning Commission on April 11, 2022. citizenM’s red logo was included in all marketing 
materials that were made available to stakeholders. Given the location of the hotel site and the 
previous reviews that have occurred which depicted the prominent color of the hotel’s signage and 
citizenM’s logo, we believe the proposed signage is compatible and harmonious with the 
surrounding area and consistent with the plans that were previously reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission.  
 
With respect to community outreach, citizenM conducted extensive outreach at the time of the 
original entitlement in 2020 and the subsequent modifications that were approved in 2022, which 
were processed without major objections to the hotel use or design. Because the City and 
community are familiar with the logo and since no changes have been made since the project was 
entitled, no further outreach related to this application is contemplated at this time.  

A16



2 Meta Way – Attachment A, Exhibit C 

PAGE: 1 of 1 

LOCATION: 2 Meta 
Way 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2023-00006 

APPLICANT: Amrita 
Meher 

OWNER: Ben McGhee 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The sign review shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Baskervill, consisting of 10 plan sheets, dated received April 20, 2023 and
approved by the Planning Commission on May 15, 2023, except as modified by the
conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.

b. The project shall adhere to all ordinances, plans, regulations, and specifications of the
City of Menlo Park and all applicable local, State, and Federal laws and regulations.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all West Bay Sanitary
District, Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies' regulations that are
directly applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

f. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against
the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or
annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development
Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a
development, variance, permit, or land use approval; provided, however, that the
applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall be
subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim, action,
or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s defense of
said claims, actions, or proceedings.

g. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations,
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application.

2. The sign review shall be subject to the following project-specific condition:

a. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall demonstrate compliance with all
applicable project-specific conditions of approval outlined in Sections 9 and 15 of the
Third Amended and Restated CDP and Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program
(MMRP) mitigation measures, subject to review and approval by the Planning, Building,
Engineering and Transportation Divisions.

EXHIBIT C

A17



ALM
ANOR

AVE

KELLY CT

NEW
BRIDGE

ST

HAM
ILTO

N
AVE

CARLTON AVE

SANDLEW
OOD

ST

C
O

N
S

TITU
TIO

N
D

R

HENDERSON AVE

JEFFER
SO

N
D

R

BIEBER AVE PLUMAS
AVE

LAUREL AVE

ALLEY

HOWARD ST

OAKLAND AVE
GINGER ST

HOLLYBURNE AVE

ALBER
NI ST

ALPINE AVE

HILLAVE

PIER
C

E
R

D

TERMINAL AVE

M
ODOC

AVE

HAMILTON AVE

IVY DR

CHILCO ST

HENDERSON AVE

ÄÅ84

C
ASEY

CT

ÄÅ84

ALLEY

O
A

KW
O

O
D

PL

HAZE

L
ST

A L L E Y

HAM
ILTO

N
CT

ALMANOR AVE

CHILCO ST

MENALTO AVE

WINDERMERE AVE

IVY DR

DEL NORTE AVE

RINGWOOD AVE

HAMILTON AVE

NEW
BRIDGE ST

(FACEBOOK WAY)

HOLLYBURNE AVE

IVY DR

SEVIER AVE

WESTMINSTER AVE

ROSEMARY ST

SEVIER AVE

TEHAMA AVE

MADERA AVE

(PRIVATE DR)

CARLTON AVE

HENDER
S

O
N

PL

N
EW

BR
ID

G
E ST

WINDERMERE AVE

SHERID
AN

D
R

F
R

ONTAGE RD

(HA

CKER WY)

MADERA AVE

POPLAR AVE

RALMAR AVE

IRIS
LN

SARATOGA AVE

MENLO OAKS DR

VAN
BU

R
EN

R
D

M
AR

K
ET

PL

BERKELEY AVE

BERKELEY AVE

DEL NORTE AVE

ALMANOR AVE

MENLO OAKS DR

HENDERSON AVE

WILLOW RD

WILLOW RD

SAGE ST

SONOMA AVE

SONOMA PL

O
'BRIEN

D
R

´CITY OF MENLO PARK
LOCATION MAP

FACEBOOK WEST CAMPUS HOTEL PROJECT 
DRAWN: TAS CHECKED: CDS DATE: 4/11/22 SCALE: 1" = 300' SHEET: 1

WEST
CAMPUS

HOTEL SITE

PROJECT SITE

ATTACHMENT B

B1

CITIZENM HOTEL SIGN REVIEW
MAP 5/15/23

B1
Scale: 1:4,000



1431

219

1127

230

1440
200

101

267

340320

1467

195

1470

371
301

411

199

203

1430

1450 1430

203

205

295
251

100

390

1451

50
331

209

235

260

235

200

1447

224

275 283

1457

1421

305

361

235

227

1120

236
170

260

201

243

193

1135 471
1131

259
215

394

431

255

150

220

1437

1460

110

1441 441451

1471

235

190

1461
1420

14501131

207

1

2

300

302

301

306
304

303

300

Dumbarton

Rail Corridor

CHILCO ST

TERMINAL AVE

JE
FF
ER
SO
N
 D
R

D
EL

N
O
RT
E

AV
E

PLU
M
AS AVE

H
ILL
AVE

ALM
AN
O
R

AVE

CONSTITUTION DR

STATEHIGHWAY84

STATE HIGHWAY 84

STATE HIGHWAY 84STATEHIGHWAY84

Legend
Project Location

Select Meta Campus Buildings

Single-Family Zoned Parcels

Attachment C - Detailed Location Map

0 230 460 690 920
Feet

Project Location

MPCC (Under
Construction)

Meta Chilco
Campus
Transit Center

Beechwood School

Building 23

Building 22

Meta Park

ATTACHMENT C



Community Development 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   5/15/2023 
Staff Report Number:  23-035-PC 
Study Session:  Review and provide feedback for a proposed 

three-story, 62-unit, multifamily affordable housing 
development located in the P-F (Public Facilities) 
zoning district at 795 Willow Road 

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission review and provide feedback for a proposed 62-unit, 
affordable multifamily housing development located at 795 Willow Road (Menlo Park Veterans Affairs 
Medical Center). The proposal would include 60 units affordable to very-low income households and two 
manager units that would not be income restricted.  
 
The project site is a federally owned and operated property, located within the City limits and zoned P-F 
(Public Facilities). The applicant is proposing the project in response to a Request for Proposal by the U.S. 
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), which is further described below. Development on federal sites is 
generally exempt from local land use regulations and the City does not have permitting authority for the 
proposed development. The applicant informed the City that the VA requires a letter from the City stating 
general compliance with local regulations in order to secure federal approval. The applicant has worked 
with City staff and designed the proposed project utilizing the R-4-S (High Density Residential, Special) 
zoning regulations.  
 
The purpose of this study session is to review the proposed residential development relative to the 
development regulations and design standards of the R-4-S zoning district. The study session provides 
the Planning Commission and members of the public an opportunity to give feedback on the proposal’s 
general compliance with the R-4-S design standards and guidelines. The Planning Commission's review is 
advisory and will be taken into consideration as part of the Community Development Director's 
determination of whether the proposal is in general compliance with the R-4-S development regulations 
and design standards.  

 
Policy Issues 
The proposed project is a 100-percent affordable housing project located on the Menlo Park Veterans 
Affairs Medical Center (VA Campus) in the P-F (Public Facilities) zoning district. The City does not have 
jurisdiction over federal properties and will not be issuing any permits for the affordable housing 
development project. The federal government is requesting that the applicant work with the City to obtain a 
letter of general compliance with zoning regulations in order to proceed with the development. Since the 
proposal is for a multi-family affordable housing development project, the proposed project is being 
reviewed for general compliance with the regulations in the R-4-S zoning district instead of the P-F zoning 
district.  



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 2 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

 
Although located on a federal site, the VA Campus was identified as an opportunity site for affordable 
housing and housing for veterans in the 2023-2031 Housing Element, adopted by the City Council on 
January 31, 2023 to help meet the City’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) of 2,946 units. The 
City’s 2023-2031 Housing Element plans for a variety of housing options, including special needs housing 
(e.g., housing for seniors, persons with disabilities, veterans, etc.), at all income levels, to meet the City’s 
RHNA of 2,946 housing units. This count also includes 740 very-low income units. The proposed 
development would help meet the City’s requirement and those in need of affordable housing in the 
community, specifically by providing 60 very-low units. In addition, Program H3.I encourages collaboration 
between the City and the Department of Veterans Affairs on homeless issues. 
 
In addition, the applicant has applied for funding for the proposed project through the City’s 2022 Notice of 
Funding Availability (NOFA). The applicant presented its proposal and its funding request to the Housing 
Commission at its meeting on May 3, 2023. The NOFA funding request is being considered independently 
of the request for general compliance with the R-4-S zoning district.  

 
Background 
Site location 
The subject property is located at 795 Willow Road (project site), at the Menlo Park VA Campus, in the 
Willows neighborhood. Considering Willow Road as an east-to-west street, the project site is located along 
the northern side of Willow Road, to the east of Coleman Avenue and the west of US 101. The project site 
is zoned P-F. Additionally, the project site within the VA Campus is located along Willow Road within the 
southwest corner of the site, at the intersection of Willow Road and O’Keefe Street, and is approximately 
2.1 acres, within the greater VA Campus. The general project location currently contains a parking lot that 
would be demolished to accommodate the proposed development. A location map is included as 
Attachment A. 
 
The VA Campus itself contains several buildings on site, including a hospital, administrative and office 
buildings, and a 60-unit affordable multifamily residential building, located at 605 Willow Road that was 
completed in 2015. Nearby properties along Willow Road are zoned C-2-A (Neighborhood Shopping, 
Restrictive) and C-4 (General Commercial) and generally contain a mix of retail and restaurant uses. 
Properties to the south of Willow Road are predominately zoned R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential). 
Properties to the west, along Coleman Avenue, are zoned R-3 (Apartment) and contain multifamily 
housing. Silicon Valley International School – Willows Campus is located to the south of the project site 
and across Willow Road, and is zoned P-F (Public Facilities). 
 

Request for proposal for affordable housing project 
The applicant, MidPen Housing Corporation (MidPen), provides a breakdown of their efforts to become the 
developer of the project site in their project description letter (Attachment B). In August 2019, the VA 
issued a request for proposals to develop housing on the VA Campus at 795 Willow Road. The VA chose 
MidPen as the developer. MidPen’s proposal would provide housing for very-low income veterans and 
their families (making 30-50 percent area median income, or “AMI”). MidPen is further targeting veterans 
and their families who were formerly homeless or at-risk of homelessness. 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 3 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

 

Analysis 
Project description 
The proposed project, as depicted in the plans in Attachment C, would be comprised of a 62-unit, 
multifamily housing development. Sixty of the 62 units would be affordable units. Table 1 provides a 
summary of the mix of unit types and the anticipated range of square footages. The project site would also 
provide a variety of common open spaces and indoor spaces, which would include a multi-purpose 
community room and kitchen, laundry facilities on each floor, a resident bicycle storage room, staff offices, 
a community garden, and other open areas. The proposed development would result in an increase of 60 
affordable dwelling units to the City’s housing stock, and the two additional units would be occupied by on-
site managers and would not be income restricted. The 60 affordable units would be available for very-low 
income residents, making between 30 and 50 percent AMI.  
 

Table 1: Unit type summary 

Number of bedrooms Number of units Square footage range (per unit) 

One bedroom 55* 525-651 square feet 

Two bedrooms 5* 825-900 square feet 

Three bedrooms 2 978 square feet 

Total 62 525-978 square feet 

* One of the one-bedroom units is a manager’s unit. 
** One of the two-bedroom units is a manager’s unit. 
 
Additional development standard details are available in the R-4-S Compliance Review Checklist 
(Attachment D). As discussed in more detail below, the project is generally compliant with the R-4-S 
development standards. 
 
Site layout 
The project site is located along the northern side of Willow Road, at the intersection of Willow Road and 
O’Keefe Street. The project site dimensions would be long and slightly curvilinear relative to the curvature 
of Willow Road.  The proposed residential building would be three stories tall and would be designed in an 
L shape, with the longer mass generally positioned along the Willow Road frontage and the shorter side of 
the L shape angled inward, perpendicular to Willow Road. The front-facing massing would also feature 
some breaks at the front left and front right corners, with portions of the building mass extending toward 
Willow Road. All units would be accessed from interior hallways, with several entries around the perimeter 
of the building. Table 2 provides setbacks for the proposal, in relation to the R-4-S zoning requirements. 
 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 4 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Table 2: Required yards and setbacks 

Minimum yards Proposed project development Zoning Ordinance requirement 
(R-4-S) 

Front 10.7 ft. 10 ft. 

Left side 5.1 ft. 
10 ft., except may be reduced to 5 

ft. abutting a private access 
easement 

Right side 294.7 ft. 
10 ft., except may be reduced to 5 

ft. abutting a private access 
easement 

Rear 6.1 ft. 10 ft. 

 
The rear and left side setbacks are generally less than the required setbacks in the R-4-S zoning district, 
and the applicant states in their project description letter that the building position was determined based 
on proximity to existing water storage tanks and the goal of preserving the maximum number of existing 
trees. The three-story building would be approximately 38.5 feet tall, inclusive of stair and elevator 
overruns. In addition, the site would be enclosed in perimeter fencing, which would be six feet in height. At 
this time the applicant has not provided details on the potential materials for the fencing.   
 
Vehicular and bicycle access would be provided via an access road to the rear of the building, which 
would allow for a connection to Willow Road at the intersection of Willow Road and Durham Street/VA 
Hospital Road. Although positioned at an angle relative to the curved portion of Willow Road, a large open 
space area, including a dog run and community garden, would be located between the proposed 
residential building and Willow Road. The proposed site layout includes an entry court and outdoor space 
between the surface parking and the proposed building. The open space areas, along with a number of 
existing and proposed trees, would soften and transition the scale of the three-story residential building to 
Willow Road and the mostly one- to two-story buildings across Willow Road.  
 
Design and materials 
The applicant states that the proposed building is intended to fit the style and context of the greater VA 
Campus, which generally contains a Mediterranean architectural style. The applicant describes the design 
of the proposed building as a generally contemporary design style with Mediterranean accents, colors, and 
materials. The proposed building includes contemporary design elements, with forms and colors based on 
existing buildings at the VA Campus. The proposed project would include warm colors, simple and 
contemporary building volumes, and open courtyard spaces within more contemporary volumes. 
 
The three-story massing along Willow Road would be broken up by both the L shape, which angles toward 
the rear along the right side of the building, as well as the incorporation of some front-facing two-story 
portions of the building. The design would not completely comply with the minor and major modulation 
requirements, because the building façade along the Willow Road elevation does not consistently provide 
two-foot-deep by five-foot-wide recesses every 35 feet (minor modulations) or six-foot-deep by 20-foot-
wide recesses every 75 feet (minor modulation) The applicant has stated in their project description letter 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 5 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

that the proposed building is being designed to reflect the pattern seen on the VA Campus, with a primary 
structure shaping a main courtyard. 
 
The primary façade material would be smooth stucco, with white and beige as the predominant colors for 
much of the facades. However, there would be a reddish (sierra redwood) accent color applied to the 
stucco where stepped down portions of the building or building breaks would occur. Colors and materials 
are proposed to be used throughout the façade to demonstrate vertical or horizontal proportion and to 
generally achieve patterns of visual contrast. To discourage graffiti, the applicant is proposing an anti-
graffiti coating, which is easier for cleaning and concealing vandalism. The applicant explains in their 
project description letter that the use of smooth stucco as the dominant material is intended to be 
consistent with other buildings on the VA Campus. The amount of stucco on the building façades would be 
below the maximum allowable (80 percent), with 77 percent of the façades containing stucco. 
 
Fiber cement panels are proposed between some alternating sets of windows, namely above the second 
floor window and below the corresponding third floor window. Near the front right corner along the first 
floor, timber cladding panels are also proposed for an accent material and color. Along the right elevation, 
a wood trellis wraps around the façade as part of a larger entryway to the right side of the building. 
Roofing is proposed to be asphalt shingle, while awnings over some entryways would be comprised of 
standing seam metal. The proposed windows would be vinyl framed, and would contain simulated true 
divided lights, with interior and exterior grids and a spacer bar between the panes. Windows would be 
recessed from the face of the stucco wall or siding by two inches, which is consistent with the R-4-S 
standards. 
 

Parking and circulation 
Vehicular access to the project site and the site parking lot would be via the Durham Street/Hospital Plaza 
Road, which is the main entrance to the VA Campus. The majority of the site’s internal circulation and 
parking would be located to the east of the proposed building (between the proposed building and Hospital 
Plaza Road). The parking for the residential building would be enclosed with sliding gates at each 
vehicular access point. There would also be five parking spaces located behind the rear of the building, 
and these would not be restricted with any fencing. All parking would be a short distance from the 
intersection of Willow Road and Durham Street/Hospital Plaza Road. 
 
The proposal includes a total of 55 parking spaces, with 50 standard and five accessible spaces, as 
shown in Table 3. Pedestrian access would be provided through the main entrance gate located on Willow 
Road, near the intersection of Willow Road and O’Keefe Street. Eight short-term bicycle parking spaces 
are proposed to be located alongside the main parking lot, and 64 long-term bicycle parking spaces would 
be located within a secured room on the first floor of the main building, toward the rear, for a total of 72 
spaces.  
  



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 6 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

 
Table 3: Proposed parking 

Parking category Proposed project* R-4-S regulation 

One-bedroom units 55 spaces 1 space per unit (55 spaces) 

Two-bedroom units 0 spaces 1.5 spaces per unit (3 spaces) 

Three-bedroom units 0 spaces 1.5 spaces per unit (8 spaces) 

Total 55 spaces 66 spaces 

EV parking 10 EV spaces 7 EV spaces** 

* The applicant has not specified which types of units would be allocated parking. 
** The EV parking requirement is 10 percent for 100 percent affordable housing development projects.  
 
All parking spaces are proposed to be uncovered and located at-grade in the parking lot. As stated earlier, 
a total of 55 parking spaces are proposed, which would be less that the R-4-S parking requirement of 66 
spaces. The applicant has explained in their project description letter that the VA Campus staff have 
worked with the applicant to determine that 55 total parking spaces would adequately serve the residents 
and their guests.  This is based on the applicant’s assessment of the existing 605 Willow Road 
development, which has a similar count of 60 units and contains 35 parking spaces. In this case, more 
family-sized units are anticipated with the proposed project, and so the applicant has proposed 20 
additional spaces that would better accommodate families. 
 

Open space and landscaping 
Open space requirements would be generally met through a series of shared open space areas. The site 
layout includes two primary common open spaces, with one area located along the right side and the other 
in front of the building (between the proposed building and Willow Road). The total common open space 
would be approximately 6,140 square feet. 
 
Landscaping, including sidewalks and similar paving, accounts for approximately 43 percent of the site 
area, which would exceed the minimum R-4-S requirement of 25 percent. Most of the proposed 
landscaped area would be located around the perimeter of the proposed building, but the large community 
open space areas along the right side and front of the building and to the left of the resident parking 
spaces would provide the majority of the open space on site. 
 
The proposed project would also involve a variety of plantings of varying depth and size to discourage 
trespassing. The exact location, size, and species of the plantings and street trees would be determined 
during the construction process. 
 
As stated earlier, a community garden and open space area are proposed between the building and 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 7 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Willow Road. The community garden also includes a garden shed. The applicant has also proposed a 
wooden trellis structure in the open space area adjacent to the community garden. These features would 
all be enclosed by perimeter fencing. The increased setback of the proposed residential building from 
Willow Road, with the open space and garden areas, would soften the mostly three-story massing of the 
proposed building. 
 
Trees and landscaping 
The applicant has submitted an arborist report (Attachment E), detailing the species, size, and conditions 
of the nearby heritage and non-heritage trees. The report discusses the impacts of the proposed 
improvements and provides recommendations for tree maintenance and protection. As part of the project 
review process, the arborist report was reviewed by the City Arborist. However, because this project is 
located on a federal site, the City’s heritage tree removal permitting and replanting requirements are not 
applicable to the proposed tree removals, apart from the one street tree identified within the City’s public 
right-of-way. Table 4 below summarizes the project trees by species, heritage and non-heritage status, 
and whether the trees are proposed to be preserved or removed.  
 

Table 4: Project site tree summary 

Species Total trees 
assessed* Heritage trees Non-heritage 

trees 
Heritage tree 

removals 
Non-heritage 
tree removals 

Coast redwood 33 33 0 6 0 

Coast live oak 28 24 4 3 0 

Deodar cedar 6 6 0 0 0 
Italian stone 

pine 9 9 0 5 0 

California 
buckeye 1 1 0 0 0 

Italian cypress 9 4 5 2 1 

Brazilian pepper 3 2 1 0 0 

Trident maple 4 0 4 0 0 
Peruvian 
pepper 1 0 1 0 0 

Canary Island 
date palm 8 8 0 6 0 

Pittosporum 21 10 11 4 4 

Holly 1 0 1 0 0 

Cypress 1 1 0 0 0 

Total Trees 125 98 27 26 5 

* Of these 125 total trees assessed, only one is located in the City public right-of-way, a coast live oak tree along Willow Road. 
 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 8 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

The proposed landscape plan shows new street trees, in addition to several existing heritage trees, along 
Willow Road, as well as enhanced landscaping surrounding the rear of the building. As the applicant has 
stated in their R-4-S checklist, due to an effort to maximize sunlight for the community garden, and the 
unique locational challenges earlier referred to in placing the building relative to required setbacks, the 
proposed project generally would not meet the following R-4-S design standards: 
 
• 1(1a): to provide at least one 15-gallon tree per 20 feet of property frontage along a public right-of-way.  
• 1(1c): to provide at least one 15-gallon tree per 40 feet of property frontage not along a public right-of-

way, respectively 
 
A total of 60 new trees are proposed, with most located along the front and right side of the building, within 
the parking lot, and between the parking lot and Willow Road. However, the tree placements would not 
match the specific patterns per every 20 or 40 linear feet consistently, which is the R-4-S requirement for 
property lines fronting public rights-of way (e.g., Willow Road) and all other property lines, respectively. 
Many of the trees proposed for the site would be planted more within the interior of the property, between 
the building and the parking lot, and also in the vicinity of the central courtyard, which would additionally 
provide screening and shade for the site. Given the site constraints and the applicant’s proposed site 
planting plan, staff believes that although the proposed planting plan does not meet the specific R-4-S 
requirements, when calculating the other existing and proposed trees between the building and Willow 
Road, and the trees located on other, more interior areas of the lot, the proposed project would meet the 
intent of the requirements generally. 
 
To protect the heritage and non-heritage trees on site, the arborist report has identified such measures as 
tree protection fencing, monthly monitoring reports, informing the contract arborist if any utility work occurs 
within tree protection zones, and installing compaction mitigation (wood chips). 
 

Correspondence  
The applicant states in their project description letter that they have completed a variety of outreach 
efforts, including one-on-one meetings and a virtual community meeting. The applicant indicates that they 
have received some feedback regarding a request to preserve as many trees as possible on site, and 
questions about potential increases in the number of residential units, parking ratio decreases, and 
whether residents would receive supportive services.  
 
As of the writing of this report, staff has not received any direct correspondence on the proposed project. 
 

Conclusion and next steps 
Based on staff’s initial review of the plans, the proposed development generally complies with the R-4-S 
requirements. Although the proposed development would not strictly comply with the requirements for 
setbacks, parking, modulation, and frontage landscaping (e.g. trees), staff believes that the proposed 
project would generally comply with the intent and spirit of the R-4-S zoning district. As stated previously, 
the building position has been limited due to existing site constraints. While the parking would be less than 
the required amount, the applicant has completed site research with a comparable project on site that 
documents that 55 parking spaces would sufficiently serve the parking needs for residents, guests, and 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 9 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

staff. Lastly, although the proposed planting plan does not meet the specific R-4-S requirements for 
frontage planting frequency, when factoring in all existing and proposed trees between the building and 
Willow Road, and the trees located on other, more interior areas of the lot, staff believes the proposed 
project would meet the intent of the requirements generally. The proposed project, as a pipeline project, 
would implement the 2023-2031 Housing Element. 
 
Following the Planning Commission’s study session on the proposed development, the Community 
Development Director and the applicant will take the comments into consideration and potentially make 
changes, if appropriate. Following a final review of an updated and coordinated plan set, the Community 
Development Director will consider whether to issue a letter of general compliance with the R-4-S zoning 
district. This letter would identify that the project is generally in compliance with the R-4-S zoning district 
and would enable MidPen to continue to compete for State funding for the proposed project. As stated 
previously, the applicant has separately applied for funding for the proposed project through the City’s 
NOFA process. That request will be reviewed independently and a determination of general compliance 
with the R-4-S zoning district does not commit the City to providing funding for the proposed project. 
 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay all applicable Planning, Building, and Public Works permit fees, 
based on the City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the 
project plans for the study session and the preparation of the R-4-S compliance review letter. 

 
Environmental Review 
The project is not subject to CEQA, as it is located on a federal site and sponsored by the federal 
government in partnership with MidPen Housing. The proposed project is subject to the National 
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). A Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) was prepared for the 
proposed project (Attachment F). 
 
Public Notice 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 
 

Attachments 
A. Location Map 
B. Project Description Letter 
C. Project Plans 
D. R-4-S Compliance Review Checklist 
E. Arborist Report 
F. Finding of No Significant Impact 
 



Staff Report #: 23-035-PC 
Page 10 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov 

Attached are reduced versions of maps and diagrams submitted by the applicants. The accuracy of the 
information in these drawings is the responsibility of the applicants, and verification of the accuracy by City 
Staff is not always possible. The original full-scale maps, drawings, and exhibits are available for public 
viewing at the Community Development Department. 

 
Exhibits to Be Provided at Meeting 
None 

 

Report prepared by: 
Matt Pruter, Associate Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Kyle Perata, Planning Manager 



7
88

715

640

80

808

715

565

9

755

6

842

503

640

850

810

640

728

888

7

727

965

600

515
842

951

6

912

770
12 12

626

8

515

2

600

416

710

765

516

725

600

4

4

11
10

700

919

1008

842

840

11

666

75

758

733

762

810

911

703

920

768

6

662

880

508
710

529

915

626

1001

622

2
535

407

815

420

824

6

590

570

22

11

6

415

750

766

770

840

5978

533
600

100
3

806
810

7

900

59995

903

22

806

460

750

415

416
906

720

10

778

765

2

10

811

886

795

507

403

3

810

2

711

423

891

6

600

901

512

531

700

734

5

12
19

415

1001

16

595
565

815

632

730

624

855

740

4

782

600

890

710

666

407

719

7
720

620

718

930

1

3

902

7

754

782

6

840

12

605

785

6604

404

19

915

8

940

776

732

120

1008

470

775

960

1005
1001

825

11

812

680

6

690

515

950

1014

800

770

928

911

666

760

1004807

65

980

888

COLEMAN AVE

O'KEEFE ST

CHESTER ST

US HIGHWAY 101

N
P
ER
IM
ET
ER

R
D

HOSPITAL
PL

W
AR
EH
O
US
E
RD

AR
N
O
LD
 W
AY

RE
D
W
O
O
D
 A
VE

W
IL
LO
W
RD

DURHAMST

SH
O
PP
E
LN

CE
N
TR
AL

RIORDAN PL

RE
SI
DE
NT

LN

HOSPITALPL

SE
VI
ER

AV
E

USHIGHWAY101

CEN
TR
AL

BAY RD

M
AD
ER
A

AV
E

HOSPITALPL

HOSPITAL
PL

PARK LN

HERITAG
E
PL

US

H
IG
H
W
AY

101

PLAZA LN

SA
N
TA
M
O
N
IC
A

AV
E

VAN
BUREN

R
D

H
O
SPITA

L

PL

US HIGHWAY 101

CO
LE
M
AN

PL

S PERIMETER RD

AR
N
O
LD
 W
AY

RE
CR
EA
TI
O
N
AV
E

HOSPITALPL

O
AK
 A
VE

US
HIGH

W
AY

101

W
 P
ER
IM
ET
ER
 R
D

CITY OF MENLO PARK
LOCATION MAP
795 WILLOW ROAD

Scale: 1:4,000     Drawn By: MAP     Checked By: CDS      Date: 5/15/2023

Project Location

VA Campus

ATTACHMENT A

A1



VA Menlo Park| 795 Willow Road, Menlo Park CA 94025 

Planning Commission Re-Submittal 

Project Description 
Updated 5/9/23 

ATTACHMENT B

B1



Purpose of the Proposal 

MidPen is submitting an application for the VA Menlo Park project so that the Menlo Park 
Planning Commission has an opportunity to review this project as a Study Session item before 
the end of 2022. MidPen is seeking to obtain a R-4-S Compliance Determination Letter from the 
City’s Community Development Director. This letter/verification are needed to demonstrate 
proof of entitlement for MidPen’s upcoming State SuperNOFA and Tax Credit applications. 
Unlike past years, proof of entitlement (i.e. local approvals) is now a threshold requirement of 
the State SuperNOFA application, which is expected to be due late June 2023.  

Background 

The United States Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), under its Enhanced-Use Leasing (EUL) 
authority, issued a competitive Request for Proposals (RFQ) in August 2019, seeking 
competitive responses from qualified organizations to develop housing on the VA Palo Alto 
Healthcare System in Menlo Park at 795 Willow Road, Menlo Park, CA. MidPen Housing 
Corporation was chosen as the developer of choice and is working to develop this site targeting 
Veterans and their families who formerly homeless or at-risk of homelessness with income 
limits ranging from 30% to 50% of Area Median Income (AMI). 

Existing and proposed uses 

The proposed project site is currently being used as an overflow parking lot for employees of 
VA Palo Alto Healthcare Systems Campus, Menlo Park. The proposed use for the area would be 
the building of the 62-unit affordable housing targeting Veterans and their families who are at-
risk of homelessness or formerly homeless  

Site Boundary  

The project site is located directly on the VA’s land and the EUL site boundary was defined by 
the VA before MidPen was selected as the preferred developer of the site. The VA-defined site 
boundary was influenced by various components and site constraints. The private road, west of 
the project site, was defined by the VA and could not be adjusted. Additionally, the storage 
tanks, located southwest of the site boundary, require a 50-foot clearance. This clearance 
requirement is mandated by the VA, and it means that no buildings or parking can be built 
within 50 feet of the storage tanks. The 6-foot perimeter fence, required by the VA, follows the 
outline of the site boundary. 

Basis for site layout 

The basis for the site layout was to utilize underused space within the VA Palo Alto Healthcare 
Systems Campus, Menlo Park. The EUL that was released by the department of Veterans Affairs 
sectioned a space on the campus they deemed would be sufficient for the future development 
along with their study of the need for housing from at-risk/homeless Veterans and their 
families. The site layout is informed by both VA and City requirements and constraints. For 

B2



example, the building layout was influenced by our desire to preserve as many existing trees as 
possible on the site. We proposed courtyards, open space, and community gardens as 
mechanisms to preserve trees.  

 

 

Scope of Work 

The proposed property will be a 100% permanent supportive housing community with 62 
homes. The unit mix consists of 54 one-bedroom units, 4 two-bedroom units, 2 three-bedroom 
units, 1 one-bedroom manager’s unit, and 1 two-bedroom manager’s units. The proposed 
building will be 3-stories with a 2-story stepdown. Staff plans to provide approximately 0.96 
parking spaces per unit for a total of 55 residential parking spaces. The project includes 16,421 
square feet of on-site residential amenities. Indoor residential amenities include a multi-
purpose community room and kitchen, computer station, laundry facilities on each floor, 
residential bicycle storage, and offices for MidPen’s property management and resident 
services teams, as well as VA case managers. Outdoor amenities include residential surface 
parking, a community garden, social and meditative gathering spaces, and other open areas for 
residents to enjoy. This new residence is expected to achieve LEED Silver status. 

Architectural style, materials, colors, and construction methods  

Given the proposed project’s unique location on the VA Palo Alto Healthcare campus and along 
Willow Road, the proposed development is designed to fit the style and context of the VA 
Campus, while also fitting into the neighborhood fabric of Willow Road. The Architectural style 
of this project is what we are calling “Menlo Mediterranean”, which is a compilation of 
traditional warm adobe colors, represented throughout the VA campus, with simple 
contemporary volumes. This 3-story building incorporates 2-story step downs that provide 
stylistic variation and a seamless transition to the surrounding residential neighborhood further 
down Willow Road. The building is a 3-story wood framed structure built on a slab-on-grade. 

Given the site's proximity to Willow Road with frequent traffic coming and going in both 
directions, a strong emphasis has been given to development’s outdoor residential landscaping. 
The design intent of the site landscaping is to provide healing spaces for veteran households by 
creating a visual and auditory buffer between the proposed building and Willow Road. The site 
landscaping incorporates a community garden, walking paths for residents, a dog run, and 
flexible open space. The site hosts several mature oak and redwood trees, and many trees are 
retained to provide a garden like landscape for the residents. Residents of this community and 
of Menlo Park alike will benefit from this landscaped area. The large flat roof provides space for 
mechanical equipment and seeks to generate as much renewable photovoltaic energy as 
possible. Systems will be all electric, including space heating & cooling and domestic hot water 
heating. 

B3



Environmental Review  

The Veterans Affairs obtained a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) letter on September 2, 
2022, which will serve as the project’s NEPA approval. Additionally, the project was identified in 
the City of Menlo Park’s 2023-2031 Housing Element and has obtained CEQA clearance through 
the City’s Subsequent Environmental Impact Report. 

Outreach to neighboring properties 

Beginning of March 2022, Staff began reaching out to community stakeholders to have one-on-
one conversations. The purpose of this outreach was to provide information about the project 
and to understand the issues, concerns, and desires of neighbors and community leaders. We 
reached out to a number of stakeholders, including, but not limited to Menlo Together, 
Councilmembers Drew Combs and Jen Wolosin, and City of Menlo Park staff.   Following these 
one-on-one stakeholder meetings MidPen hosted a virtual public community meeting on July 
26, 2022. Invitations for the event were sent to all addresses within a 0.25-mile radius of the 
project site. The purpose of this community meeting was to introduce the VA and MidPen team 
(including the development, property management, and resident services teams), to share 
more information about the proposed project with attendees, and to answer questions. Some 
of the feedback that we received from community stakeholders included preserving as many 
trees as possible on the site, considering a density increase, and questions about the parking 
ratio and whether residents would receive supportive services.  

The marketing materials used to advertise the virtual community meeting and the Community 
Outreach Plan are available upon request.  

Site Control   

The US Department of Veteran’s Affairs (the 'VA') currently owns the project site. The proposed 
project Owner is a to-be-formed limited partnership with an affiliate of MidPen Housing 
Corporation (the applicant) serving as the general partner. The to-be-formed limited 
partnership will have a leasehold interest in the land and fee interest in the improvements. This 
leasehold interest will be established through an Enhanced Use Lease Agreement with the VA. 
This lease agreement will be signed after the project receives a tax credit award and before the 
project closes its construction financing, which is estimated to take place before the end of 
2024 based on the current financing schedule.  

R-4-S Devotions 

Please see the attached R-4-S project checklist. 

 

 

B4



Utility Type Service Provider Notes
Sewer  West Bay Sanitary District  Connecting to VA utilities 
Water  Menlo Park Municipal Water  Connecting to City utilities 
Storm  City of Menlo Park  Connecting to City utilities 
Electric PG&E 
Garbage Recology
Emergency ‐ Fire  Menlo Fire Department We confirmed with Menlo Fire that they will serve this project site.

Emergency ‐ Police TBD
VA is negotiating a roles/responsiblities MOU between the VA, Menlo Park Police 
Department, and VA Campus Police 

2. General Comments: Please provide any additional LEED information, including an updated scorecard, if this information is available.

B5



|

WILLOW ROAD - STREET VIEW APPROACHING FROM NORTH 

C1

ATTACHMENT C



OWNER TEAM

US Dept of Veterans Affairs
Office of Asset Enterprise Management
Contact: 
Email: DeCarol.Smith@va.gov 
Phone: 202.632.7093

OWNER TEAM

3801 Miranda Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Contact: 
Email: joanna.fong@va.gov 
Phone: 650.444.7531

DEVELOPER PARTNER

303 Vintage Park Dr
Suite 250
Foster City, CA - 94404
www.midpen-housing.org
Contact: 
Email: cynthia.luzod@midpen-housing.org
Phone: 510.671.1782

ARCHITECT

333 Bryant St, Suite 300
San Francisco, CA 94107
Contact: 
Email: rick@vmwp.com
Phone: 415.974.5352 x203

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 Alfred Nobel Drive
Hercules, CA - 94547
www.lukassociates.com
Contact: 
Email: chris@lukassociates.com
Phone: 510.829.2035

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

39675 Cedar Blvd Suite 395C
Newark, CA - 94650
Contact: 
Email: jenright@elementse.com
Phone: 415.730.9890

MEP ENGINEER

21705 Highway 99
Lynwood, WA - 98036
Contact: 
Email: mbrooks@
emeraldcityeng.com
Phone: 425.741.1200

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

2 Theater Square
Orinda, CA - 94563
www.jett.land
Contact: 
Email: liaf@jett.land
Phone: 925.254.5422 x 105
M: 510.923.0679

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

680 Knox Street Suite 150
Los Angeles, CA - 90502
Contact: 
Email: gswitzer@ptrenergy.com
Phone: 310.862.2399

ARBORIST

211 Hope Street
Mountain View, CA - 94039
Contact: 
Email: katherine@aacarbor.com
Phone: 408.201.9607

FIRE SPRINKLER

188 Cirby Way
Roseville, CA - 95678
Contact: 
Email: Travis.Hulbert@wsfp.us
Phone: 510.363.6135

VETERANS
AFFAIRS 

HOSPITAL

HOSPITAL WAY

WILLOW
HOUSING

W
ILL

OW
 R

OAD

PROJECT SITE

SUPERMARKET

SCHOOL

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.01

PROJECT
DIRECTORY/PROJECT

INFO

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2
3 05/03/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 3

Menlo Park Veterans Housing is a 62 unit residential complex on 2.137 acres (29 du/ac) for veterans, including 
formerly homeless vets.  The project serves both individuals and families with fifty-four 1-bedroom units, four 2-
bedrooms apartments, and two 3-bedroom units.  Two on-site building managers will live in the complex on the top 
floor.  The project is located on an enhanced use lease site at the Menlo Park Veterans Administration campus, with 
easy access to VA medical and support staff.  The site has access to services, shops, grocery, restaurants, 
schools.  At the ground floor a double height lobby welcomes residents and visitors alike and is next to community 
spaces like a large community room & kitchen, VA services for case management meetings, and MidPen resident 
services/activities. Each floor has a trash room for waste/recycling/compost disposal, and a shared laundry facility.  

This new residence is expected to achieve LEED Gold status.  The building is a 3-story wood framed structure built 
on a slab-on-grade.  To reduce construction cost, the building massing is simple, with exterior cement plaster 
materials, fiber cement panel accents and recessed vinyl windows. The warm, welcoming color palette takes its 
design cues from the historic Spanish style architecture of the original Menlo Park VA hospital building.  White, 
cream and redwood accent paint colors are featured by gutters, downspouts and other details.  Simple sheds 
capped with single pitched roofs provide some visual interest, but the largely flat roof provides space for mechanical 
equipment and seeks to generate as much renewable photovoltaic energy as possible.  Systems will be all electric, 
including space heating & cooling and domestic hot water heating. 

Local transportation options include easy access to Highway 101, several SamTrans bus lines, and the Menlo Park 
and Palo Alto Caltrain stations are each about 2 miles away.  Willow Road is also bikeable and pedestrian friendly.  
There is an outdoor area next to the bike room with a fixit stand.  On site bicycle parking is at the lower level, near 
the new private road on the VA campus.  There is some resident parking located at the surface lot adjacent to the 
structure, and five staff parking spaces in the rear.

One feature of this project is the strong integration of landscape with the building.  The site hosts several mature 
oak and redwood trees, and many trees are retained to provide a garden like landscape for the residents.  There 
are five outdoor spaces for the residents.  The primary outdoor areas are adjacent to the community spaces at the 
first floor:  a plaza framed by six ornamental trees and a patio for outdoor gathering just outside the community 
room.  Outside of the laundry room is a large community garden next to a dog run which extends along Willow 
Road.  A meditation circle under some Oak trees connects the plaza to Willow Road.  There is a meandering 
walking path next to the parking lot, and a small contemplative courtyard in the rear, near the staff parking and 
utilities area.

0' 50' 200'100'
AREA PLAN

GENERAL
A0.00 COVER SHEET
A0.01 PROJECT DIRECTORY/PROJECT INFO
A0.07 PROJECT RENDERINGS
A0.08 LEED CHECKLIST
A0.11 PLANNING DIAGRAMS
A0.12 PLANNING DIAGRAMS
A0.13 FIRE DEPT DIAGRAM
A0.14 ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE STUDY
A0.20 CODE ANALYSIS
A0.30 EXITING DIAGRAM
ARCHITECTURE
A1.00 SITE PLAN CONTEXT
A1.10 EXISTING SITE PLAN
A1.11 PROPOSED SITE PLAN
A1.20 SITE DETAILS
A2.11 FIRST FLOOR PLAN
A2.12 SECOND FLOOR PLAN
A2.13 THIRD FLOOR PLAN
A2.14 ROOF PLAN
A3.10 MATERIALS BOARD
A3.11 ELEVATIONS
A3.12 ELEVATIONS
A3.13 BUILDING CONTEXT
A3.20 BUILDING SECTIONS
A4.10 ENLARGED UNIT PLANS
CIVIL
C-1.1 CIVIL COVER SHEET
C-3.0.1 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY (BY OTHERS)
C-3.0.2 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY (BY OTHERS)
C-4.1.1 GRADING PLAN - ELEVATIONS
C-4.1.2 GRADING PLAN - ELEVATIONS
C-5.1 UTILITY PLAN
C-5.2 UTILITY PLAN
C-5.3 UTILITY PLAN
C-6.1 STORMWATER TREATMENT PLAN
C-6.2 STORMWATER TREATMENT PLAN
JOINT TRENCH
JT1.01 DRY UTILITY STANDARDS
JT1.02 DRY UTILITY INTENT
LANDSCAPE
L0.1 EXISTING TREE MITIGATION PLAN
L0.2 EXISTING TREE INVENTORY LIST
L1.1 PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLAN
L2.1 PRELIMINARY PLANTING PLAN

2

22

2

1

1

1

1

1

2

1

3

C2



01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.07

PROJECT
RENDERINGS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

STREET VIEW LOOKING SOUTH FROM WILLOW RD.

STREET VIEW LOOKING NORTH FROM WILLOW RD.

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C3



01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: 12" = 1'-0"

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.08

LEED CHECKLIST

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2

2

C4



NEW DRIVE

WILLOW ROAD

17,856 SF

19,415 SF

5,667 SF

16,942 SF
7,514 SF

2,604 SF

1,787 SF

2,723 SF317 SF

656 SF

479 SF

379 SF

2,392 SF

2,150 SF

1,598 SF

553 SF

78 SF

344 SF

83 SF

3,034 SF

2,055 SF

54 SF

2,205 SF

322 SF

1,032 SF

1,081 SF

36 SF

105 SF

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

BUILDING 
COVERAGE

COMMON 
OPEN SPACE

LANDSCAPE 
OPEN SPACE

TOTAL LOT AREA 

PAVED AREA

UNCOVERED 
PARKING AREA

19,078 SF

6,140 SF

40,126 SF

7,670 SF

20,447 SF

93,390 SF

20%

7%

43%

8%

22%

100%

DESIGNATION AREA PERC. 

17,856 SF

1,081 SF

1,598 SF
2,392 SF
2,150 SF

1,787 SF
553 SF
78 SF

344 SF
2,604 SF
7,514 SF

656 SF
379 SF
317 SF

5,667 SF
83 SF

16,942 SF
2,723 SF

3,034 SF
54 SF

2,205 SF
322 SF

2,055 SF

479 SF

19,415 SF
1,032 SF

36 SF

105 SF

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.11

PLANNING DIAGRAMS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A0.11 SCALE: 1" = 40'-0"
1

1

1

1

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2

C5



D
D

W
W

Tub/Shower
Surround

-
Mobility

Tub/Shower
Surround

-
Mobility

D
D

W
W

UP

DN

UP

UP

Tub/Shower
Surround

-
Mobility

Tub/Shower
Surround

-
Mobility

D
D

W
W

D
W

D W

DN

UP

UP

Tub/Show
er

Surround
-

M
obility

DN

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF 2,331 GSF

25'X36'
900 GSF 13'X21'

273 GSF

274 GSF

979 GSF

10'X27'
270 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

503 GSF

10'X26'
260 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

7'X9'
63 GSF

13'X18'
234 GSF

340 GSF

12'X16'
192 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

22'X28'
616 GSF

6'

3'

13'

28
' 382 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

237 GSF

13' 12'

2'

9'

25'

19' 6'

3'

10'

14
'

25'

7'X10'
70 GSF

7'X10'
70 GSF147 GSF

6'

37
'

124' 5'

8'

27
'

61'8'

31
'

8'

8'

25'

59
'

10'

2'

17
'

25'

531 GSF

9'X12'
108 GSF

5'X12'
60 GSF

6'X6'
36 GSF

6'X13'
78 GSF

6' 6'
10

'

15'

14' 13'

15
'

22
'

9'

9'

21
'

5'X5.25'
27 GSF

2

5'X4.25'
21 GSF

5.5'X4.5'
28 GSF

6'X6'
36 GSF

11'X5.5'
58 GSF

525 GSF
340 GSF
192 GSF
525 GSF
260 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
63 GSF

234 GSF
525 GSF
900 GSF
616 GSF
525 GSF
382 GSF
525 GSF
108 GSF
273 GSF
60 GSF
36 GSF

275 GSF
531 GSF
99 GSF
99 GSF
99 GSF
70 GSF
70 GSF

147 GSF
979 GSF
525 GSF
237 GSF
525 GSF
270 GSF
525 GSF
503 GSF
78 GSF

2,331 GSF
21 GSF
27 GSF
58 GSF
28 GSF
36 GSF

17,785 GSF

(LOBBY 
BELOW)

21'X25'
525 SF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

25'X36'
900 GSF

10'X22'
220 GSF

10'X22'
220 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 SF 21'X25'

525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

22'X28'
616 GSF21'X25'

525 GSF 21'X25'
525 GSF

2,353 GSF

7'X9'
63 GSF

13'X18'
234 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF 548 GSF27

'

21'

2'

13'

7'
17

'
5'

6'

13'

24'

405 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

11
'

14'

21
'

11
'

27'

25'

978 GSF

25'X33'
825 GSF

7'X13'
91 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

5'

6'

124'

37
'

8'

27
'

53' 9' 8'8'

71
'

5'

4'
18

'

8'

13
'

5'X8'
40 GSF

525 GSF
525 GSF
220 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
63 GSF

234 GSF
900 GSF
616 GSF
525 GSF
405 GSF
40 GSF

525 GSF
548 GSF
99 GSF
99 GSF

525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
220 GSF
525 GSF
91 GSF

978 GSF
825 GSF

2,353 GSF

17,141 GSF

21'X25'
525 SF
21'X25'

525 GSF

25'X36'
900 GSF

10'X22'
220 GSF

10'X22'
220 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF 21'X25'

525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

22'X28'
616 GSF21'X31'

651 GSF 21'X25'
525 GSF

1,930 GSF

7'X9'
63 GSF

13'X18'
234 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF 548 GSF

405 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

21'X25'
525 GSF

978 GSF

25'X33'
825 GSF

7'X13'
91 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

9'X11'
99 GSF

5'X8'
40 GSF

7'
17

'
5'

6' 8'

24'

20'X25'
500 GSF

11
'

11
'

21
'

27'

25'

124'

5'

8'

27
'

8' 53'

35
'

8'

71
'

5'

14'

11'X22'
242 GSF

204 GSF

9' 4'

18
'

11
'

651 GSF
525 GSF
220 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
63 GSF

234 GSF
900 GSF
525 GSF
616 GSF
525 GSF
405 GSF
548 GSF
91 GSF
91 GSF
40 GSF

500 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
525 GSF
220 GSF
525 GSF
825 GSF
978 GSF
91 GSF

1,930 GSF

16,854 GSF

242 GSF
204 GSF

446 GSF

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.12

PLANNING DIAGRAMS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

1

A0.12 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
1

A0.12 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
2

A0.12 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
3

A0.12 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
4

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2

C6



H

D
D

W
W

H

H

FIRE FIGHTER ACCESS TO THE BUILDING

ROOF ACCESS

3 STORIES

1 STORY

LEGEND

STANDPIPE RISER AT STAIRS (MAIN LANDING)

NEW FIRE HYDRANT

ROOF ACCESS VIA STAIRS

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION (FDC)

2 STORIES

FENCING

2
A0.13

1
A0.13

R 28
' - 

0"

20'-0"

26
'-0

"

20'-0"

CONTROLLED 
GATE

EMERGENCY VEHICLE (EMR) PATH

60
'

R 32'

AERIAL FIRE ACCESS

ACCESSIBLE PATH

LOBBY

FIRE PUMP 
ROOM

FI
R

E 
AP

PA
R

AT
U

S 
AC

C
ES

S

<150' HOSE PULL LENGTH

M
AX

15
0'

-0
"

BACKFLOW PREVENTER

<150' HOSE PULL LENGTH

<150' HOSE PULL LENGTH

<1
50

' H
O

SE
 P

U
LL

 L
EN

G
TH

<150' HOSE PULL LENGTH

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

15'-0"

63°

MIN. DRIVE AISLE
20'-0"

12

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

54.63°

15'-0"

A

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.13

FIRE DEPT DIAGRAM

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A0.13 SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"
3

A0.13 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
2

A0.13 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1 1

1

1

1

1

1
1

1

1

1

1

1

1

11

11

1

1

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C7



01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.14

ENVIRONMENTAL
NOISE STUDY

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C8



01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.20

CODE ANALYSIS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

1

11

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C9



?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

2
A0.30

HGFEDCBA

1 BR
302

1 BR
202

BIKE
STORAGE

102

S-2
SE-4

S-2
SE-3

S-2
SE-2

S-2
SE-1

MIDPEN
SERVICES

104

1 BR
204

1 BR
304

1 BR
306

1 BR
206

COMMUNITY
ROOM
106A

1 BR
308

1 BR
208

W/M
108A

LOBBY
100

1 BR
310

1 BR
312

1 BR
212

VA OFFICE
112D

OFFICE
ENTRY
112A

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

1
A0.30

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

1 BR
308

1 BR
208

STORAGE
106B

W/M
108B

W/M
108A

CIRCULATION
300

CIRCULATION
200

CIRCULATION
100A

E-1
E1.1

E-1
E1.2

E-1
E1.3

STORAGE
315

STORAGE
215

MAINT.
113

1 BR
317

1 BR
217

1 BR
117

CIRCULATION
300

CIRCULATION
200

CIRCULATION
100A

JAN-3
320

JAN-2
220

ERRCS
120

MECH.
400

1 BR
322

1 BR
222

1 BR
122

1 BR
324

1 BR
224

1 BR
124

1 BR
326

1 BR
226

1 BR
126

1 BR
328

1 BR
228

1 BR
128

1 BR
330

1 BR
230

1 BR
130

CIRCULATION
100A

CIRCULATION
200

RESIDENTIAL UNITS, R-2 OCCUPANCY

MANAGEMENT OFFICES & LOBBY, B OCCUPANCY

COMMON ROOM OR COURTYARD, A-3 OCCUPANCY

UTILITY, S-2 OCCUPANCY

EXIT PATH

R-2 ACCESSORY

1 . PER CBC TABLE 601, TYPE VA EXTERIOR WALLS, 
TO BE 1-HR FIRE RATED CONSTRUCTION. PROTECTED 
OPENINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED. INTERIOR WALLS AND 
FLOOR/ROOF ASSEMBLIES TO BE 1-HR FIRE RATED 
CONSTRUCTION. 

2. PER CBC TABLE 601, INTERIOR LOAD BEARING WALLS 
ARE REQUIRED TO BE 1-HR RATED. PROTECTED 
OPENINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED.

3. FIRE RESISTIVE WALLS SHALL BE MARKED AS 
APPLICABLE PER CBC 703.5

4. 1-HR FIRE PARTITION PER CBC SECTION 708, TYPICAL 
AT CORRIDORS AND WALLS SEPARATING DWELLING 
UNITS PROTECTED OPENINGS ARE REQUIRED.

5. 1-HR FIRE BARRIER AT OCCUPANCY SEPARATION 
WALLS TYPICAL AT WALLS SEPARATING DIFFERENT 
OCCUPANCIES CBC TABLE 508.4 AT 1ST FLOOR AND AT 
SHAFT ENCLOSURES LESS THAN 3 STORIES

6. PER CBC SECTION 713.13.3 WASTE ENCLOSURE 
ACCESS WALLS TO BE 1-HR FIRE BARRIERS 
COMPLYING WITH SECTION 707.  PER CBC SECTION 
713.13.4 WASTE ENCLOSURE TERMINATION 
ROOM TO BE 2-HR FIRE BARRIER COMPLYING WITH 
SECTION 707 (SAME RATING AS WASTE CHUTE).

7. PER CBC SECTION 713.13 HORIZONTAL ASSEMBLY AT 
TOP OF SHAFT SHALL BE CONSISTENT WITH 

  THE REQUIRED HORIZONTAL ASSEMBLIES IN TABLE 601 
AND SECTION 711 

WHERE STAIRWAYS SERVE MORE THAN ONE STORY, 
ONLY THE OCCUPANT LOAD OF EACH STORY 
CONSIDERED INDIVIDUALLY SHALL BE USED IN 
CALCULATING THE REQUIRED CAPACITY OF THE 
STAIRWAYS SERVING THAT STORY 

EXCEPTION 1, CAPACITY, IN INCHES, OF MEANS OF 
EGRESS STAIRWAYS SHALL BE CALCULATED BY 
MULTIPLYING THE OCCUPANT LOAD SERVED BY SUCH 
STAIRWAYS BY A MEANS OF EGRESS CAPACITY FACTOR 
OF 0.20

EXCEPTION 1, OTHER EGRESS COMPONENTS, CAPACITY 
IN INCHES OF MEANS OF EGRESS COMPONENTS OTHER 
THAN STAIRWAYS SHALL BE CALCULATED BY 
MULTIPLYING THE OCCUPANT LOAD SERVED BY EACH 
COMPONENT BY A MEANS OF EGRESS CAPACITY FACTOR 
OF 0.15.

WHEN FULLY OPENED, SHALL NOT REDUCE THE 
REQUIRED WIDTH BY MORE THAN 7 INCHES. DOORS IN 
ANY POSITION SHALL NOT REDUCE THE REQUIRED WIDTH 
BY MORE THAN HALF.

*DOOR OPENINGS TO COMPLY WITH 11B-404.2.3

FACTOR

EGRESS 
COMPONENT

# OCCUPANTS

WIDTH CALC

REQ'D WIDTH PROVIDED 
WIDTH

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

BA

3 BR
203

TRASH
201

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM
101B

3 BR
303

TRASH
101A

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A0.30

EXITING DIAGRAM

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A0.30 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

A0.30 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
2

ID DATE NAME

A0.30 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
3

C10



PROJECT SITE

43'-0"

171'-2"

195'-11"

237'-9"

179'-6"

86
'-8

"

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: 1" = 40'-0"

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A1.00

SITE PLAN CONTEXT

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME
3 05/03/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 3

A1.00 SCALE: 1" = 40'-0"
1

3

C11



WILLOW ROAD

1

2
3

1 EXISTING PARKING LOT TO BE REMOVED

2 EXISTING SIDEWALK

3
REFER TO LANDSCAPE DRAWINGS AND
ARBORIST PLANS FOR EXISTING TREES TO
REMAIN VS. REMOVED

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A1.10

EXISTING SITE PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A1.10 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
1

0' 8' 32'16'

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C12



FIRE PUMP
ROOM

1 BR
S-1

1 BR 1 BR

1 BR 1 BR 1 BR 1 BR

1 BR ELEC

1 BR

LAUNDRY

1 BR

E-1

E-2

1 BR

1 BR

BIKE
STORAGE

S-2

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM

MIDPEN
SERVICES

W/M

COMMUNITY
ROOM

1 BR MAINT.

CIRCULATION

MPOE

LOBBY

1 BR

2 BR

OUTDOOR 
SPACE

NEW DRIVE

COMMUNITY 
GARDEN

NEW DRIVE

W/M

[5 SPACES]

[6 SPACES]

[7 SPACES]

[16 SPACES]

[21 SPACES]

TRASH

WILLOW ROAD

EN
TR

Y

COPY/ST.

VA OFFICE

MNGR.
OFFICE

CIRCULATION

72
'-3

"

31'-4" 79'-2"

24'-9" 77'-6"

13
8'

-6
"

57'-4"136'-0" 20'-10"

64
'-4

"
11

'-6
"

DOG RUN

ENTRY 
COURT

STORAGE

EMR

ERRCS

IT

FI
R

E 
AP

PA
R

AT
U

S 
AC

C
ES

S

1 3

2

2

2

2 4 4

5

5

5

6 7

7

8

8 910

101011 121314 1516

16 171918 20

21

13 1214

FR
O

N
T 

YA
R

D
 S

ET
BA

C
K

38
'-7

"

23

EV EV

COMMON OPEN AREA
33'-5"

EV

24

EV EV

EV

22

2222

115'-9" 48'-3" 32'-7" 26'-9" 37'-3" 15'-8" 21'-1" 29'-3" 54'-6" 20'-2" 34'-9" 36'-8" 33'-0" TREE SPACING ALONG R.O.W.TREE SPACING ALONG 
PROPERTY FRONTAGE

1 BR

2525

25

25

EV

STORAGE

111'-11" 411'-7"

6'
-1

"

(8) SHORT TERM BIKE 
PARKING SPACES

FR
O

N
T 

YA
R

D
 S

ET
BA

C
K

12
'

2

2

2

MIN 50' CLEARANCE REQ'D

M
IN

 5
0'

 C
LE

AR
AN

C
E 

R
EQ

'D

2

2

SMOKING 
TRELLIS, 
SEE A1.20

GARDEN SHED, 
SEE A1.20

SEE A1.20
FOR SPEC

2

2

2

2

5'-1"

10
'-8

"

19'-4"

18
'-4

"

1 PAD MOUNTED TRANSFORMER

2 6FT HIGH FENCE, MATERIAL TBD

4 CONTROLLED-ACCESS SLIDING VEHICULAR
GATE

5 UNCOVERED SURFACE PARKING LOT

6 DRIVEWAY ACCESS TO PARKING LOT

7 BIORETENTION AREA, SLD

9 LANDSCAPED WALKWAY, SLD

10 ARBOR, SLD

12 (N) TREES, TYP, SLD

13 (E) TREES, TYP, SLD

14 (E) TREE TO BE REMOVED, SLD

3 (N) SIDEWALK

15 OUTDOOR BIKE STORAGE, SLD

16 OUTDOOR FURNITURE, SLD

17 PLAZA, SLD

18 RESIDENT COMMUNITY GARDEN, SLD

8 PAVED WALKWAY, SLD

11 PAVED PATIO, SLD

19 RESIDENT DOG PARK, SLD

20
CONTROLLED GATE ENTRANCE, MAIN
ACCESS POINT FROM  PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY
ALONG PUBLIC STREET

21 EXTENSION OF DRIVEWAY FOR FIRE
APPARATUS ACCESS

23 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION
WITH TWO CORDS

24 PROPERTY ADJACENT TO RIGHT-OF-WAY
NOT IN SCOPE

22 DOWN-CAST LED PARKING LOT LIGHT

25 EXTENT OF SITE WORK TO BE 2' BEHIND
BACK OF CURB ALONG DRIVE

A. ALL EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURES SHALL BE   
CONSTRUCTED AT LOW CUT-OFF ANGLES

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A1.11

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A1.11 SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"
1

0' 8' 32'16'

1

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2
3 05/03/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 3

2

2 2

2

2

3

3

3

3

C13



5'-0"

3'-6"15'-0"

17'-6"

8" TYP.

8'
-0

"

8 x 8 WOOD POST

6 x 12 
WOOD BEAMS

SHAPED AT END 

2 x 6 WOOD SLATS
SHAPED AT END

2 x 6 WOOD SLATS

6 x 12 WOOD BEAM

8 x 8 WOOD POST

6"

CONCRETE 
POST BASE

LONG ELEVATION SHORT ELEVATION

PLAN

6"6"

6'-0"6'-0"

7'
-0

"

7'
-0

"

7
12

WOOD SIDING

SHAKE ROOF

2 x 4 ROOF JOIST

WOOD SWING 
DOORS

6'-0"

6'
-0

"PLYWOOD 
FLOOR

WOOD SIDING O/
PLYWOOD O/
WOOD STUDS

ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION FRONT PLAN, TYP

16 DERO DECKERS TO STORE 64 BIKES 4 BIKE RACKS TO STORE 8 BIKES

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A1.20

SITE DETAILS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A1.20 SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"
1

A1.20 SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"
2

A1.20 SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"
3

2

ID DATE NAME
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2

C14



UP

UP

D
D

W
W

UP

ELEC
123A

LAUNDRY
119

E-1
E1.1

E-2
E2.1

1 BR
105

1 BR
103

BIKE
STORAGE

102

MIDPEN
SERVICES

104

W/M
108A

COMMUNITY
ROOM
106A

MAINT.
113

CIRCULATION
100A

MPOE
123B

LOBBY
100

W/M
108B

S-2
SE-1

FIRE PUMP
ROOM
132B

1 BR
131

S-1
SW-1

1 BR
121

1 BR
128

1 BR
126

1 BR
124

1 BR
122

1 BR
125

1 BR
116

1 BR
117

1 BR
127

2 BR
118

1 BR
114

1 BR
129

ERRCS
120

TRASH
101A

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM
101B

STORAGE
106B

25
'-0

"
21

'-0
"

21
'-0

"

21'-0" 10'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0"

25'-0" 5'-9" 79'-10"

24'-6" 21'-0" 21'-0" 20'-9" 15'-0"

22
'-0

"
21

'-0
"

21
'-7

"

EMR
109

MAIL

8'
-9

"
15

'-8
"

19
'-9

"
51

'-9
"

11
'-7

"
10

'-0
"

21
'-0

"

5'
-0

"
36

'-0
"

27'-0" 5'-4" 25'-0"

VA OFFICE
112D

MNGR.
OFFICE

112B

COPY/ST.
112E

A3.11
1

A3.12
1

A3.12
2

A3.11
2

1
A3.20

1
A3.21

MAIL

COMPUTER STATION

CIRCULATION
100A

IT
112C

5

3

4

1

2

6

1 BR
130

7

503 GSF

78 GSF

525 GSF

270 GSF
525 GSF

237 GSF

979 GSF

525 GSF

99 GSF

382 GSF
99 GSF

99 GSF

70 GSF70 GSF
147 GSF

531 GSF

274 GSF
36 GSF

273 GSF

108 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

2,331 GSF

900 GSF

234 GSF

36 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF

260 GSF

616 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

192 GSF

340 GSF

525 GSF

STORAGE
132A

8

A3.13b
2

A3.13b
1

116 114

105

596

SE-1A

101A

101B

102

104A

106A

101C

SE-1B

104B

106D

108A 108BE-1.1

E-2.1

106E

100
OFFICE
ENTRY
112A

60 GSF

112A

112G 112B

112E

112D

112C

112F

113A117

118

119

120

121123A

122

125

124126

127129

128

SW-1A131

136

132

132A

132B 137

123B
SW-1B

134

109

113B

133

135

H10c

H10c

H10c

H10c

G10

H10cH10c

H10c

H10c

H10c

H10cH10c

H10c

H10c

G10G10G10
G10

G20
G10

G10G10

G10

H10c H10c H10c

G10 G10

G10

G10

G10 G10

A7.11
1

A7.10
1

A7.20
1A4.22

4

A4.21
1

A4.22
2

A4.22
1

3
A3.20

2
A3.20

3
A3.21

2
A3.21

123456789101112

K

H

G

F

E

D

C

B

A

5

5

5

8

4
A3.20

9

F20c

F20c

106B

106C

G10
G10

G10

A3.13b
4

A3.13b
3

1 MAIN ENTRANCE

2 STAFF ENTRANCE

3 MAILBOXES

4 BIKE RACKS (LONG TERM PARKING FOR 64
BIKES)

5 FENCE

6 EXTERIOR WOOD TRELLIS W/8X8 POSTS

7 TRANSFORMER

8 PLEXI-GLASS COVER OVER TRELLIS AT MAIN
ENTRY WAY

9 DRINKING FOUNTAIN

2

MOBILITY UNIT - TUB

MOBILTY UNIT - ROLL-IN SHOWER

COMMUNICATION UNIT

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A2.11

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A2.11 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

0' 4' 16'8'

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C15



UP

DN

UP

D
D

W
W

D
D

W
W

UP

DW

1 BR
230

1 BR
232

1 BR
231

S-1
SW-2

1 BR
229

1 BR
221

1 BR
228

1 BR
226

1 BR
224

1 BR
222

1 BR
225

1 BR
223

1 BR
216

1 BR
212

2 BR
205

1 BR
202

S-2
SE-2

1 BR
204

1 BR
208

1 BR
217

1 BR
227

2 BR
218

STORAGE
215

1 BR
206

3 BR
203

1 BR
214

(LOBBY 
BELOW)

TRASH
201

21
'-0

"
21

'-0
"

5'
-2

"
25

'-0
"

21'-0" 10'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0"

22
'-3

"
20

'-9
"

33
'-0

"

24'-6" 21'-0" 21'-0" 20'-10"

21
'-4

"
21

'-0
"

21
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

21
'-0

"

27'-0" 5'-5" 25'-0"

JAN-2
220

LAUNDRY
219

A3.11
1

A3.12
1

A3.12
2

A3.11
2

1
A3.20

25'-0"

1
A3.21

E-1
E1.2

E-2
E2.2

CIRCULATION
200

IDF-2
213

CIRCULATION
200

6

9

525 GSF525 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

260 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF 525 GSF

234 GSF

36 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

900 GSF

616 GSF

548 GSF

2,353 GSF

405 GSF

40 GSF
99 GSF

99 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF

220 GSF

525 GSF

978 GSF

91 GSF

825 GSF

A3.13b
2

A3.13b
1

202

201

203 SE-2

204

205

206

208

E-1.2

E-2.2

212214

213215217

216218

219

220

221223

222

225

224

227

226

229

228

SW-2231

230

232

A7.11
2

A7.10
2

A7.20
2

G10

H10c

H10c

G10

G10

G10

H10c

H10c

H10c

G10

G10 G10G10

H10c

H10c

G20
G10G10G10

H10c H10c

G10G10G10G10G10G10

H10c H10c

H10c

H10c

G10

G10

3
A3.20

2
A3.20

3
A3.21

2
A3.21

123456789101112

K

H

G

F

E

D

C

B

A

4
A3.20

G20
G20

F20c
F20c

F20c

F20c

A3.13b
4

A3.13b
3

MOBILITY UNIT - TUB

MOBILTY UNIT - ROLL-IN SHOWER

COMMUNICATION UNIT

1 MAIN ENTRANCE

2 STAFF ENTRANCE

3 MAILBOXES

4 BIKE RACKS (LONG TERM PARKING FOR 64
BIKES)

5 FENCE

6 EXTERIOR WOOD TRELLIS W/8X8 POSTS

7 TRANSFORMER

8 PLEXI-GLASS COVER OVER TRELLIS AT MAIN
ENTRY WAY

9 DRINKING FOUNTAIN

2

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A2.12

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A2.12 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

0' 4' 16'8'

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C16



DN

UP

UP

D
D

W
W

D
W

D W

1 BR
310

S-1
SW-3

1 BR
329

1 BR
321

1 BR
328

1 BR
326

1 BR
324

1 BR
322

1 BR
325

1 BR
323

1 BR
316

1 BR
312

CIRCULATION
300

2 BR
305

1 BR
302

S-2
SE-3

1 BR
304

1 BR
308

1 BR
317

1 BR
327

2 BR
318

STORAGE
315

1 BR
306

3 BR
303

1 BR
314

31'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-0"

31'-1" 20'-11" 21'-0" 21'-0" 21'-1" 12'-9"

24'-6" 21'-0" 21'-0" 20'-10"

36
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

21
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

21
'-0

"
21

'-0
"

21
'-0

"
44

'-6
"

27'-0" 5'-4" 25'-0"

22
'-3

"
20

'-9
"

33
'-0

"

JAN-3
320

LAUNDRY
319

MANAGER'S 
UNIT

A3.11
1

A3.12
1

A3.12
2

A3.11
2

1
A3.20

1
A3.21

E-2
E2.3

E-1
E1.3

IDF-3
313

CIRCULATION
300

TRASH
301

1 BR
331

MANAGER'S 
UNIT

1 BR
330

525 GSF525 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF525 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

260 GSF

651 GSF

525 GSF 525 GSF

234 GSF

36 GSF

525 GSF525 GSF

900 GSF

616 GSF

548 GSF

1,930 GSF

405 GSF

40 GSF

99 GSF

99 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF

525 GSF

220 GSF

525 GSF

978 GSF

91 GSF

825 GSF

500 GSF

A3.13b
2

A3.13b
1

301

302

303 SE-3

304

305

306

E-1.3

E-2.3

308

310

312314

313315317

316318

320

319

321323

322

325

324

327

326

329

328

SW-3

330

331

A7.11
3

A7.10
3

A7.20
3

H10c

H10c

G10

G10

G10

G10

G10

G10

G10

H10c
H10c

G10G10G10

H10c

H10c

H10c H10c

G10

G10G10 G10 G20

G10G10G10G10G10G10

H10c H10c

G10

3
A3.20

2
A3.20

3
A3.21

2
A3.21

123456789101112

K

H

G

F

E

D

C

B

A

4
A3.20

G20

G20

F20c

F20cF20c

F20c

A3.13b
4

A3.13b
3

MOBILITY UNIT - TUB

MOBILTY UNIT - ROLL-IN SHOWER

COMMUNICATION UNIT

1 MAIN ENTRANCE

2 STAFF ENTRANCE

3 MAILBOXES

4 BIKE RACKS (LONG TERM PARKING FOR 64
BIKES)

5 FENCE

6 EXTERIOR WOOD TRELLIS W/8X8 POSTS

7 TRANSFORMER

8 PLEXI-GLASS COVER OVER TRELLIS AT MAIN
ENTRY WAY

9 DRINKING FOUNTAIN

2

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A2.13

THIRD FLOOR PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A2.13 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

0' 4' 16'8'

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C17



DNS-2
SE-4

A3.11
1

A3.12
1

A3.12
2

A3.11
2

1
A3.20

17
'-2

"

11'-7"

MECH.
400

1
A3.21

765

2

1

1

8

3

9

9

10

10

10

9

1

4

TY
P.

4'
-0

"

TYP.
4'-0"

TYP.
4'-0"

11

12

12
12

12

12

12

1222

2/12 SLOPE

3/12 SLOPE

3/12 SLOPE

2

13

13

13

204 GSF

242 GSF

RIDGE LINE

1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0"1/4"=1'-0"

1/4"=1'-0"

1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0"

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
1/

4"
=1

'-0
"

1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0"

1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0"

RIDGE LINE1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
1/

4"
=1

'-0
"

1/4"=1'-0" 1/4"=1'-0"

RIDGE LINE

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
1/

4"
=1

'-0
"

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
1/

4"
=1

'-0
"

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"
1/

4"
=1

'-0
"

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"

1/
4"

=1
'-0

"

ROOF CRICKET

14

A3.13b
2

A3.13b
1

SE-4

400

A7.11
4

3
A3.20

2
A3.20

3
A3.21

2
A3.21

4
A3.20

13

13

13

13

A3.13b
4

A3.13b
3

MOBILITY UNIT - TUB

MOBILTY UNIT - ROLL-IN SHOWER

COMMUNICATION UNIT

1 PHOTOVOLTAIC (PV) PANELS

2 ASPHALT SHINGLE ROOF

3 PACKAGED CONDENSER UNIT

4 STAIRS PENTHOUSE

5 RECYCLE CHUTE

7 COMPOST CHUTE

6 TRASH CHUTE

8 MECHANICAL SHAFT

9 THERMOPLASTIC MEMBRANCE ROOFING

10 4' CLEARANCE FROM PARAPET FOR PV
PANELS

11 ELEVATOR PENTHOUSE - NO ROOF ACCESS

12 METAL AWNING BELOW, TYP.

13 METAL SCUPPERS

14 ERRCS SHAFT

2

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A2.14

ROOF PLAN

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A2.14 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

0' 4' 16'8'

ID DATE NAME

C18



1A 1B 1C 23

8

7F 7B

7F 5B4F 7B 4B5F

SASM LAP FROM BACK 
DAM AND
SLOPE UNDER PRECAST 
SILL PIECE

GROOVED POLYPREP 
ADHESIVE TO DRAIN UNDER 
FOR PRECAST SILL AND OVER 
EXTENDED GSM SILL PAN

SASM ONTO R.O. PRIOR TO 
GSM PAN

PRECAST CONCRETE 
SILL W/ KERF CUT

METAL L-ANGLE EMBEDDED IN 
SEALANT; APPLY PENETRATION 
FLASHING UP ON
'BACK DAM' LEG, AND DOWN 
OVER GSM PAN LEG

BACKER ROD & SEALANT

SECURE BACK OF PRECAST SILL 
WITH POLYPREP ADHESIVE

1/16" SHIM BEHIND NAIL FIN 
(DO NOT SET SILL FIN IN SEALANT)

RECESSED GSM PAN FLASHING 
EMBEDDED IN SEALANT INTO 
ROUGH RECESS W/ FULLY 
SOLDERED END DAMS AND 
HEMMED DRIP EDGE; LAP  
PENETRATION FLASHING OVER 
GSM TOP LEG - COORDINATE 
WITH STUCCO

1/4" GAP

1X WOOD SILL, PTD. 
SHIM AS REQ'D

WINDOW INSET
2"

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A3.10

MATERIALS BOARD

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A: SW7008
ALABASTER

B: SW9109 
NATURAL 
LINEN

F: SW6094 
SENSATIONAL 
SAND

C: SW7598
SIERRA 
REDWOOD

2.1: WOOD

2.2: ALTERNATE - STURDESIGN VISO BOLD 
PERGOLA, WOOD FINISH, VERTICALLY 
ORIENTED OVERHANGING BEAMS

3.1: PRODEMA
3.2: LONGBOARD - TONGUE & 
GROOVE SIDING

3.3: ACOYA RAINSCREEN SIDING

CINDER BLONDE

1

3.4: RESYSTA

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2

2 2

22

C19



?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T 

BA
SE

D
 O

FF
 O

F 
AV

ER
AG

E 
N

AT
U

R
AL

 G
R

AD
E

39
'-6

"

2FT DEEP PROJECTION
22'-0"

FACADE BEYOND
29'-5"

BLDG FACADE
25'-0" 5'-3"

BLDG FACADE
21'-3"

BLDG FACADE
20'-9"

FACADE BEYOND
23'-11"

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

1C1B 1A1211D 4D5F4D 8E PL-S6D10D

SI
LL

 H
T.

, T
YP

.
2'

-6
"

SI
LL

 H
T .

, T
YP

.

2'
-6

"
SI

LL
 H

T.
, T

YP
.

2'
-6

"

2/12 SLOPE

7D 1C

-1'-0"
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

37.00

47.00

57.00

67.00

71.50

75.50

MAJOR MODULATION
72'-2"

1'-0"

NATURAL GRADING PER CIVIL

1'-0"1'-0"

PROPERTY LINE NEAR PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY
(VARIES, PER SITE PLAN)

BUILDING PROFILE LIMIT PRESCRIBED BY R-4-S REQ.

MIN. FRONT YARD SETBACK
10'-0"

25
'-0

"

45°

FRONT YARD SETBACK
10'-0"

36.00

10
'-5

"

1'
-0

"

VERTICAL STRATEGY: 1 STORY COLOR 
A OVER 2 STORY COLOR B

KHGFED

CB

A

7D
2

7D
2

7D
2

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

BLDG FACADE
136'-0"

FACADE BREAK
20'-10"

5FT DEEP PROJECTION
27'-0"

BLDG FACADE
5'-5"

5FT DEEP PROJECTION
24'-11"

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT4'
-1

0" 1A1B 6D5F1C 1C5F

2D

10C10D10D10D2/12 SLOPE

SI
LL

 H
T.

, T
YP

.
2'

-6
"

SI
LL

 H
T.

, T
YP

.
5'

-1
0"

SI
LL

 H
T.

, T
YP

.
2'

-6
"

1A1B 7D 4D

-1'-0"
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

37.00

47.00

57.00

67.00

71.50

75.50

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T 

BA
SE

D
 O

FF
 O

F 
AV

ER
AG

E 
N

AT
U

R
AL

 G
R

AD
E

39
'-6

"

MAJOR MODULATION
57'-5"

MAJOR MODULATION
156'-9"

1'-0"

1'-0"

NATURAL GRADE PER CIVIL

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

36.00

VERTICAL STRATEGY: 1 STORY COLOR 
A OVER 2 STORY COLOR B

VERTICAL STRATEGY: 2 STORY COLOR 
A OVER 1 STORY COLOR B

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

7D2
7D

2

SMOOTH SANDED STUCCO1

ASPHALT SHINGLE ROOF OR METAL ROOF
AS ALTERNATE8

3" RECESSED VINYL SLIDING WINDOW W/
MULLIONS ON EXTERIOR AND INTERNAL
DIVIDERS BETWEEN PANES FOR SIMULATED
DIVIDED WINDOWS

5

B BEIGE

A WHITE

C COLOR ACCENT

ROOFTOP ELEMENT12

3" RECESSED VINYL FIXED WINDOW6

D NEUTRAL ACCENT

E GREY

METAL AWNING4

HOLLOW METAL DOOR11

EXTERIOR WOOD TRELLIS, 8x8 WOOD POST2

EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE WITH LOW
CUT-OFF ANGLE, TYP.10

FIBER CEMENT PANELS7

METAL ROOF9

TIMBER CLADDING PANELS3

F TAN

METAL DOWNSPOUT13

2

A. ALL DIVIDED LIGHT WINDOWS SHALL BE 
SIMULATED TRUE DIVIDED LIGHTS WITH 
INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR GRIDS AND A 
SPACE BAR BETWEEN THE GLASS PANES

B. AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE WAS CALCULATED 
FROM POINTS FOUND ON CIVIL DRAWINGS. 

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A3.11

ELEVATIONS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A3.11 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

A3.11 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
2

0' 4' 16'8'

0' 4' 16'8'

1

1

1

1

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2
3 05/03/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 3

3

3

3

3

C20



?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T 

BA
SE

D
 O

FF
 O

F 
AV

ER
AG

E 
N

AT
U

R
AL

 G
R

AD
E

39
'-6

"

15FT DEEP RECESS
8'-9" 1FT DEEP RECESS

15'-7" 93'-6"
BLDG FACADE

20'-8"

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT4'
-1

0"

1A 1B6F 5F6F1C 12 2D4D

PL-S

10D 10D 10D

3/12 SLOPE

SI
LL

 H
T .

, T
YP

.

2'
-6

"
SI

LL
 H

T.
, T

YP
.

2'
-6

"

SI
LL

 H
T.

1'
-2

"

7D3 8E

36.00   -1'-0"
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

45°

25
'-0

"MIN. FRONT YARD SETBACK
10'-0"

PROPERTY LINE NEAR PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

BUILDING PROFILE LIMIT PRESCRIBED BY R-4-S REQ.

37.00

47.00

57.00

67.00

71.50

75.50

MAJOR MODULATION
138'-6"

1'-0"

3'-0"

NATURAL GRADING PER CIVIL

1'-0"

1'-0" 1'-0"

ELEVATOR PENTHOUSE

STAIR TOWER

VERTICAL STRATEGY: 2 STORY COLOR 
A OVER 1 STORY COLOR B

K H G F E D

C B

A

7D

2

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T 

BA
SE

D
 O

FF
 O

F 
AV

ER
AG

E 
N

AT
U

R
AL

 G
R

AD
E

39
'-6

"

2FT DEEP PROJECTION
36'-0"

 BLDG FACADE
41'-6"

11FT DEEP PROJECTION
24'-9"

 BLDG FACADE
79'-10"

12FT DEEP PROJECTION
5'-9"

5FT DEEP PROJECTION
25'-0"

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

8E 31A5F 5F 1C12 11D 2D4D6D 10D10D

3/12 SLOPE

SI
LL

 H
T.

, T
YP

.
5'

-1
0"

1B 7D1C8E13B

-1'-0"
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

37.00

47.00

57.00

67.00

71.50

75.50

MAJOR MODULATION
103'-7"

MAJOR MODULATION
110'-6"

1'-0"

1'-0"

NATURAL GRADING PER CIVIL

1'-0"
1'-0"

1'-0" 1'-0"

36.00

2'
-1

1"

3'
-3

"
VERTICAL STRATEGY: 1 STORY COLOR 

A OVER 2 STORY COLOR B
VERTICAL STRATEGY: 1 STORY COLOR 

A OVER 2 STORY COLOR B

123456789101112

7D 2 7D2 7D2

SMOOTH SANDED STUCCO1

ASPHALT SHINGLE ROOF OR METAL ROOF
AS ALTERNATE8

3" RECESSED VINYL SLIDING WINDOW W/
MULLIONS ON EXTERIOR AND INTERNAL
DIVIDERS BETWEEN PANES FOR SIMULATED
DIVIDED WINDOWS

5

B BEIGE

A WHITE

C COLOR ACCENT

ROOFTOP ELEMENT12

3" RECESSED VINYL FIXED WINDOW6

D NEUTRAL ACCENT

E GREY

METAL AWNING4

HOLLOW METAL DOOR11

EXTERIOR WOOD TRELLIS, 8x8 WOOD POST2

EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURE WITH LOW
CUT-OFF ANGLE, TYP.10

FIBER CEMENT PANELS7

METAL ROOF9

TIMBER CLADDING PANELS3

F TAN

METAL DOWNSPOUT13

2

A. ALL DIVIDED LIGHT WINDOWS SHALL BE 
SIMULATED TRUE DIVIDED LIGHTS WITH 
INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR GRIDS AND A 
SPACE BAR BETWEEN THE GLASS PANES

B. AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE WAS CALCULATED 
FROM POINTS FOUND ON CIVIL DRAWINGS. 

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A3.12

ELEVATIONS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A3.12 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

A3.12 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
2

0' 4' 16'8'

0' 4' 16'8'

1

1

1

1

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS
2 04/25/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 2
3 05/03/23 PLANNING COMMENTS 3

3

3

3

3

C21



01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: 6" = 1'-0"

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A3.13

BUILDING CONTEXT

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

The Architectural style of this project is a compilation of the traditional warm adobe colors exhibited by the 
adjacent properties along with simple contemporary volumes, hence the creation of it's own unique style: Menlo 
Mediterranean.  The proposed red-accent color is influenced by the terracotta color of the clay tile roofs and the 
adjacent red brick buildings.  Given the site's proximity to Willow Road with frequent traffic coming and going in 
both directions, a strong emphasis has been given to the building's front corner as a focal point.  With the 
adaption of a Menlo Mediterranean style, a precedence is set for all the upcoming development expected to occur 
along Willow Road.

The design intent of the site Landscaping is to provide healing spaces for the recovering veterans while also 
simultaneously paying homeage to the outdoor lifestyle promoted by Sunset Magazine which was originally 
headquarter just down Willow Rd.  There are a variety of exterior spaces that provide structured/formal courtyards 
for visitors to experience and more informal/casual spaces for daily access by residents.

MENLO PARK VETERANS - DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
Traditional Mediterranean 

MENLO PARK VETERANS - EXISTING MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING
Traditional/Contemporary Mediterranean 

MENLO PARK VETERANS -BUILDING 324
red brick, Mid-Century Modern

VETERANS VILLAGE IN COLMA, CA BY VMWP
Utilization of materials and textures to help add interest and break up building into smaller volumes

VETERANS VILLAGE IN COLMA, CA BY VMWP
Raised planter beds integrated into site landscape

EAGLE PARK IN MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA BY VMWP
Accentuated corner

1

ID DATE NAME
1 03/09/23 PLANNING COMMENTS

C22



?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

1 BR
326

1 BR
226

1 BR
126

LAUNDRY
319

LAUNDRY
219

LAUNDRY
119

1 BR
317

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION 1 BR
217

STORAGE
215

E-2
E2.2 CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

LOBBY
100

1 BR
310

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

E-2
E2.1

E-2
E2.3

1 BR
230

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION
MAINT.

113

STORAGE
315

1 BR
117

1 BR
124

1 BR
122

1 BR
222

1 BR
322

1 BR
324

1 BR
224

1 BR
328

1 BR
228

1 BR
128

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

C
EI

LI
N

G
 H

T.
8'

-1
1"

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

4

5

5

MECH.
400

123456789101112

1 BR
330

1 BR
130

METAL MESH 
FENCE BETWEEN 

BEAMS

5'
-0

"

1 PROPERTY LINE NEAR PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

2 BUILDING PROFILE LIMIT PRESCRIBED BY
R-4-S REQUIREMENTS

3
PROPERTY LINE (EUL), NO ADJACENT
SINGLE-FAMILY ZONED PROPERTY NOR
ADJACENT PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

4 ROOFTOP ELEMENT

5 PHOTOVOLTAIC (PV) PANELS

6 TRASH CHUTE

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

COMMUNITY
ROOM
106A

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

1 BR
105

2 BR
205

2 BR
305

1 BR
206

1 BR
306

1 BR
121

1 BR
221

1 BR
321

1 BR
323

1 BR
223

MPOE
123B

ELEC
123A

1 BR
125

1 BR
225

1 BR
325

1 BR
127

1 BR
227

1 BR
327

1 BR
129

1 BR
229

1 BR
329

S-1
SW-3

S-1
SW-2

S-1
SW-1

1 BR
131

1 BR
231

1 BR
331

123456789101112

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

1 BR
124

1 BR
224

1 BR
324

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION1 BR
325

1 BR
225

1 BR
125

HGFED

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

?1ST FLOOR
0"

?2ND FLOOR
11' - 0"

?3RD FLOOR
21' - 0"

?ROOF
31' - 0"

?PARAPET
35' - 6"

?ROOF 2
38' - 6"

HGFED

1 BR
331

1 BR
231

1 BR
131

1 BR
130

1 BR
230

1 BR
330

1 BR
232

FIRE PUMP
ROOM
132B

STORAGE
132ACIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

CIRCULATIONCIRCULATION

40' BUILDING HT. LIMIT

1 . PER CBC TABLE 601, TYPE VA EXTERIOR WALLS, 
TO BE 1-HR FIRE RATED CONSTRUCTION. PROTECTED 
OPENINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED. INTERIOR WALLS AND 
FLOOR/ROOF ASSEMBLIES TO BE 1-HR FIRE RATED 
CONSTRUCTION. 

2. PER CBC TABLE 601, INTERIOR LOAD BEARING WALLS 
ARE REQUIRED TO BE 1-HR RATED. PROTECTED 
OPENINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED.

3. FIRE RESISTIVE WALLS SHALL BE MARKED AS 
APPLICABLE PER CBC 703.5

4. 1-HR FIRE PARTITION PER CBC SECTION 708, TYPICAL 
AT CORRIDORS AND WALLS SEPARATING DWELLING 
UNITS PROTECTED OPENINGS ARE REQUIRED.

5. 1-HR FIRE BARRIER AT OCCUPANCY SEPARATION 
WALLS TYPICAL AT WALLS SEPARATING DIFFERENT 
OCCUPANCIES CBC TABLE 508.4 AT 1ST FLOOR AND AT 
SHAFT ENCLOSURES LESS THAN 3 STORIES

6. PER CBC SECTION 713.13.3 WASTE ENCLOSURE 
ACCESS WALLS TO BE 1-HR FIRE BARRIERS 
COMPLYING WITH SECTION 707.  PER CBC SECTION 
713.13.4 WASTE ENCLOSURE TERMINATION 
ROOM TO BE 2-HR FIRE BARRIER COMPLYING WITH 
SECTION 707 (SAME RATING AS WASTE CHUTE).

7. PER CBC SECTION 713.13 HORIZONTAL ASSEMBLY AT 
TOP OF SHAFT SHALL BE CONSISTENT WITH 

  THE REQUIRED HORIZONTAL ASSEMBLIES IN TABLE 601 
AND SECTION 711 

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: As indicated

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A3.20

BUILDING SECTIONS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

A3.20 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
1

0' 4' 16'8'

ID DATE NAME

A3.20 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
2

A3.20 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
3

A3.20 SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"
4

C23



D W

KITCHEN + DININGBATHROOM

BEDROOM

LIVING ROOM

1 BRU2

U1

U4

U2

F01b

F01b

F10c

F10b

F10b

F01b

F10b

F10b

6'-10" 5'-8"

27
'-0

"

A4.30
3

9'-8"

3'
-5

"
6'

-7
"

F01c

KITCHEN + DINING

BATHROOM

BEDROOM

LIVING ROOM

1 BR

F10b

F01b

F01b

F10b

F01b

F10b

F10b

F10b

F10b

F10b

F01c

U2

U3

U4

U2

21'-0"

9'-5"

25
'-0

"

11
'-1

1"
2'

-5
"

6'-10" 5'-5"

11
'-4

"

A4.30
1

U1

F10c

F10b

A4.40
1

8' - 0" 8' - 0"

8' - 0" 8' - 0" 8' - 0"

GB GB

8' - 0"

8' - 0" 8' - 0" 8' - 0"

GB

GB

8' - 0" 8' - 0"

8' - 0"

8' - 0"8' - 0"

GB GB

U2

U2

U7

U1

A4.30
2

F10b

F10b
F10c

F10b

F01b

F01b

F01b

F10b F10b

F10b

BATHROOM

LIVING ROOM

KITCHEN + DINING 

BEDROOM

31'-1"

10'-7"

21
'-4

"

11
'-7

"

11'-10" 2'-5" 7'-4"

1 BR

U4

1 ELECTRICAL PANEL, SED

2 MEDIA PANEL, PAINT TO MATCH EXISTING
WALL SEE LOW VOLTAGE

3 WASHER DRYER - STACKED

4 WASHER DRYER -SIDE BY SIDE

5 WATER HEATER

6 WATER SUBMETER 24"X24"

7 HPAC UNIT

10 CONDENSATE LINE IN WALL

11 HORN & STROBE AT 80" AFF, WHERE
OCCURS (E.G. HVI UNIT)

8 DOOR BELL WITH SIGN TO HOLD FOR 5 SECS

12 THERMOSTAT

9 SUBMETER READER

13 DOORBELL CHIME

16 SG-1 SEE MECHANICAL DWGS

14 DIMMER SWITCH

15 SWITCH

17 HPAC UNIT UP IN UNITS:

1X4 TROFFER LIGHT

2X2 TROFFER LIGHT AT ACT  

WOOD SLAT CEILING

ACOUSTIC TILE CEILING

PENDANT 

LINEAR LIGHT

1X4 LIGHT

FLUSH MOUNT 

CEILING FAN - NOT USEDWALL MOUNTED SCONCE

LINEAR WALL MOUNTED LIGHT

8'-0" CEILING HEIGHT FROM FFE

2X4 TROFFER LIGHT 

EQPT., S.M.D.

RING LIGHT

EXIT SIGN

GWB DROP SOFFIT, SEE PLAN FOR 
ELEVATION HEIGHT  

FLUSH MOUNT FIXTURE

GWB CEILING, SEE PLAN FOR 
ELEVATION  HEIGHT  

SUSPENDED TRACK LIGHT

EXHAUST WITH LIGHT

MECHANICAL ACCESS PANEL

FIXTURE RATED FOR 
WET LOCATIONSWP

SUPPLY, SEE MECH.

EXPOSED CONCRETE CEILING, SEE 
PLAN FOR ELEVAION HEIGHT

1. TACTILE SIGNAGE SHALL BE PROVIDED AT EACH EXIT OR EXIT 
ACCESS DOOR THAT CORRESPONDS TO SPECIFIC EXITING 
LOCATIONS PER CBC1013.4 (IE 'EXIT STAIR DOWN', 'EXIT ROUTE', 
'EXIT', ETC)  SEE SIGNAGE PLANS A11.70 - A11.71 FOR LOCATIONS.

2. E2 FIXTURE IS IN PT SLAB AND WILL REQUIRE A SLEEVE AND A 
RECESSED J-BOX.

3. ILLUMINATED EXIT SIGNS SHALL BE ADDED OR RELOCATED
AT THE DIRECTION OF THE BUILDING AND/OR FIRE DEPARTMENT 
INSPECTOR.

4. FURNITURE IS SHOWN IN PLANS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES 
ONLY.

SPRAY FOAM INSULATION BENEATH
CONDITIONED SPACE

1

1 BR

21'-8"

11'-7"

28
'-1

"

13
'-9

"

8'-5" 5'-11"

14
'-1

1"
2'

-5
"

U2

U2

U4

U1

F10b

F10c F01b

F01b

F01b

F10b

F10b
F10b

F10b

LIVING ROOM

KITCHEN + DINING

BEDROOM

BATHROOM

8' - 0"

8' - 0"

8' - 0" 8' - 0"

8' - 0"

GB GB

6'-11"

01/31/2025

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
MENLO PARK, CA

2013

A4.10

ENLARGED UNIT
PLANS

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

0' 2' 6'3'

A4.10
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 212

4
A4.10

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 125

1

ID DATE NAME

A4.10
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

2
A4.10

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 330

9
A4.10

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 212

5

A4.10
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 330

8
A4.10

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 117

6

A4.10
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 117

7

A4.10
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"
UNIT 310

3

C24



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C25



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C26



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C27



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C28



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C29



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C30



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C31



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C32



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C33



Project:

Client:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

C34



Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: AS SHOWN

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

350 Townsend Street, Suite 409
San Francisco, California 94107

415 658 5850 tel.
www.UrbanDesignCE.com

URBAN CIVIL ENGINEERING,
STORMWATER, AND JOINT TRENCH

1 10/28/22 100% SCHEMATIC DESIGN

SCALE: N.T.S.
DRY UTILITY STANDARDS

GENERAL NOTES

1. THE LAYOUT OF JOINT TRENCH IS DIAGRAMMATIC. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE ALL NECESSARY FIELD CHANGES TO ACCOMMODATE WITH EXISTING
FIELD CONDITION. PROVIDE ALL NECESSARY WORK FOR OFF-SETS, CHANGES OF DIRECTION AND ELEVATION TO AVOID CONFLICTS WITH EXISTING
AND NEW FACILITIES AND WORK TO BE PROVIDED BY OTHER DIVISIONS.

2. PROVIDE ALL REQUIRED TRENCHING INCLUDING DEEPER TRENCHES TO ALLOW CONDUIT OFF-SETS, AND CHANGE OF ELEVATIONS, CONDUIT
CROSSING, CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES AND PULL BOXES FOR A COMPLETE INSTALLATION.

3. ALL CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES AND PULL BOXES SHALL COMPLY WITH UTILITY COMPANIES REQUIREMENTS. COORDINATE ALL WORK WITH
UTILITY COMPANIES.

4. UTILITY STANDARD PRACTICES FOR TRENCHING SHALL APPLY TO ALL TRENCHING, BACK FILLING AND INSTALLATION  WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO HAVE ALL  INSTALLATIONS INSPECTED AND APPROVED BY THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANY,
MUNICIPALITY, OR SOILS ENGINEER PRIOR TO ANY BACK FILLING.  (48 HOURS MINIMUM NOTICE)

6. SHOULD A DISPUTE OR DISAGREEMENT OVER ANY INSTALLATION, DESIGN, PLAN, OR DRAWING OCCUR THE SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS
OF THE  INDIVIDUAL UTILITY COMPANY AND THEIR INSPECTOR SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY COMPANIES. LACK OF TIMELINESS ON THE PART OF ANY UTILITY COMPANY SHALL NOT BE THE
BASIS FOR ANY REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION.

8. THE DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO BE COMPLEMENTARY TO ONE ANOTHER. ANYTHING MENTIONED IN THE
SPECIFICATIONS AND NOT SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS, OR SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS AND  NOT MENTIONED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS SHALL BE
CONSIDERED OF LIKE EFFECT AS IF APPEARING IN BOTH. CONTACT THE OWNER PRIOR TO START OF WORK IF A DISCREPANCY IS FOUND.

9. CONSULT PARTICIPATING UTILITIES, SOILS ENGINEER, AND THE CITY OF MENLO PARK FOR APPROVED BACK FILL MATERIAL. COMPACTION TO MEET
LOCAL  AGENCIES REQUIREMENTS.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL LAWS, ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE FAMILIAR  WITH O.S.H.A. INDUSTRIAL
ORDERS AND SHALL CONDUCT HIS WORK ACCORDINGLY. WHEN WORKING ENERGIZED  EQUIPMENT, THE UTILITY OWNER SHALL BE NOTIFIED TO
SUPPLY THE APPROPRIATE MANPOWER AND SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AS NEEDED THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SAFETY AND
TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURES.

11. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN POINTS OF ACCESS  THAT ARE AGREEABLE TO ADJACENT LAND USERS AND TENANTS AT ALL TIMES.

12. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROJECT CONDITIONS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO REVIEW
THE PROJECT AND SITE PRIOR TO SUBMITTING HIS BID.

13. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATION OF CONSTRUCTION WITH THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY AGENCIES, ALLOWING 48 HOURS
PRIOR TO THE NEED FOR INSTALLATION.

14. ALL LENGTHS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS ARE  ESTIMATES. FINAL QUANTITIES SHALL BE BASED  ON WHAT WILL BE NEEDED TO COMPLETE THIS
PROJECT. DUE TO CHANGES, ADDITIONS, DELETIONS  OR OMISSIONS FINAL QUANTITIES MAY VARY.

15. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO PROTECT IN PLACE ALL EXISTING FACILITIES. EXCAVATION MAY  BE REQUIRED OVER, UNDER OR ADJACENT
TO EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING, EXPOSING AND PROTECTING ALL EXISTING
FACILITIES.

16. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AS-BUILT DRAWINGS AFTER INSTALLATION.

17. ALL CONDUIT ENTRANCE TO MANHOLE, PULL BOX, & VAULTS SHALL BE WATER PROOFED. ALL INSTALLATION SHALL CONFORM TO REQUIREMENTS
OF UTILITY COMPANIES AND COMMUNICATION SERVICE PROVIDER.

18. IN THE STREET, ALL CONDUITS SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH MINIMUM OF 36" COVERAGE. EXCEPTIONS SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE CITY AND
UTILITY COMPANY AUTHORIZED AGENTS. PROVIDE 4" THICK RED DYE CONCRETE CAP ABOVE CONDUITS WHICH DO NOT HAVE 36" COVERAGE.

19. THE CONTRACTOR, PRIOR TO BIDDING, SHALL VISIT THE JOB SITE TO BE FAMILIARIZED WITH THE EXISTING UTILITIES INSTALLATIONS, CONDITIONS,
AND SYSTEMS RELATED TO THE SCOPE OF WORK.

20. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL LABOR, MATERIALS, FEES AND EQUIPMENT SPECIFIED, INDICATED OR IMPLIED IN THESE DOCUMENTS TO
ACCOMPLISH THE CONSTRUCTION IN A PROFESSIONAL, WORKMANLIKE MANNER.  ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE CONSTRUCTION TASKS
INDICATED AND LOCAL CODES AND/OR ORDINANCES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE IMMEDIATE ATTENTION OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR FOR
RESOLUTION BEFORE PRECEDING WITH THE WORK AT ISSUE.

21. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND COORDINATE WITH OTHER DISCIPLINES DRAWINGS RELATED TO THE PROJECT FOR OTHER WORK TO BE
PROVIDED.

22. ANY WORK INSTALLED INCORRECTLY, OR BEFORE APPROVAL HAS BEEN OFFICIALLY GRANTED FOR THOSE ITEMS AT ISSUE, SHALL BE CORRECTED
BY THE CONTRACTOR AT NO CHARGE TO CLIENT.

23. ALL MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT FURNISHED BY THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE NEW AND COMPLETELY SERVICEABLE UNLESS OTHERWISE
SPECIFIED.

24. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE COMPLETELY FAMILIAR WITH EXISTING CONDITIONS BEFORE STARTING NEW WORK. VERIFY FINAL PLACEMENT AND
CONNECTION REQUIREMENTS PRIOR TO ROUGHING-IN EQUIPMENT.

25. FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF WORK IN PLACE SHALL BE SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE AND ENGINEER.  INSTALLATION
APPROVAL SHALL BE BASED ON APPROVED SUBMITTAL.  SHOP DRAWINGS AND LOCAL INSPECTION.

26. ALL JOINT TRENCH CONDUIT SHALL COMPLY WITH PG&E GREEN BOOK, CURRENT EDITION.

27. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL 3/4 " x 10' GROUND RODS IN ALL PRIMARY SUBSURFACE ENCLOSURES AND 5/8" x 10' GROUND RODS IN ALL
SECONDARY SUBSURFACE ENCLOSURES.  THE RESISTANCE AT THE GROUND ROD SHALL MEET ARTICLE 250.56 NEC.

28. ALL CONDUIT SYSTEMS SHALL BE PROVEN BY USING MANDRELS.

29. ALL CONDUITS SHALL ENTER AND LEAVE ON THE SIDES OF THE PRIMARY ENCLOSURES.

30. PRIMARY AND SECONDARY CONCRETE ENCLOSURES SHOULD NOT BE INSTALLED IN ANY DRIVEWAY AREAS.

31. SWEDGE REDUCERS ARE REQUIRED IF THE CONDUIT KNOCKOUTS ARE 6" AND THE CONDUITS ARE 4".

32. ALL WORK INCLUDING SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT CUTTING AND REMOVAL, LAGGING, EXCAVATION, BACKFILL, AND SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT
RESTORATION SHALL BE DONE BY A LICENSED PAVING CONTRACTOR AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS OF THE BUREAU OF ENGINEERING, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, JULY 1986 EDITION AND DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
ORDER NOS. 135,595 OR 135,596.

33. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY UNDERGROUND SERVICES ALERT (U.S.A.) AT 1-800-227-2600 AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION.
CONTACTING U.S.A. DOES NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR FROM HIS RESPONSIBILITY TO DETERMINE LOCATION AND DEPTH OF BURIED UTILITIES.

NEW PG&E CONDUIT REQUIREMENT (EFFECTIVE 2/15/2020):

PER UTILITY BULLETIN TD-062288-B006, ALL RIGID PVC CONDUITS, COUPLINGS, FITTINGS,
AND BENDS TO BE USED IN PG&E'S ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM ARE TO BE PVC
SCHEDULE 40. PVC DB-120 IS NOW PROHIBITED. FOR QUESTIONS, CONTACT YOUR PG&E
PROJECT SERVICE PLANNER OR FIELD INSPECTOR.

JT1.01

DRY UTILITY
STANDARDS

C35



SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SDSDSD

TE
L.

TE
L.

TE
L.

TE
L.

TE
L.

TEL.GAS

GAS GAS GAS
GAS

TEL.

SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD

S.L.

S.L. S.L. S.L. S.L.
S.L. S.L.

GASGASGASGASGAS

G
AS

GASGAS

TEL.
TEL.

TEL.
TEL.

TEL.
TEL.

TEL.
TEL. SD

SD

SD

SD

1"GAS[AS BUILT]

ELEC.
ELEC.

ELEC.
ELEC.

TEL.
F.O.

ELEC.ELEC.

ED
]

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

UP

UP

UP

258 SF
ELEC

200 SF
LAUNDRY

E-1

E-2

472 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

474 SF

BIKE
STORAGE

222 SF

MIDPEN
SERVICES

52 SF
W/M

891 SF

COMMUNITY
ROOM

353 SF
MAINT.

CIRCULATION

214 SF
MPOE

429 SF
LOBBY

57 SF
W/M

229 SF
S-2

472 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

231 SF
S-1

473 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

553 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

814 SF
2 BR

472 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

50 SF
JAN.

68 SF
TRASH

458 SF

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM

125 SF
STOR.

EMR

MAIL

245 SF
VA OFFICE

245 SF

MNGR.
OFFICE96 SF

COPY/ST.

MAIL

COMPUTER STATION

CIRCULATION

34 SF
IT

159 SF

FIRE PUMP
ROOM

297 SF
STORAGE

T

T

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

ONE CALL

KNOW WHAT'S BELOW
CALL BEFORE YOU DIG!!

Dig
Safely

SCALE: 1" = 20'
DRY UTILITY INTENT

MENLO PARK
VETERANS HOUSING
- 795 WILLOW ROAD

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE: AS SHOWN

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

350 Townsend Street, Suite 409
San Francisco, California 94107

415 658 5850 tel.
www.UrbanDesignCE.com

URBAN CIVIL ENGINEERING,
STORMWATER, AND JOINT TRENCH

1 10/28/22 100% SCHEMATIC DESIGN

LEGEND:

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED ELECTRICAL TRENCH

PROPOSED AT&T TRENCH

UNDERGROUND TELECOM LINES TO BE REMOVED

WILLOW ROAD

1

EQUIPMENT TAG:

PRECAST PAD FOR TRANSFORMER, TYPE IIE-LBM 90" X 106",
SEE PG&E DRAWINGS. REFER TO PG&E GREENBOOK
SECTION 045292 (PG&E ORDERING CODE: 040292)

PG&E SUBSURFACE INTERRUPTER SWITCH (PRIMARY
UNDERGROUND EQUIPMENT ENCLOSURE) #7, TYPE 2, 4'-6"
X 8'-6" X 6'-0" (PG&E ORDERING CODE: 043411)

AT&T VAULT, 17" X 30"

CONDUIT NOTE TAG:

PG&E PRIMARY ELECTRICAL (2) 4"

PG&E SECONDARY ELECTRICAL (7) 5"

AT&T (1) 4"

AT&T (2) 4"

1

2

3
2

NOTES:
1. CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN 3' MIN HORIZONTAL

AND 1' MIN VERTICAL SEPARATIONS BETWEEN
WET AND DRY UTILITIES, TYP.

2. CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN 5' MIN HORIZONTAL
SEPARATION BETWEEN DRY UTILITY AND
CENTER OF STREET TREE, TYP.

1

AT&T TO ELECTRICAL ROOM. SEE MEP
DRAWINGS FOR CONTINUATION.

SECONDARY ELECTRICAL TO ELECTRICAL ROOM.
SEE MEP DRAWINGS FOR CONTINUATION.

PROPERTY LINE

1

JT1.02

DRY UTILITY
INTENT

3

2

3

3

4

1

1 2

3

4

3 3

3

3

NEW DRIVE

PRIMARY ELECTRICAL POINT OF CONNECTION TO
(E) PG&E J-BOX 8369. VERIFY LOCATION IN FIELD.

CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN 3' MIN HORIZONTAL
AND 1' MIN VERTICAL SEPARATIONS BETWEEN

WET AND DRY UTILITIES, TYP.

CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN 3' MIN HORIZONTAL
AND 1' MIN VERTICAL SEPARATIONS BETWEEN

WET AND DRY UTILITIES, TYP.

ALTERNATIVE SWITCH INTERRUPTER LOCATION INCLUDED FOR PRICING PURPOSES
- LESS BENDS/ SHORTER LENGTH
- WOULD NEED TO CONFIRM ANY CONFLICTS WITH EXISTING SHRUBS
- WOULD NEED TO REROUTE TRAFFIC SIGNAL CONDUIT

C36



T
T

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

CRLA #3335 · 2 Theatre Square #218 · Orinda CA · 94563
925.254.5422 · www.jett.land

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN

 1" = 20'-0"

L0.1

EXISTING TREE
MITIGATION PLAN

C37



Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

CRLA #3335 · 2 Theatre Square #218 · Orinda CA · 94563
925.254.5422 · www.jett.land

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN

N/A

L0.2

EXISTING TREE
INVENTORY LIST

C38



472 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

S-1

472 SF
1 BR

473 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

258 SF
ELEC

472 SF
1 BR

200 SF
LAUNDRY

472 SF
1 BR

E-1

E-2

472 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

474 SF

BIKE
STORAGE

S-2

458 SF

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM

222 SF

MIDPEN
SERVICES

52 SF
W/M

891 SF

COMMUNITY
ROOM

553 SF
1 BR

353 SF
MAINT.

CIRCULATION

214 SF
MPOE

429 SF
LOBBY

472 SF
1 BR

814 SF
2 BR

57 SF
W/M

68 SF
TRASH

COPY/ST.

245 SF
VA OFFICE

245 SF

MNGR.
OFFICE

CIRCULATION

125 SF
STOR.

83 SF
EMR

50 SF
JAN.

IT

159 SF

FIRE PUMP
ROOM

297 SF
STORAGE

T

T

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

CRLA #3335 · 2 Theatre Square #218 · Orinda CA · 94563
925.254.5422 · www.jett.land

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN

 1" = 20'-0"

L1.1

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE PLAN

C39



472 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

S-1

472 SF
1 BR

473 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

470 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

258 SF
ELEC

472 SF
1 BR

200 SF
LAUNDRY

472 SF
1 BR

E-1

E-2

472 SF
1 BR

472 SF
1 BR

474 SF

BIKE
STORAGE

S-2

458 SF

TRASH
TERM.
ROOM

222 SF

MIDPEN
SERVICES

52 SF
W/M

891 SF

COMMUNITY
ROOM

553 SF
1 BR

353 SF
MAINT.

CIRCULATION

214 SF
MPOE

429 SF
LOBBY

472 SF
1 BR

814 SF
2 BR

57 SF
W/M

68 SF
TRASH

COPY/ST.

245 SF
VA OFFICE

245 SF

MNGR.
OFFICE

CIRCULATION

125 SF
STOR.

83 SF
EMR

50 SF
JAN.

IT

159 SF

FIRE PUMP
ROOM

297 SF
STORAGE

T

T

Project:

Client:

JOB #:

SCALE:

MENLO PARK
VETERANS
HOUSING

795 WILLOW ROAD
 MENLO PARK, CA

2013

CIVIL ENGINEER

738 ALFRED NOBEL DRIVE
HERCULES, CA 94547

UDCE
350 TOWNSEND STREET #409
SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94107

JETT LANDSCAPE
2 THEATER SQUIARE
ORINDA, CA 94563

ELEMENT SE
39675 CEDAR BLVD SUITE 395C
NEWARK, CA 94560

EMERALD CITY ENGINEER
21705 HIGHWAY 99
LYNWOOD, CA 98036

PARTNERS ENERGY
680 KNOX STREET SUITE 150
LOS ANGELES, CA 90502

LUK & ASSOCIATES

JOINT TRENCH/DRY UTILITIES

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEER

ENERGY/SUSTAINABILITY

AESCULUS
211 HOPE STREET
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94039

ARBORIST

MOORE TWINING
2527 FRESNO STREET
FRESNO, CA 93721

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

MIDPEN HOUSING

ID DATE NAME

CRLA #3335 · 2 Theatre Square #218 · Orinda CA · 94563
925.254.5422 · www.jett.land

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN

 1" = 20'-0"

L2.1

PRELIMINARY
PLANTING PLAN

C40



Page 1 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

16.23.050 Development Regulations 

Minimum Lot Area:  20,000 sf. 

Minimum Lot Width:  100 ft. 

Minimum Lot Depth:  100 ft. 

Minimum Density:  20 du/ac 

Maximum Density:  30 du/ac 

Minimum Front Yard:  10 ft. 

Minimum Interior Side Yard:  10 ft., except may 
be reduced to 5 ft. abutting a private access 
easement 

Minimum Corner Side Yard:  10 ft. 

Minimum Rear Yard:  10 ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio:   Increase on an even 
gradient from 60% for 20 du/ac to 90% for 30 
du/ac 

Maximum Building Coverage:  40% 

Minimum Open Space (Landscaping):  25% 

Maximum building height:  40 ft. 

Building Profile:   Starting at a height of 25 feet, a 
45‐degree building profile shall be set at the 
minimum setback line contiguous with a public 
right‐of‐way or single‐family zoned property. 

Parking 

Vehicular:  2 spaces for units w/ 2 or more 
bedrooms; 1.5 spaces for 1 bedroom unit; 1 space 
per studio.  Spaces cannot be located in required 
front yard setbacks or in tandem. 

Electric Vehicle:  A minimum of 3 percent of the 
required number of parking spaces shall provide 
dedicated electric vehicle/plug‐in hybrid electric 
charging stations and a minimum of 2 percent of 
the required number of parking spaces shall be 
pre‐wired for such equipment. 

ATTACHMENT D

D1



Page 2 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

Bicycle 
Long term – 1 space per unit where a private 
garage (per unit) is not provided 
 
Short term (visitor) – 1 space per every 10 
units 

     

16.23.060 Mitigation Monitoring 

All development within the R‐4‐S zoning district 
shall comply, at a minimum, with the Mitigation 
Monitoring and Report Program (MMRP) 
established through Resolution No. 6149 
associated with the Housing Element Update, 
General Plan Consistency Update, and Zoning 
Ordinance Amendments Environmental 
Assessment prepared for the Housing Element 
adopted on twenty‐first day of May, 2013. 

     

16.23.070 Design Standards 

(1) Building Setbacks and Projections within Setbacks 

1a. Min. of one (1) 15 gallon tree per 20 linear 
feet for the length of the property frontage 
along a public right‐of‐way. 

  

1b. Existing trees in the ROW shall count towards 
the minimum tree requirement for that 
frontage. 

  

1c. Min. of one (1) 15 gallon tree per 40 linear 
feet of property frontage not along a public 
right‐of‐way. 

  

2. Building projections, such as balconies and 
bay windows, at or above the 2nd floor shall 
not project more than 5 feet into the setback 
area. 

  

3. Where a property is contiguous with a single‐
family zoned property, no projections into 
the setback are permitted for balconies or 
decks at or above the second floor. 

  

D2



Page 3 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

4. The total of all horizontal and vertical 
projections shall not exceed 35% of the 
building façade area, and no one projection 
shall exceed 15% of the façade area on which 
the projections are located.  Where such 
projections enclose interior living space, 85 
percent of the vertical surface of the 
projection shall be windows or glazed. 

  

(2) Façade Modulation and Treatment 

1.  Building façades facing public rights‐of‐way or 
public open spaces shall not exceed 50 feet in 
length without a minor building façade 
modulation. At a minimum of every 35 feet of 
façade length, the minor vertical façade 
modulation shall be a minimum 2 feet deep 
by 5 feet wide recess or a minimum 2 foot 
setback of the building plane from the 
primary building façade. 

        

2.  Building façades facing public rights‐of‐way or 
public open spaces shall not exceed 100 feet 
in length without a major building facade 
modulation. At a minimum of every 75 feet of 
façade length, a major vertical façade 
modulation shall be a minimum of 6 feet 
deep by 20 feet wide recess or a minimum 6 
foot setback of building plane from primary 
building façade for the full height of the 
building. 

        

3.  In addition, the major building façade 
modulation shall be accompanied with a 4 
foot minimum height modulation and a major 
change in fenestration pattern, material 
and/or color. 

        

(3) Building Profile 

1. The façade of a building shall be limited to 
one major step back. 

        

D3



Page 4 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

2. Horizontal building and architectural 
projections, like balconies, bay windows, 
dormer windows beyond the 45‐degree 
building profile shall comply with the 
standards for Building Setbacks & Projections 
within Setbacks section and shall be 
architecturally integrated into the design of 
the building. 

        

3. Vertical building projections like parapets and 
balcony railings shall not extend more than 4 
feet beyond the 45‐degree building profile 
and shall be architecturally integrated into 
the design of the building. 

        

4. Rooftop elements that may need to extend 
beyond the 45‐degree building profile due to 
their function, such as stair and elevator 
towers, shall be architecturally integrated 
into the design of the building. 

        

(4) Height 

1.  Vertical building projections such as parapets 
and balcony railings may extend up to 4 feet 
beyond the maximum building height, and 
shall be architecturally integrated into the 
design of the building. 

        

2.  Rooftop elements that may need to exceed 
the maximum building height due to their 
function, such as stair and elevator towers, 
shall not exceed 14 feet beyond the 
maximum building height. Such rooftop 
elements shall be architecturally integrated 
into the design of the building. 

        

3.  Towers, cupolas, spires, chimneys, and other 
architectural features not exceeding 10 
percent of the roof area may exceed the 
maximum building height limit by a maximum 
of 10 feet.  Such rooftop elements shall be 
architecturally integrated into the design of 
the building. 

 

 

        

D4



Page 5 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

(5) External Materials 

1.  Buildings shall be designed and incorporate 
materials that discourage graffiti. Windows, 
doors, and small architectural features are 
exempt from this requirement. 

        

2.  All external stucco shall be completed in 
textures that are smooth, sanded, or fine‐
scraped.  Heavy‐figuring or rough cast stucco 
are not permitted. 

        

3.  Stucco on the external façade shall be limited 
to no more than 80% of the entire area of an 
elevation, inclusive of all windows and doors. 

        

4.  All external windows where in solid walls 
shall be inset by a minimum of 2 inches from 
the face of the external finishes. 

        

5.  When simulated divided light windows are 
included in a development, the windows shall 
include mullions on the exterior of the glazing 
and contain internal dividers (spacer bars) 
between the window panes. 

        

(6) Building Entries 

1.  When a residential building is adjacent to a 
public street or other public space, the 
building shall provide entries, access points or 
features oriented to the street that are visible 
from the public right‐of‐way or public space 
and provide visual cues to denote access into 
the building. For larger residential buildings 
with shared entries, the main entry shall be 
through prominent entry lobbies or central 
courtyards facing the street. 

 

     
  

 

 

 

 

 

D5



Page 6 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

(7) Open Space 

1.  Residential developments shall have a 
minimum of 100 square feet of open space 
per unit created as common open space or a 
minimum of 80 square feet of open space per 
unit created as private open space, where 
private open space shall have a minimum 
dimension of 6 feet by 6 feet. In case of a mix 
of private and common open space, such 
common open space shall be provided at a 
ratio equal to 1.25 square feet for each one 
square foot of private open space that is not 
provided. 

     

2.  Depending on  the number of dwelling units, 
common  open  space  shall  be  provided  to 
meet the following criteria: 

     
  

  i. 10‐50 units: Minimum of one space, 20 
feet minimum dimension (400 sf. total, 
minimum). 

ii. 51‐100 units: Minimum of one space, 30 
feet minimum dimension (900 sf. total, 
minimum). 

iii. 101 or more units: Minimum of one 
space, 40 feet minimum dimension 
(1,600 sf. total, minimum). 

      

(8) Parking – See Development Regulations 

(9) Bicycle Parking 

1.  Each long term bicycle parking space shall 
consist of a locker or locked enclosure, such 
as a secure room or controlled access area, 
providing protection for each bicycle from 
theft, vandalism and weather.  A private 
locked storage unit that can accommodate a 
bicycle satisfies this requirement. Within a 
common residential building garage, bicycle 
parking shall be located within 40 feet of 
common access points into the building. 

     

D6



Page 7 

R‐4‐S Compliance Review Checklist 

 Does the 
project meet 

the 
requirement? 

If no, please explain the proposed 
modification and reason for the 

request. 

If yes, list the 
plan sheet(s)  
where the 

development 
regulation is 

met 
Y  N  N/A

2.  Short‐term bicycle parking shall consist of a 
bicycle rack or racks at street level and is 
meant to accommodate visitors. 

     

3.  Bicycle parking facilities shall not impede 
pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 

     

(10) Shade and Shadow 

1.  Development shall be designed so that 
shadow impacts on adjacent shadow‐
sensitive uses (e.g. residential, recreational, 
churches, schools, outdoor restaurants, 
historic buildings, and pedestrian areas) are 
minimized to the best extent possible.  
Shadow‐sensitive uses shall not be shaded by 
project‐related structure for more than three 
hours between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
3:00 p.m. Pacific Standard Time (between late 
October and early April), or for more than 
four hours between the hours of 9:00 a.m. 
and 5:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time (between 
early April and late October). 

     

(11) Lighting 

1.  Exterior lighting fixtures shall use fixtures 
with low cut‐off angles, appropriately 
positioned, to minimize glare into dwelling 
units and light pollution into the night sky. 

     

2.  Lighting in parking garages shall be screened 
and controlled so as not to disturb 
surrounding properties, but shall ensure 
adequate public security. 

     

 

D7



ATTACHMENT E

E1



E2



E3



E4



E5



E6



E7



E8



E9



E10



E11



E12



E13



E14



E15



E16



E17



E18



E19



E20



E21



E22



E23



E24



E25



E26



E27



E28



E29



E30



E31



E32



E33



E34



E35



E36



E37



E38



E39



E40



E41



E42



E43



E44



E45



E46



E47



E48



E49



E50



E51



E52



E53



E54



E55



E56



E57



E58



E59



E60



E61



E62



E63



E64



E65



E66



E67



E68



E69



E70



E71



E72



E73



E74



E75



E76



E77



E78



E79



E80



E81



E82



E83



E84



E85



E86



E87



E88



E89



E90



E91



E92



E93



E94



E95



E96



E97



E98



E99



E100



E101



E102



E103



E104



E105



E106



E107



E108



E109



E110



E111



E112



E113



E114



E115



E116



E117



E118



E119



E120



E121



E122



E123



E124



E125



E126



E127



E128



E129



E130



E131



E132



E133



E134



E135



E136



E137



E138



E139



E140



E141



E142



E143



E144



E145



E146



E147



E148



E149



E150



E151



E152



E153



E154



E155



E156



E157



E158



E159



E160



E161



E162



E163



E164



E165



E166



E167



E168



DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
Palo Alto Health Care System

3801 Miranda Ave.
Palo Alto, CA 94304

Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI)
Enhanced-Use Lease Veteran Housing

Palo Alto Health Care System
Menlo Park District, Menlo Park, California

The U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs (VA) is proposing the development of supportive housing
for homeless and at-risk of homeless Veterans, and their families at the VA Palo Alto Health Care
System (VAPAHCS), Menlo Park Division (MPD) Campus located in the City of Menlo Park,
California (Proposed Action). The Proposed Action requires the VA to enter into an Enhanced
Use Lease (EUL) agreement with a private entity, MidPen Housing Corporation (MidPen), and
grant MidPen the rights to finance, design, construct, operate and maintain the proposed veteran
housing development at the MPD Campus.

BACKGROUND
The Proposed Action is subject to the procedural requirements of the National Environmental
Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA) (42 U.S. Code 4321 et seq.). NEPA requires federal agencies to
consider environmental consequences in their decision-making process. The Council on
Environmental Quality (CEO) issued regulations (40 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] Parts
1500-1508) to implement NEPA that include provisions for both the content and procedural
aspects of the required environmental analysis. The VA complies with NEPA and CEO
implementing regulations in accordance with 38 CFR Part 26 (51 FR 37182, Oct. 20, 1986).

In accordance with the above regulations, the VA has prepared an Environmental Assessment
(EA) to provide the necessary information to make an informed decision regarding the Proposed
Action. This study was performed to analyze potential direct, indirect, and cumulative
environmental impacts associated with the Proposed Action. For purposes of comparison, the
EA also evaluated the impacts associated with alternatives to the Proposed Action, including a
No Action Alternative. The EA, entitled “National Environmental Policy Act, Environmental
assessment, Enhanced-Use Lease Veteran Housing, Department of Veterans Affairs, Palo Alto
Health Care System, Menlo Park District, Menlo Park, California, Jan 2022” is incorporated by
reference in its entirety into this FONSI.

PROPOSED ACTION
The Proposed Action is comprised of a new 3-story supportive housing development with 61
residential units. The proposed EUL parcel for the Proposed Action is previously developed and
disturbed land located within the southeast quadrant of the MPD Campus along Willow Road.
The approximate 2.1-acre parcel is comprised of a paved parking lot for 100 vehicles, a grass
covered auxiliary parking area, managed lawns and landscaping with irrigation, sidewalks,
fencing, and below-ground utilities.

I of6

ATTACHMETN F

F1



PURPOSE AND NEED FOR THE PROPOSED PROJECT
The purpose of the Proposed Action is to construct, operate and maintain supportive housing for
homeless and at-risk of homeless Veterans, and their families. The Proposed Action is needed to
best reuse underutilized land at the MPD Campus to create, safe, affordable, supportive housing
for Veterans and their families. The Proposed Action also helps to avoid ongoing operating costs
to the VA and taxpayers, associated with the upkeep of underutilized assets, while providing aid
to select Veterans.

This EA also analyzes the No Action alternative that serves as a benchmark against which the
effects of the Proposed Action can be evaluated.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
An EA was prepared in accordance with NEPA and VA implementing regulations to evaluate the
potential human and environmental impacts related to the Proposed Action. It was assumed for
the purposes of this study that the operation of the Proposed Action will be consistent with all
relevant laws and regulations; accordingly, the EA did not provide an analysis of the implications
of these other compliance requirements. However, to the extent that these other laws, regulations
and guidelines impose a specific environmental standard which may impact or influence the
outcome of the Proposed Action, these requirements were considered in the final analysis.

For the EA, potential impacts included ecological (such as the effects on natural resources and
on the components, structures, and functioning of affected ecosystems), aesthetic, historic,
cultural, economic, social, or health, whether direct, indirect, or cumulative. Impacts may also
include those resulting from actions which may have both beneficial and detrimental effects; even
if on balance the agency believes that the effect will be beneficial (40 CFR 1508.8). The EA
methodology used the following terms in assessing environmental impacts:

• Short-term Impact: Short-term impacts are those that would occur only with respect to a
particular activity, for a finite period, or only during the time required for construction or
installation activities.

• Long-term Impact: Impacts that are more likely to be persistent and chronic.

• Direct Impact: A direct impact is caused by an action and occurs around the same time at
or near the location of the action.

• Indirect Impact: An impact caused by an action that may occur later in time or be farther
removed in distance but still be a reasonably foreseeable outcome of the action.

• Beneficial-and-not-significant: This impact represents an improvement in existing
conditions and an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) is not required.

• None-to-negligible: A potential impact of this severity would be barely detectable and an
EIS is not required for this impact.

• Minimal-to-moderate: A potential impact that is less-than-significant and would not require
specific mitigation measures, other than those dictated by regulatory and permitting
requirements and an EIS is not required for this impact.

• Significant-but-mitigated: A potential impact of this severity would require specific
mitigation measures beyond those associated with permit requirements but an EIS is not
required for this effect.

• Significant: A potential impact of this severity would have to be evaluated in an EIS.

2 of 6

F2



Environmental impacts may be either significant or not significant impacts. The following
environmental impacts are not significant environmental impacts because an Environmental
Impact Statement is not required for these findings:

— Beneficial-and-not-significant
— None-to-negligible
— Minimal-to-moderate
— Significant-but-mitigated

Summary of Environmental Impacts

The following table summarizes the potential impacts of the Proposed Action in comparison to the
No Action Alternative on the resources and attributes of the human environment at the subjectS
property and within the local community.

ResourcelAttrbute Proposed Action Impacts No Action Impacts

Meets Purpose of
Yes Noand Need for Action

Negligible, short-term impact from heavy equipment
during construction. Negligible impact during operation.

Aesthetics The Proposed Action will not alter any aesthetically None
sensitive locations within the MPD Campus, or produce
any related impacts for the local neighborhood.

Negligible, short-term impact from construction
equipment emissions, which are below the De Minimis

Air Quality threshold level. Negligible impact during operation due to None
new emissions sources, and increase vehicle traffic
associated with operation of the Proposed Action.

Contributing resources of the National Historic
Preservation Act (NRHP) eligible “Personnel Quarters
Historic Districr are located immediately north and south
of the proposed EUL parcel. These sites are consideredCultural Resources .. . . Nonemoderately sensitive for both historic and pre-historic
cultural remains. As required per Section 106 of the
NHPA, effects to historic resources must be considered in
consultation with the State Historic Preservation Officer.

Negligible short-term impact during Construction. Impacts
would be minimized through Best Management Practices
(BMPs) and conformance with construction-related permit
requirements from the National Pollutant DischargeGeology and Soils . . . NoneElimination System (NPDES) and the local requirements
of the City of Menlo Park Building Division, including
Menlo Park Stormwater Management program and the
Bay Area Stormwater Management Agency Association.

3 of 6

F3



ResourcelAttrlbute Proposed Action Impacts No Action Impacts

Negligible short-term impact during construction and
operation. Construction impacts would be minimized
through BMPs and conformance with construction-related
permit requirements from NPDES and the local

Hydrology and requirements of the Menlo Park Stormwater Management
Surface Water program and the Bay Area Stormwater Management None
Quality Agencies Association (BASMAA).

Overall design will comply with Section 438 of the Energy
Independence and Security Act (EISA) to ensure similar
pre- and post-development hydrology.

Negligible short-term impact to vegetation and local
wildlife resources during construction, but the Proposed

Wildlife and Habitat Action would not impact listed T&E species per VA’s None
Effect Determination prepared in accordance with Section
7 of the Endangered Species Act.

Negligible short-term impact from construction and
operation. Bordering vegetation between EUL site andNoise Nonepotential receptors would be maintained to further
attenuate potential noise impacts.

Minimal short-term impacts are expected from the
construction of the proposed Veteran Housing complex.

Land Use Proposed Action is consistent and compatible with prior, None
current, and anticipated future land use at the site and
surrounding area.

The Proposed Action is not located within or near anyFloodplains and
Wetlands

floodplains, wetlands or coastal zone management areas. None
There is no impact expected from the Proposed Action.

No benefit fromNegligible short-term benefit during construction due to
Socioeconomics hiring local construction workers, and long-term benefit

local hiring for
facility constructionfrom facility operations due to hiring of needed staff.
and/or operations.

The Proposed Action will have no net increased demand
for community services (e.g., emergency, fire, and police Long-term adverse

Community Services services; schools; libraries; churches etc.). impact, no increase
in affordable

Long-term, beneficial impact on health care services and permanent housing.
increase in affordable permanent housing stock.

Negligible, short-term impact during construction.

Solid Waste and
Identified regulated building materials would be handled
and disposed of in accordance with local, state, and NoneHazardous Materials
federal regulations. Negligible impact during operation
from minor increase in solid wastes.

4 of 6

F4



ResourcelAttrlbute Proposed Action Impacts No Action Impacts

The existing facility is vehicle accessible with adequate
extended roadways, parking lots, and walkways to
support the added vehicle and pedestrian traffic from
facility operations.

No long-term
Negligible, short-term impact during construction due to improvementsTransportation and
construction equipment entering and leaving site and associated withParking
construction of the new parking lot and access. Minor improved traffic
beneficial long-term impact during operation from flow.
improved traffic flow in the area.

. Long-term benefit on local traffic with the new access
road to Building 324 that bypasses Lot 2.

Negligible short-term impact during construction and
operation. New connections and overall utilization will notUtilities Noneinterrupt or reduce utility services to current or future
utility suppliers or users.

No impact during construction. Long-term beneficial Long-term impact
Environmental due to absence ofimpact on low-income populations through the provisionJustice permanentof affordable permanent housing. affordable housing.

Potential for Controversy couldNo controversy currently expressed and no future
arise if VeteranGenerating

opposition anticipated. The VA received no commentsSubstantial Housing is notduring the public review process.Controversy implemented.

CUMULATIVE IMPACTS
The Federal Council on Environmental Quality regulations for implementing NEPA define
cumulative effects as “the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of
the action when added to other past, present, and reasonable foreseeable future actions
regardless of what agency (federal or non-federal) or person undertakes such other actions.

Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking
place over a period of time” (40 CFR 1508.7). Based on available information and the absence of
any comments during the public review period, no cumulative significant adverse effects to any
resources are anticipated from the Proposed Action.

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT
In accordance with CEQ NEPA regulations (40 CFR Section 1506.6, Public Involvement), the Draft
EA was been made available to agencies and the public for a 30-day comment period. This review
period provided the opportunity for the public to be involved in the preparation of this assessment.
No comments were received on the Draft EA.

DETERM INATION
The VA has selected Alternate No. I (Proposed Action). The environmental assessment of all
project attributes considered did not result in “Significant impact” during construction and/or
operation of the Proposed Action. Also, the environmental assessment of all project attributes
considered did not result in “significant-if-not-mitigated impacts” during construction and
operations.

5 of 6

F5



The construction and operation under the Proposed Action will not result in any adverse impacts on
the natural or human environments that would require mitigation to reduce impacts to less than
significant, nor preclude the issuance of a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI).

FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT
This FONSI has been prepared from the EA based on a determination that the implementation of
the Proposed Action would not constitute a major Federal action that would have significant impact
upon the quality of the human environment within the meaning of Section 102(2)(C) of NEPA of
1969. Based on the VA final determination, it has been concluded that a FONSI is appropriate for
this project, and that preparation of an Environmental Impact Statement for the proposed action is
not required. This FONSI becomes a federal decision document when evaluated and signed by the
responsible VA official(s).

SIGNATORY APPROVAL

VA Palo Alto Hea are System

Drew A. DeWitt, ACHE
Deputy Executive Director
VA Palo Alto Health Care System

6 of 6

F6


	20230515 PC Agenda
	20230410 PC Draft Minutes
	1105-1125 O'Brien transcript

	F1_2 Meta Way staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - COA

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Detailed Location Map

	F2_795 Willow Road staff report
	ATT A - Location Map
	ATT B - Project Description Letter
	ATT C - Project Plans
	ATT D - R-4-S Checklist
	ATT E - Arborist Report
	ATT F - FONSI


	Check Box1: Yes
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Text1: Lot area is 93,104 sf
	Text2: A0.01
	Check Box4: Yes
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	Text3: Lot width varies from 411'-7" to 523'-6" 
	Text4: A1.11
	Check Box7: Yes
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Text5: Varies: from 72'-3" to 222'-10"
	Text6: A1.11
	Check Box10: Yes
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Text7: Density is 29 du/ac > 20 du/ac
	Text8: A0.01
	Check Box13: Yes
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box15: Off
	Text9: Density is 29 du/ac < 30 du/ac
	Text10: A0.01
	Check Box16: Yes
	Check Box17: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Text11: On A1.11 the front setback is called out as 10'-0" perpendicular to the site boundary line
	Text12: A1.11
	Check Box19: Yes
	Check Box20: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Text13: 5'-0" distance abutting the fire road is dimensioned, EUL boundary is set 5' from building to meet adequate number of units and to prevent removal of other trees on other side
	Text15: A1.11
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Check Box24: Yes
	Text14: 
	Text16: N/A
	Check Box25: Off
	Check Box26: Yes
	Check Box27: Off
	Text17: The enhanced use lease (EUL) boundary along page left and page up are defined by minimum 50' clearances the VA wanted us to maintain from several utility elements (i.e., propane tanks and generators). We placed the building to be located as close as possible to the boundary lines to maintain the desired unit count and to preserve some existing trees toward the bottom of the page.  Moving the building to accommodate an interior side yard setback from the EUL boundary (which is not a property line) would mean removal of additional trees including a redwood and an oak tree, which we hope to avoid.
	Text18: A1.11
	Check Box28: Yes
	Check Box29: Off
	Check Box30: Off
	Text19: FAR IS 0.56, Maximum Floor Area ratio is blocked out with calculations

	Text20: A0.12
	Check Box31: Yes
	Check Box32: Off
	Check Box33: Off
	Text21: Maximum Building Coverage is blocked out with calculations
	Text22: A0.11
	Check Box34: Yes
	Check Box35: Off
	Check Box36: Off
	Text23: Maximum Open Space is blocked out with calculations
	Text24: A0.11
	Check Box37: Yes
	Check Box38: Off
	Check Box39: Off
	Text25: Building height is 39-6' from average natural grade is now dimensioned
	Text26: A3.10 & A3.11
	Check Box40: Off
	Check Box41: Off
	Check Box42: Yes
	Building Profile Starting at a height of 25 feet a 45degree building profile shall be set at the minimum setback line contiguous with a public rightofway or singlefamily zoned property: Building profile is indicated on elevations & sections.  There are no single family zoned properties adjacent to the EUL
	Text27: A3.10 & A3.11 & A3.20
	Check Box43: Off
	Check Box44: Yes
	Check Box45: Off
	Vehicular 2 spaces for units w 2 or more bedrooms 15 spaces for 1 bedroom unit 1 space per studio Spaces cannot be located in required front yard setbacks or in tandem: The parking plan, consisting of 55 surface parking spaces (1:0.89 unit parking ratio), is intentionally designed to accommodate the needs of residents, visitors and staff. We are anticipating that a little over half of the future population will have cars.

In 2022, MidPen met with the EAH staff who manage Willow Housing, a 60-unit community for Veterans also located on the VA Campus. EAH staff reported that the 35 parking spaces meet the needs of the 60 households, but that the property would benefit from additional parking spaces to meet staff and visitor needs. This information informed our approach to the 55-space parking plan. 

Based on the information above the proposed 55-space parking plan is robust enough to meet the needs of residents, staff, and visitors.
	Text28: 
	Check Box46: Yes
	Check Box47: Off
	Check Box48: Off
	Electric Vehicle A minimum of 3 percent of the required number of parking spaces shall provide dedicated electric vehicleplugin hybrid electric charging stations and a minimum of 2 percent of the required number of parking spaces shall be prewired for such equipment: Cal Green 2022 requires 7 EV spaces 
	Text29: 
	Check Box49: Yes
	Check Box52: Yes
	Check Box50: Off
	Check Box53: Off
	Check Box51: Off
	Check Box54: Off
	If no please explain the proposed modification and reason for the requestBicycle Long term  1 space per unit where a private garage per unit is not provided Short term visitor  1 space per every 10 units: Long term - 64 spaces provided
Short term - 8 short term spaces provided. Interior Long Term bike parking is provided with a Dero Decker.  Exterior short term bike parking is provided by the Welle Circular Square tube bike loop
	Text30: A2.11 / A1.20
	Text31: Federal project, CEQA review not required.
	Text32: 
	Text34: A2.11
	Text33: Tree positioning along property frontage shown.  Next to community garden, no trees provided to maximize natural light.

The VA outlined very specific requirements for the proposed lease area. The proposed the location of the access road and designed the lease boundary to maintain a 50' clearance from the existing utility tanks.  The VA also wanted the west area of the lease area and building to be located away form the existing historic structure.  

We also designed the building to as far from the street as possible to minimize the visual impact of the building and to take advantage of the natural light that benefits the residential gardening space on south west side of the site. These were major factors in locating the building within the western edge of the lease area. 

	Text35: No existing trees in ROW
	Text36: 
	Text38: L2.1
	Text37: 17 trees total along 505' of property frontage, about one every 30' feet. Distance noted on the plans.

The VA outlined very specific requirements for the proposed lease area. The proposed the location of the access road and designed the lease boundary to maintain a 50' clearance from the existing utility tanks.  The VA also wanted the west area of the lease area and building to be located away form the existing historic structure.  

We also designed the building to as far from the street as possible to minimize the visual impact of the building and to take advantage of the natural light that benefits the residential gardening space on south west side of the site. These were major factors in locating the building within the western edge of the lease area. 
	Text40: 
	Check Box55: Yes
	Check Box67: Off
	Text39: No building projections such as balconies or bays are projecting from the building facade into the setbacks
	Check Box56: Off
	Check Box57: Off
	Check Box58: Off
	Check Box59: Off
	Check Box60: Yes
	Check Box61: Yes
	Check Box62: Off
	Check Box63: Off
	Check Box64: Off
	Check Box65: Off
	Check Box68: Off
	Check Box66: Yes
	Check Box69: Yes
	Text41: Property is not contiguous with a single family zoned property
	Text42: 
	Check Box70: Off
	Check Box71: Off
	Check Box72: Yes
	Text43: 
	Text44: See A3.10 South Elevation.  At the longest facade lengths, We propose awnings on every level, spaced every 11-22 ft to help break up the facade.  . Vertical and horizontal reveals about every 6 ft to break up the surface. Facade is also broken up horizontally with 1 story color over a 2 story color area divided by a cornice.

We understood the design standard and guidelines requiring a finer grain articulation for most areas along Willow Road.  However, the building is also part of the VA Campus and its historic pattern is one of simple building forms in the Spanish Colonial tradition.  The building design reflects this pattern with a primary structure which shapes the courtyard and simple larger scale modulation of massing with elements which also step down the building scale towards the street.  The building shapes the front garden courtyard and frames the entry court.  The façade of vertical grouped panels and windows provides a rhythm similar to the desired articulation while maintaining the simple forms found on the campus.

	Text45: A3.10 & A3.11, A3.12
	Text47: A3.10 & A3.11, A3.12
	Text46: See A3.10 & A3.11 North/West/East Elevation.  The longest segment of our building is 104' feet on the north side, but we provide awnings every 11-22 ft to break up the wall plane.  Facade is also broken up horizontally with 1 story color over a 2 story color area (west) or a 2 story color over 1 story color (east and north)Vertical and horizontal reveals about every 6 ft to break up the surface. 
We understood the design standard and guidelines requiring a finer grain articulation for most areas along Willow Road.  However, the building is also part of the VA Campus and its historic pattern is one of simple building forms in the Spanish Colonial tradition.  The building design reflects this pattern with a primary structure which shapes the courtyard and simple larger scale modulation of massing with elements which also step down the building scale towards the street.  The building shapes the front garden courtyard and frames the entry court.  The façade of vertical grouped panels and windows provides a rhythm similar to the desired articulation while maintaining the simple forms found on the campus.

	Check Box73: Off
	Check Box74: Yes
	Check Box75: Off
	Check Box76: Off
	Check Box77: Yes
	Check Box78: Off
	Check Box79: Yes
	Check Box80: Off
	Check Box81: Off
	Text48: We provide some stucco color changes and roof angle changes at key areas of the building.
	Text49: A3.10 & A3.11
	Check Box82: Yes
	Check Box83: Off
	If no please explain the proposed modification and reason for the requestThe total of all horizontal and vertical projections shall not exceed 35 of the building façade area and no one projection shall exceed 15 of the façade area on which the projections are located Where such projections enclose interior living space 85 percent of the vertical surface of the projection shall be windows or glazed: There are no horizontal or vertical projections into the setbacks on the building facade area. 
	Text50: Each facade's major step back is noted on each elevation.  There is one major step. We don’t interpret the building design as having minor stepbacks.  The building form as discussed above is a simple one with smaller elements which reduce the mass towards the street, but are not the traditional step downs as we interpret the design standards.  This building is not attempting to create a “streetwall” with step-downs, as it is a building in the landscape, consistent with the VA Campus pattern.
	Text51: A3.10 & A3.11
	Check Box84: Off
	Check Box88: Off
	Check Box91: Yes
	Check Box86: Off
	Check Box89: Off
	Check Box92: Off
	Check Box87: Yes
	Check Box90: Yes
	Check Box93: Off
	Check Box94: Yes
	Check Box95: Off
	Check Box96: Off
	Check Box97: Yes
	Check Box98: Off
	Check Box99: Off
	Check Box100: Yes
	Check Box101: Off
	Check Box102: Off
	If no please explain the proposed modification and reason for the requestHorizontal building and architectural projections like balconies bay windows dormer windows beyond the 45degree building profile shall comply with the standards for Building Setbacks  Projections within Setbacks section and shall be architecturally integrated into the design of the building Vertical building projections like parapets and balcony railings shall not extend more than 4 feet beyond the 45degree building profile and shall be architecturally integrated into the design of the building Rooftop elements that may need to extend beyond the 45degree building profile due to their function such as stair and elevator towers shall be architecturally integrated into the design of the building: For Elevation 1/A3.10, there are no projection/intrusions into the building profile. For the West elevation, because the property line is irregular, we show two profile planes, one at the most restrictive area near the 2-story volume, and one at the 3-story volume closest to the street. 
	Text53: Parapets/railings do not extend beyond the 45 degree building profile and are architecturally integrated into the building
	Text54: A3.10 & A3.11
	Text55: No rooftop elements extend beyond the 45 degree building profile. See elevation and section drawings. 
	Text56: A3.20, A3.10 & A3.11
	Text57: Vertical projections such as parapets and balcony railings do not extend beyond 4' of the maximum building height.  They are architecturally integrated into the design of the building. 
	Text58: A3.10 & A3.11
	Text59: In Elevation 1/A3.10, one rooftop element is a Mechanical Room, it will be finished off with stucco.  In Elevation 2/A3.10, the rooftop element is the stair tower  it will be finished off with stucco and a sloped asphalt roof. The stair tower building height by 4'-4"
	Text60: A3.10 & A3.11
	Text61: Stair tower is about 2% of the roof area and is 4'-4" max above max building height. No cupolas, spires or chimneys. Stair tower roof is an angled shed roof with asphalt roofing.

	Text62: A3.10 & A3.11
	Text52: A3.10 & A3.11
	Text63: Materials will be designed to discourage graffiti, building will primarily be stucco and can incorporate an anti-graffiti coating, pending cost. 

	Check Box103: Yes
	Text64: A3.12
	Text65: Stucco to be smooth, note included on Materials Board sheet on A3.12
	Text66: A3.12
	Text67: While the building is predominantly stucco, between window panels at several locations the exterior finish will be fiber cement panels.  Total area of stucco on external facade will be about 77%. 
	Text68: 
	Text69: External windows will be inset by 2 from face of external finish. See sill detail on sheet A3.12
	Text70: A3.12
	Check Box104: Off
	Check Box105: Off
	Check Box106: Yes
	Check Box107: Off
	Check Box108: Off
	Check Box109: Off
	Check Box110: Yes
	Check Box111: Off
	Check Box112: Yes
	Check Box113: Off
	Check Box114: Off
	Check Box115: Yes
	Check Box116: Off
	Check Box117: Off
	Text71: Yes windows have a simulated divided lights, typically four lights per window. General note added to elevations on sheet A3.10 and A3.11
	Text72: A3.10 & A3.11
	Check Box118: Yes
	Check Box119: Off
	Check Box120: Off
	Text73: Building entry is distiguished by signage and a different exterior finish material and a wood arcade.  While the entry is set back from Willow Road for security purposes, it is connected to Willow via a garden path. Building entry is also connected directly to the side parking lot which is accessed from Hospital Plaza. 
	Text74: A1.11
	Text75: Total open space square footage calculations are shown on the Planning Diagrams.  We are providing 40,126 sf for 62 units for a ratio of 647 sf of common open space per unit.  
	Text76: A0.11 & A1.11
	Check Box121: Yes
	Text77: 
	Text78: 
	Text79: See explanation above and Planning Diagrams 
	Text80: A0.11 &A1.11
	Check Box122: Off
	Check Box123: Off
	Check Box124: Off
	Check Box125: Off
	Check Box126: Yes
	Check Box127: Yes
	Check Box128: Off
	Check Box129: Off
	Check Box130: Off
	Check Box131: Off
	Check Box132: Yes
	Text81: 
	Text82: 
	Check Box133: Yes
	Check Box134: Off
	Check Box135: Off
	Text83: See Bike Room on sheet A2.11.  16 Dero Decker bike storage units will be installed, each Dero Decker holds 4 bikes, for a total of 64 long term bike storages spaces.  With 62 units, this satisfies the 1:1 long term bike storage per unit ratio.
	Text84: A2.11
	Check Box136: Yes
	Check Box139: Yes
	Check Box137: Off
	Check Box140: Off
	Check Box138: Off
	Check Box141: Off
	Text86: L1.1 & A1.00
	Check Box142: Off
	Check Box143: Off
	Check Box144: Yes
	Text85: There are no adjacent shadow-sensitive use places to the project site

	Text87: 
	Check Box145: Yes
	Check Box146: Off
	Check Box147: Off
	Text88: Note has been added to A 3.10 & A3.11 that all building mounted exterior light fixtures will be directed downward with low cutoff angles, and not create glare and light pollution into the night sky
	Text89: A3.10 & A3.11
	Check Box148: Off
	Check Box149: Off
	Check Box150: Yes
	If no please explain the proposed modification and reason for the requestShortterm bicycle parking shall consist of a bicycle rack or racks at street level and is meant to accommodate visitors Bicycle parking facilities shall not impede pedestrian or vehicular circulation: 4 short term bike racks are provided at the entry. Each U or ring bike rack holds 2 bikes for a total of 8 short term bike spaces.   These bike racks are located in areas that do not impede pedestrian or vehicle circulation
	Text90: Project has a parking lot not a parking garage.
	Text91: 


